MODIFIED UNIVERSALISM FOR CROSS-BORDER INSOLVENCIES:

DOES IT WORK IN PRACTICE?

by

MARCELA OUATU

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIRMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF LAWS

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(Law)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

October 2014

© Marcela Ouatu, 2014

ABSTRACT

This thesis is a study of the application by courts of Canadian and British versions of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency. The Model Law proposes a legal framework that has as its theoretical foundation the modified universalism theory. By trying to determine whether the application of the Model Law provisions on core concepts of this Law promotes such goals as efficiency, fairness, predictability and protection for local interests in cross-border insolvency cases, this study ultimately assesses whether modified universalism works in practice.

Modified universalism is a relatively new theory for the resolution of cross-border insolvencies that gained international and national acceptance two decades ago. It recognizes that a crossborder case should be administered under a single controlling insolvency proceeding governed by the laws of the country commencing that proceeding. However, the theory allows countries other than the country where the insolvency proceeding was commenced, before giving deference to the controlling proceeding, to determine whether such an act of cooperation would infringe on local interests. On the one hand, the centralization of the administration of a crossborder insolvency case is thought to bring efficiency, fairness and predictability to this process. On the other hand, because of the diversity of national insolvency laws, a centralization of the administration of such cases may infringe on local interests, such as the interest to protect the legitimate expectations of creditors or to further fundamental local public policies. The success of the Model Law, and ultimately of the modified universalism theory, depends on how courts strike a balance between these goals when considering requests for recognition of foreign insolvency proceedings and for relief in favor of these proceedings. The study concludes that the Canadian and British courts' decisions strengthen rather than weaken the claim that the Model

Law works in practice. Such a conclusion in turn suggests that modified universalism can serve as the theoretical foundation of a workable legal framework for the resolution of cross-border insolvencies. This finding may be important for countries that consider revising their cross-border insolvency laws in an effort to facilitate the administration of cross-border insolvency cases.

PREFACE

This thesis is original, unpublished, independent work by the author.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
PREFACE	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	viii
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	
CHAPTER 2: The Nature of Insolvency Laws and Leading Theories f	for Cross-Border
Insolvency Laws	6
2.1 Insolvency Laws: Main Principles	6
2.2 Theories for Cross-Border Insolvency Laws	16
2.2.1 Territorialism v Universalism	16
2.2.2 Modified Universalism	27
CHAPTER 3: UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency	31
3.1 Legislative History	31
3.2 Form of Instrument	40
3.3 Main Features of the Model Law	42
3.4 Scope of Application of the Model Law	43
3.4.1 Types of Procedure Covered	43
3.4.2 Types of Debtors Covered	44
3.5. Aggass and Assistance	16

3.5.1 Authority to Act Abroad	46
3.5.2 Foreign Representative's Access to Courts of the Enacting State	47
3.5.3 Access of Foreign Creditors to Courts of the Enacting State	50
3.6 Recognition of Foreign Proceedings	53
3.6.1 Decision Whether to Recognize a Foreign Proceeding	53
3.6.2 Main and Non-Main Proceedings	57
3.7 Relief	63
3.7.1 Interim Relief	64
3.7.2 Automatic Relief	65
3.7.3 Discretionary Relief	66
3.7.4 Protection of Creditors and Other Interested Persons	69
3.7.5 Other Type of Relief	71
3.8 Cross-Border Cooperation	73
3.9 Coordination of Concurrent Proceedings	76
3.10 The Public Policy Exception and International Obligations	81
3.11 Is Modified Universalism the Theoretical Basis of the Model Law?	82
CHAPTER 4: The Application of the Model Law	86
4.1 Canadian Versions of the Model Law	87
4.1.1 Canadian Provisions that Considerably Reflect the Model Law Provisions	87
4.1.2 Canadian Provisions that Differ Considerably from the Model Law Provision	ons 90

BIBLIOGRAPHY	164
CHAPTER 5: Conclusion	161
4.4.2 British Judgments	155
4.4.1 Canadian Judgments	131
4.4 Relief	130
4.3.3 Consistency of Interpretation	127
4.3.2 British Judgments	119
4.3.1 Canadian Judgments	111
4.3 The Determination of COMI of the Debtor	110
4.2.2 British Judgments	104
4.2.1 Canadian Judgments	100
4.2 Recognition of Foreign Proceedings	99
4.1.3 Model Law Provisions that are Omitted in the Relevant Parts of the CCA	AA and BIA 96

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I offer my enduring gratitude to the faculty, staff and my fellow students at UBC, who have inspired me to continue my work through what turned out to be one of my most challenging and rewarding academic experiences thus far.

I would especially like to thank my supervisor, Professor Elizabeth Edinger, for her wise guidance and encouraging advice that motivated me to develop and pursue my ideas with confidence. Thank you for coping with numerous drafts and for helping me perfect my writing. I would also like to thank Professor Joost Blom for taking time from his busy schedule to act as the second reader of this thesis and for his insightful comments on this work.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, particularly my parents, brother and sister-in-law, for their amazing support and understanding, without which this thesis would not have come into being.

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

Cross-border insolvencies are insolvencies of debtors that have assets and or creditors across more than one country¹. Since the elements of such insolvency cases are linked to several jurisdictions, these cases raise challenging questions: whether the insolvency proceeding commenced in a certain country against a debtor operating worldwide should have effect on the debtor's assets and affairs wherever located, implying that only one proceeding should be commenced regarding the debtor, or whether multiple insolvency proceedings should be commenced in respect of the debtor in every country where the debtor has assets or creditors². These questions reveal the two leading and opposed theories advanced in the area of law dealing with cross-border insolvencies. The first of these is universalism, which supports the idea of a single insolvency proceeding in charge of the administration of the insolvency of a debtor operating worldwide³. The other is territorialism, which suggests the opening of multiple proceedings with each taking control of the debtor's assets and affairs situated locally⁴.

Historically, territorialism was the favored theory for the resolution of cross-border insolvencies⁵ because it allowed countries to retain control over local assets and legal relationships and to

¹ Duns, John, *Insolvency: Law and Policy*, (Melbourne, Vic: Oxford University Press, 2002) at 466 [Duns, Insolvency]; Fletcher, Ian F., *Insolvency in Private International Law: National and International Approaches*, 2d ed (Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press, 2005) at 5, 6 [Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law].

² EC, Draft Convention on Bankruptcy, Winding-up, Arrangements, Compositions and Similar Proceedings. Report on the Draft Convention on Bankruptcy, Winding-up, Arrangements, Compositions and Similar Proceedings (1982), Bulletin of the European Communities, Supplement 2/82 at 47.

³ Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Theory and Pragmatism in Global Insolvencies: Choice of Law and Choice of Forum" (1991) 65:4 Am Bank LJ 457 at 461 [Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism]; LoPucki, Lynn M., "The Case for Cooperative Territoriality in International Bankruptcy" (2000) 98:7 Mich L Rev 2216 at 2220 [LoPucki, Cooperative Territoriality].

⁴ Honsberger, John D., "Conflict of Laws and the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978" (1980) 30:4 Case W Res L Rev 631 at p 634 [Honsberger, Bankruptcy Reform Act], Fletcher, Professor Ian, ""L'Enfer, C'est les Autres": Evolving Approaches to the Treatment of Security Rights in Cross-Border Insolvency" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 498 at 496 [Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights].

Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, supra note 3 at 460.

make decisions with respect to local laws. Thus, it facilitated the promotion of countries' sovereignty interests⁶. By contrast, territorialism was and still is strongly criticized by academics for creating a system for cross-border insolvencies that is inefficient⁷, unfair⁸ and unpredictable⁹. The drawbacks of territorialism led to the emergence of universalism, which it was thought would bring about the opposite result¹⁰. Despite the universalism's advantages, universalism has never been adopted¹¹. The primary reason is thought to be its failure to provide for sovereignty concerns, since under universalism local assets and legal relationships may be administered under a foreign law, the law governing the controlling insolvency proceeding¹². Nevertheless, as universalism was widely recognized as the "long term, theoretical solution to the problem of multinational insolvency"¹³, the theory had to adapt to respond to the current legal realities ¹⁴. In response to the challenges encountered by universalism, a modified version of this theory emerged that was intended to promote the benefits of universalism, and at the same time to

.

⁶ Tung, Frederick, "Fear of Commitment in International Bankruptcy" (2001) 33:3/4 The George Washington International Law Review 555 at 560 [Tung, Fear of Commitment].

⁷ Guzman, Andrew T., "International Bankruptcy: In Defense of Universalism" (2000) 98:7 Mich L Rev 2217 at 2199 – 2204 [Guzman, Defense of Universalism].

⁸ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 496.

⁹ Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 460.

¹⁰ Universalists affirm that universalism creates an efficient, fair and predicable system for the resolution of cross-border insolvency. See Guzman, Defense of Universalism, *supra* note 7 at 2199 – 2204; Fletcher, Treatment of Secured Rights, *supra* note 4 at 496; Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 466.

¹¹ Pottow, John A. E., "Procedural Incrementalism: a Model for International Bankruptcy" (2005) 45:4 Va J Int'l L 937 at 950 [Pottow, Procedural Incrementalism]; Tung, Frederick, "Is International Bankruptcy Possible?" (2001) 23:1Mich J Int'l L 31 at 33 [Tung, International Bankruptcy].

¹² Tung, International Bankruptcy, *ibid*.

¹³ Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "A Global Solution to Multinational Default" (2000) 98:7 Mich L Rev 2276 at 2299 [Westbrook, Global Solution]; see also Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 497 stating that "the appeal of the universalist model has tended to gain favor among those seeking to produce a framework for international governance of international insolvencies".

¹⁴ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *ibid* at 497, 498.

respect local sovereignty interests. This altered version of universalism was named modified universalism¹⁵.

Modified universalism recognizes that a cross-border case should be administered under a single controlling insolvency proceeding governed by the laws of the country commencing that proceeding ¹⁶. However, the theory allows countries other than the country where the insolvency proceeding was commenced, before giving deference to the controlling proceeding, to determine whether such act of cooperation would infringe local interests ¹⁷.

The system created by modified universalism turned out to be appealing to countries and to the international community. In the last two decades, several international instruments based on this theory have been successfully enacted. Among them, at an international level, is the United Nations Commission International Trade Law Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency¹⁸, which provides a legal framework for the resolution of cross-border insolvencies to countries worldwide to incorporate into their national insolvency laws¹⁹. Also enacted were the American

¹⁵ *Ibid* at p 498 citing the work of Jay Lawrence Westbrook, "Choice of Avoidance Law in Global Insolvencies" (1991) 17:3 Brook J Int'l L 499, which offers the first definition of the "modified universalism" version at 517 [Westbrook, Choice of Avoidance Law].

¹⁶ Westbrook, Choice of Avoidance Law, *ibid* at 517.

^{1/} Ibid.

¹⁸ The UNCITRAL adopted the Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency at its thirtieth session, see *Report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law on the Work of its Thirtieth Session*, UNCITRALOR, 30th Sess, Supl No 17, UN Doc A/52/17, (1997) 1 at 221 [The Thirtieth Session Report]. The Model Law is included in the Thirtieth Session Report at Annex 1 [The Model Law].

¹⁹ At the end of the second chapter it is argued that the Model Law is based on modified universalism theory.

Law Institute's Global Principles for Cooperation in Global Insolvency Cases²⁰ and, at a regional level, the European Council Regulation on International Insolvency²¹.

Several years have passed since some of these instruments have been incorporated in national legislations. Thus, they have already been operating in actual cross-border insolvency cases²². With this in mind, the purpose of this thesis is to assess whether modified universalism works in practice. More particularly, it considers whether the application of a legal framework based on modified universalism principles by courts while solving cross-border insolvency matters promotes such goals as efficiency, fairness and predictability, and offers sufficient tools for the protection of local interests. To accomplish this purpose, this thesis will assess the application of the United Nations' Model Law. The second chapter of the thesis initially discussed the nature and main principles of insolvency laws in order to provide a background against which the leading theories for cross-border insolvency law are subsequently evaluated. The third chapter provides a brief description of the legislative history of the Model Law, and it elaborates on core provisions of this Law. The fourth chapter discusses the application of the Model Law as enacted by Canada and Great Britain²³.

²⁰ American Law Institute, *Transnational Insolvency: Global Principles for Cooperation in International Insolvency Cases: Report to ALI (March 30, 2012)/The American Law Institute and the International Insolvency Institute,* (Philadelphia, PA: Executive Office, American Law Institute, 2012) [ALI Global Principles]. See Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at p 507, affirming that the project is based on modified universalism's principles. ²¹ EC, *Council Regulation (EC) No 1346/2000 of 29 May 2009 on Insolvency Proceedings,* [2000] OJ, L160/1 [The Regulation]. See Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *ibid* at 500, affirming that the Regulation embodies the modified universalism principles.

²² The Model Law has been adopted by at least 20 countries, see the status of adoption of the Model Law, online: http://www.uncitral.org/uncitral/en/uncitral_texts/insolvency/1997Model_status.html; The Regulation entered into force and was immediately and directly applicable in every Member State, except for Denmark, since 31 May 2002, see The Regulation, *supra* note 21 at art 47; Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 357 (on the Denmark Opt-out).

²³ The thesis will also consider the application of the equivalent to the Model Law provisions of the *United States Bankruptcy Code*, 11 USC, Chapter 15 (2005) [US Chapter 15] on specific matters.

The thesis concludes that the inquiry into the decisions of Canadian and British courts applying the local equivalent to the Model Law provisions strengthens rather than weakens the claim that the Model Law works, and that this fact in turn supports the contention that modified universalism can provide the theoretical foundation for a cross-border insolvency law that promotes efficiency, fairness, predictability and protection for local interests.

CHAPTER 2: The Nature of Insolvency Laws and Leading Theories for Cross-Border Insolvency Laws

2.1 Insolvency Laws: Main Principles

Generally, insolvency law is a law that creates a mechanism of debt collection that operates only in the circumstances of a debtor's insolvency²⁴. It provides rules for a centralized collection of the debtor's assets and the distribution of these assets, or of the proceeds resulting from the sale of these assets, to creditors according to an established hierarchy of claims or rules that facilitate an arrangement between creditors and their debtor²⁵. The need for having special rules for debt collection in the circumstances of a debtor's insolvency is justified by the inadequacy of an ordinary, individual creditor remedies system to deal with such circumstances.

The insolvency state of a debtor in the context of insolvency laws does not have a harmonized definition across jurisdictions²⁶. The concepts on which definitions of insolvency most frequently rely are the "cash flow test"²⁷ and the "balance sheet test"²⁸. According to the cash flow test, a debtor is considered insolvent if it is unable to pay its debts as they become due²⁹. Instead, pursuant to the balance sheet test, a debtor is considered insolvent if its liabilities exceed its

²⁴ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 2; Wood, Roderick J., *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Law*, (Toronto, Ont: Irwin Law, 2009) at 2 [Wood, Bankruptcy]; Warren, Elizabeth, "Bankruptcy Policy Making in an Imperfect World" (1993) 92:2 Mich L Rev 336 at 343 [Warren, Imperfect World].

²⁵ Duns, Insolvency, *ibid*.

²⁶ Wood, Bankruptcy, *supra* note 24 at 18.

²⁷ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 3, 4; Wood, Bankruptcy at 18; Duns, Insolvency at 80.

²⁸ Ihid

²⁹ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *ibid* at 4; Duns, Insolvency, *ibid*; Wood, Bankruptcy, *ibid* at 18, 19

assets³⁰. The general inference that can be drawn from the definitions of these concepts is that insolvency is a state of a debtor that might not be able to pay all its creditors in full³¹.

In the absence of insolvency laws, the ways to recover a debt when a debtor defaults on its obligations are varied³². Some of these ways can be "voluntary"³³ acts of the debtor, as in the case of payment of a debt that the debtor owes to one of its creditors or the perfection of a security right in favor of a creditor³⁴. Conversely, when a debtor does not consent to pay on a debt, a creditor has the option of using the coercive power of a state in order to recover the money that it is owed³⁵. For instance, a creditor could commence an action in the court against its debtor and obtain a garnishment order³⁶.

The insolvency of a debtor is characterized by the possibility of defaulting on multiple of the debtor's obligations³⁷. Knowing of the insufficiency of the debtor's assets for a payment of the creditors in full, in case of the insolvency of the debtor, its creditors will try to use any means available to recover a debt in the absence of insolvency laws³⁸. In addition, each creditor will want to act faster than the others to ensure that it does not come to the recovery of debts process at a moment when there are no assets left to satisfy its claim against the debtor³⁹. The collection of debts by such means when the debtor is insolvent leads to unfair and inefficient results.

3

³⁰ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *ibid* at 3; Duns, Insolvency, *ibid*, Wood, Bankruptcy, *ibid* at 18, 20.

³¹ Jackson, Thomas H., *The Logic and Limits of Bankruptcy Law*, (Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press, 1986) at 8, 9 [Jackson, The Logic and Limits].

³² *Ibid* at 9.

³³ Ibid.

³⁴ Ibid.

³⁵ *Ibid*.9.

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁷ Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24 at 345.

³⁸ Wood, Bankruptcy, *supra* note 24 at 3.

³⁹ Ibid.

Leaving creditors to recover their debts through the individual creditor remedies system results in unfairness because of the arbitrariness of the factors that determine which creditors get to satisfy their claims and which do not. In some cases, the creditors that will get to recover their debts in full are determined by the time factor. Under the individual creditor remedies system, the creditor that first obtains a claim on a debtor's assets is generally first in line to get paid on its debt out of those assets⁴⁰. This system is not concerned with the fact that late arriving creditors may be left unable to satisfy their claims against the debtor⁴¹. In other cases, the decisive factor is the debtor's favoritism⁴². The creditors that get paid are those that the debtor decides to pay according to the debtor's own will.

The system of individual creditor remedies is inefficient because of the need to monitor the debtor's activities⁴³. Each creditor will spend time and money monitoring the debtor to ensure that when the debtor faces insolvency it will be among the first to get paid⁴⁴. In addition, this system is inefficient because of the duplication of the creditors' efforts in the process of debt collection⁴⁵. Under this system, each creditor must commence individual proceedings for the establishment of their claims and for the subsequent enforcement of these claims.

Further, the system is inefficient because under the created circumstances, namely the competition between creditors for assets, the cooperation between creditors or between creditors and their debtor for achieving a more efficient outcome is unlikely⁴⁶. The inefficiency caused by the lack of cooperation in case of a debtor's insolvency is best illustrated through the use of

⁴⁰ Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 9.

⁴¹ Warren, Elizabeth, "Bankruptcy Policy" (1987) 54:3 U Chicago L Rev 775 at 782 [Warren, Bankruptcy Policy]. ⁴² *Ibid* at 790.

⁴³ Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24 at 346; Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 16.

⁴⁴ Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *ibis* at 16. ⁴⁵ Wood, Bankruptcy, *supra* note 24 at 3.

⁴⁶ *Ibid*; Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 8.

games theory⁴⁷. Such an exercise is meant to show that in certain situations a group decision is better than an individual decision⁴⁸. Consider the following game presented by Thomas Jackson in the context of insolvency law to illustrate this idea⁴⁹. Imagine that several people are given the right to fish from a lake. If they fish out all the fish from the lake on the first season of fishing, there would be no fish left to multiply and no fish to catch in subsequent years. They would be better off if they were to leave some fish in the lake so that they may fish every year and thus catch more fish than they would catch in a single season of fishing. To avoid depleting the lake from the first season, there should be some obstacle or an agreement between fishermen to limit their fishing so as to leave some fish in the lake. Otherwise, each fisherman will have an incentive to fish as many fish as they can this season, since if they hold off their fishing they run the risk that other fishermen will not do the same and deplete the lake in the first season. The same is true of creditors under the individual creditor remedies system where each creditor is encouraged to be among the first to get the debtor's assets, since if they do not do it they run the risk that there will be no assets left to satisfy their claims⁵⁰. The creditors, as the fishermen in the example, would in certain situations be better off if they were to stop competing for assets and hold the assets together⁵¹. This would be the case when the rehabilitation of the debtor brings more value to its creditors than the liquidation of the debtor⁵². Further, an orderly liquidation of the debtor or sale as an going concern of a debtor company is assumed to be more efficient than

 $^{^{47}}$ Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 10.

⁴⁸ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 8.

⁴⁹ Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 11, 12.

⁵⁰ *Ibid* at 12.

⁵¹ Ibid.

⁵² Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24 at 350.

"the chaotic mix of self-help repossession and judicial execution available", and under the individual creditor remedies system 54.

Insolvency laws are created to address the unfairness and the inefficiencies that result under the individual creditor remedies system. To achieve this, insolvency laws provide a "collective" ⁵⁵ and "compulsory"⁵⁶ proceeding⁵⁷. Under such proceedings, the creditors are no longer treated as individuals that have separate claims, but as members of a single group that have a claim to the debtor's estate⁵⁸. The purpose of making the proceeding collective is to make creditors act in a cooperative way⁵⁹. To ensure that the collective proceeding realizes its benefits, the proceeding is compulsory. A creditor can neither make an arrangement with its debtor to avoid participation in an insolvency proceeding commenced with regard to the debtor ⁶⁰, nor opt out from the insolvency proceeding once the proceeding is commenced⁶¹. The use of individual creditor remedies is stayed; creditors are precluded from commencing individual proceedings against the debtor and the debtor is barred from disposing of its assets voluntarily⁶². As such, the insolvency laws create an environment for cooperation by removing the need of creditors to race for the debtor's assets. The efficiency of such a system results from the avoidance of the chaotic liquidation of the debtor's assets or of the liquidation of a debtor company when the reorganization of such a company would bring more value to the creditors as a group⁶³. A further efficiency that results from the mechanism created by insolvency laws derives from the

⁵³ Ibid.

⁵⁴ Ibid.

⁵⁵ Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 13.

⁵⁶ Ibid.

⁵⁷ *Ibid* at 10.

⁵⁸ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 11; Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 9.

⁵⁹ Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 17.

⁶⁰ Ibid.

⁶¹ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 12.

⁶² Ihid

⁶³ Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24 at 350; Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 14, 15.

avoidance of monitoring costs incurred by creditors in an attempt to ensure that they do not arrive in line for the debtors assets when there is no value left to be distributed among creditors⁶⁴. In addition, a single collective proceeding for the collection and distribution of assets saves the costs of multiple individual proceedings commenced by creditors separately for the purpose of seizing the debtor's assets⁶⁵. This is, generally, achieved through the institution of such features as creditors' committees and insolvency representatives that act in the interests of all the creditors as a group in the collection and distribution of the debtor's assets⁶⁶.

Aside from the efficiencies that they bring to the collection of debts in the circumstances of the debtor's insolvency, insolvency laws also bring fairness to this process. In insolvency proceedings, factors such as time or debtor's favoritism are no longer determinative of the payment order of creditors. Instead, the order of such payment is determined according to a preestablished distribution scheme included in insolvency laws that do not order creditors' claims based on such factors⁶⁷. Generally, the distribution occurrs in accordance with a basic principle of insolvency laws - the *parri passu* principle⁶⁸. This principle allows that the creditors should share equally in the debtor's assets⁶⁹. When the assets are insufficient to pay all the creditors' claims in full⁷⁰, then the assets will be distributed on a *pro rata* basis, meaning the dividend that each creditor receives on its claim is proportionate to the value of its claim⁷¹. Nevertheless, the principle for equal treatment of creditors' claims is not absolute. The distributional scheme of

⁶⁴ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 9.

⁶⁵ Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24 at 346, 347.

⁶⁶ *Ibid* at 347.

⁶⁷ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 9.

⁶⁸ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 318.

⁶⁹ Ihid

⁷⁰ "Because the insolvency is defined in terms of a debtor's cash flow, it is possible, at least in theory, for a debtor to be insolvent but have sufficient assets, when realized, to pay off all creditors", see Duns, *ibid* at 13 n 39.

⁷¹ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 9.

insolvency laws includes deviations from the *pari passu* principle⁷². According to insolvency laws' schemes of distribution, some creditors enjoy preferential treatment, and, as a consequence, are entitled to receive payment on their debts in priority to other creditors that do not enjoy such treatment⁷³. Nevertheless, the principle of *parri passu* distribution is respected among the creditors that receive the same treatment; in other words, the creditors whose claims are ranked the same are treated equally⁷⁴.

The deviations are not arbitrary, as they are with regard to individual creditor remedies. Instead, they are the result of "considered judgment", based on economic and policy grounds 6. For instance, claims for administrative expenses are given priority in the distributional process to ensure an efficient administration of the debtor's insolvency. Or, some creditors, as employees, ex-spouses, fishermen or farmers may enjoy a preferential rank because they are viewed as vulnerable in the circumstances of the debtor's insolvency 77.

Another deviation from the *parri passu* principle rests on a generally accepted principle of insolvency laws. This principle provides that the creditors' rights under the general law remain unaltered in insolvency proceedings⁷⁸. Accordingly, the priority that proprietary rights enjoy over the personal and contractual rights under the general law are preserved under the insolvency laws⁷⁹. For instance, secured rights perfected prior to the commencement of the insolvency

-

⁷⁹ Ibid.

⁷² Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24 at 353.

⁷³ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 9.

⁷⁴ Ihid

⁷⁵ Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24 at 353.

⁷⁶ Ihid

⁷⁷ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 331 − 339; Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Universal Priorities" (1998) 33:1 Tex Int'l Li 27 at 33 − 35 [Westbrook, Universal Priorities].

⁷⁸ Duns, Insolvency, *ibid* at 12; Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 21, 22; Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 10.

proceedings remain intact⁸⁰. There is more than one reason to leave the pre-insolvency rights unaltered in the insolvency proceedings. First, leaving the secured rights unaltered respects the purpose of establishing such rights⁸¹. The secured rights' purpose is to make credit available at a low cost. This is achieved through reducing the risk of non-payment. In the event of the debtor's default, a secured creditor has the right to receive payment for its debt by relying on the assets on which the secured right extends⁸². An insolvency law respecting the principle of leaving rights unaltered would isolate such assets from the debtor's estate available for distribution, and would entitle the secured creditors to look to these assets when seeking satisfaction of their claims⁸³. Thus, ensuring that the secured rights remain effective in the circumstances of the debtor's insolvency would keep the risk of non-payment and the cost of credit low. Providing otherwise would defeat the purpose of secured rights, and these rights "would resemble an umbrella that is capable of opening only when the sun is shining, but incapable of doing so when the rain is falling".⁸⁴.

Aside from the foregoing justification for keeping the pre-insolvency rights intact, another such justification derives from the need to ensure that insolvency laws are not abused⁸⁵. If the creditors' rights would be altered under insolvency laws, creditors would be encouraged to use the insolvency laws to gain the advantage that would result from such alterations⁸⁶. Such an

⁸⁰ Fletcher, *ibid* Jackson, *ibid*.

⁸¹ Fletcher, *ibid*; Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 490.

⁸² UN, UNICITRAL Legislative Guide on Secured Transactions, (New York: UN, 2010) at para 46, online:

http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/security-lg/e/09-82670 Ebook-Guide 09-04-10English.pdf>.

⁸³ Fletcher, Treatment of Secured Rights, *supra* note 4 at 490.

⁸⁴ Ihid

⁸⁵ Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31 at 21.

⁸⁶ Ibid.

effect would go against the main purpose of insolvency laws, namely to create a mechanism to be used in the interests of creditors as a group⁸⁷.

From the forgoing discussion, certain fundamental principles of insolvency laws emerge. The first is that insolvency laws establish a collective proceeding for the collection of debts. The second is that such proceedings are compulsory. The third is that the creditors are treated equally, with certain exceptions. The fourth is that insolvency laws respect the rights of creditors created prior to the debtor's insolvency. These are principles that, generally, are accepted by countries as fundamental principles of insolvency laws⁸⁸. Despite such agreement on fundamental principles of insolvency laws, countries enact insolvency laws that differ in numerous ways⁸⁹. These differences are due to the fact that each insolvency law is profoundly linked to the social and policy circumstances of the country that enacts it, and such circumstances differ across countries⁹⁰. The differences among insolvency laws range from general objectives that govern these laws to small details of procedure⁹¹. For instance, national insolvency laws may vary regarding the primary objective that they are trying to accomplish in an insolvency case. Some insolvency laws take as a primary objective the maximization of the welfare of creditors as a group; the decision to liquidate or to restructure an insolvent debtor under such insolvency laws will mainly depend on which route the creditors as a group will fare better (such insolvency laws are called pro-creditor)⁹². Conversely, some insolvency laws would compromise on the welfare of creditors in order to rescue the debtor, if this would provide some

⁸⁷ Ibid

⁸⁸ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 8 – 10; Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 11 – 13; Wessels, Bob, "Harmonization of Insolvency Law in Europe" (2011) 8:1 European Company Law 27 at 28.

⁸⁹ Fletcher, *ibid* at 4.

⁹⁰ Fletcher, *ibid* at 4, 5.

⁹¹ Ihid

⁹² Wood, Philip R., *Principles of International Insolvency*, (London: Sweet & Maxwell, 1995) at 3 [Wood, Principles]. Jackson, The Logic and Limits, *supra* note 31, as the proponent of such an approach.

social benefits (such insolvency laws are called pro-debtor)⁹³. Among the smaller details on which insolvency laws may differ are the criteria for commencing insolvency proceedings, the ranking of creditors, the rules on setting aside the transactions completed prior to the insolvency proceedings and many others⁹⁴.

The differences between national insolvency laws may prove to be substantial. An insolvency case's outcome may vary depending on which insolvency law is applied for its resolution⁹⁵. When the elements of an insolvency case are present within one jurisdiction, the variations between national insolvency laws are of no significance, since only one legal system would be concerned with the respective case. Consequently, only the insolvency laws of that legal system would apply⁹⁶. By contrast, in cases of cross-border insolvency, namely when the elements of the insolvency case are spread across more than one jurisdiction, more legal systems may have an interests in the resolution of the insolvency case⁹⁷. For instance, such cases could be those regarding a debtor that has assets or creditors located in more than one jurisdiction at the time of its insolvency⁹⁸. In particular, such cases raise questions of private international law⁹⁹, such as:

- Which court has the jurisdiction to hear the insolvency matters of a particular case?
- Which insolvency laws have to be applied?
- Should foreign insolvency orders be recognized and enforced?

⁹³ Wood, Principles, *ibid*; Warren, Imperfect World, *supra* note 24, as a proponent of such an approach.

⁹⁴ See Wood, Principles, *ibid*, presenting an overview of national insolvency laws on bankruptcy hierarchy at 10 – 29, and on preferences at 72 – 136.

⁹⁵ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 4, 5.

⁹⁶ Fletcher, *ibid* at 5.

⁹⁷ Ihid

⁹⁸ Duns, Insolvency, *supra* note 1 at 466.

⁹⁹ Duns, *ibid* at 467.

Several theories that provide answers to these questions have been developed. The next section will discuss the leading theories in greater detail.

2.2 Theories for Cross-Border Insolvency Laws

2.2.1 Territorialism v Universalism

The complexity of insolvency laws and the social and political basis on which these laws rely made answering the private international law questions that appear in cross-border insolvencies difficult. As a result, several theories were advanced to address these questions. The leading ones among them are the two competing theories of territorialism and universalism¹⁰⁰.

Territorialism advances the claim that the insolvency laws of a country should not be given extraterritorial effect against persons and property situated in foreign jurisdictions ¹⁰¹.

Accordingly, each country should commence and administer insolvency proceedings against a debtor under its own insolvency laws, and these proceedings should only encompass the locally situated property of the debtor ¹⁰². In addition, foreign insolvency proceedings would not be recognized or allowed to have any effect locally ¹⁰³. Considering the fact that countries, under their own insolvency laws, assume jurisdiction over debtors on several grounds ¹⁰⁴, multiple insolvency proceedings regarding the same debtor could be commenced simultaneously ¹⁰⁵, as a

16

Other theories for cross-border insolvency laws are Professor LoPucki's cooperative territoriality theory, see LoPucki, Cooperative Territoriality, *supra* note 3; and Professor Rasmussen's theory advancing that the applicable insolvency law should be chosen by the parties at the moment of the transaction, see Rasmussen, Robert K., "A New Approach to Transnational Insolvencies" (1997) 19:1 Mich J Int'l L 1 [Rasmussen].

¹⁰¹ Honsberger, John D., "Conflict of Laws and the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978" (1980) 30:4 Case W Res L Rev 631at 634 [Honsberger]; Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 496.

¹⁰² Ihid.

¹⁰³ Honsberger, *ibid*.

¹⁰⁴ McElcheran, Kevin P., Commercial Insolvency in Canada, (Markham, Ont: LexisNexis, 2011) at 238.

¹⁰⁵ Honsberger, *supra* note 101 at 634.

debtor could satisfy the jurisdictional criteria of more than one country. Each such proceeding would be administered without regard to the other foreign proceedings ¹⁰⁶.

By contrast, universalism contends that the cross-border insolvency of a debtor should be administered in a single insolvency proceeding according to the laws of the country commencing these proceedings¹⁰⁷. Under this theory, proceedings would be commenced in the home country of the debtor and would encompass the entire debtor's property and bind all of the debtor's creditors wherever located¹⁰⁸. Such proceedings would be recognized and enforced in all other countries involved in the cross-border insolvency case¹⁰⁹. All these other countries would assist the home country in the administration of the debtor's insolvency¹¹⁰.

Each theory has some implications that make it attractive and some that make it unattractive for the resolution of cross-border insolvencies. One perspective from which the rival theories are judged is through the nature of insolvency laws. It is contended that territorialism is opposed to the fundamental principles of insolvency laws. By limiting the effect of an insolvency proceeding to the territorial confines of the opening country, territorialism creates an opportunity for creditors to seek to satisfy their claims from assets located in countries other than the opening country¹¹¹. This would be possible, since the stay imposed by the insolvency law under which the proceeding was commenced on such individual actions would not operate outside the jurisdiction that commenced the insolvency proceeding¹¹². Such consequences of the territorialist system would be contrary to the collective principle of insolvency laws that purport to administer

1

¹⁰⁶ Ihid

¹⁰⁷ Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 461; LoPucki, Cooperative Territoriality, *supra* note 3 at 2220

¹⁰⁸ Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *ibid*.

¹⁰⁹ Flecther, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 495.

¹¹⁰ Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 461.

¹¹¹ Honsberger, *supra* note 101 at 635.

Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2285.

the entire property of the debtor under a single proceeding and to prevent the creditors from taking individual actions against the debtor. As such, territorialism raises the same concerns that the ordinary individual creditor remedies system raises in the circumstances of the debtor's insolvency¹¹³. Namely, territorialism encourages an international race among creditors to the debtor's assets. This may reduce the value of the debtor's property by making a liquidation of the debtor company as a going concern or a restructuring of such a debtor practically impossible 114. For instance, creditors could attach assets located in foreign jurisdictions without which a sale as a going concern or a restructuring could not go forward. Even if collective insolvency proceedings are commenced in each jurisdiction where the debtor has assets, a going concern liquidation or a restructuring plan may prove to be unachievable. This is so because a going concern sale or a restructuring would depend on the decisions of more than one court and courts sitting in different jurisdictions may reach opposing decisions 115. For instance, a restructuring may be difficult to implement when some assets needed for the success of the restructuring are located in a jurisdiction that does not favor restructuring, thinks a restructuring of the debtor is not warranted or that local creditors' claims can be satisfied in full out of local assets 116.

Further, territorialism is in disharmony with the equal treatment of creditors principle¹¹⁷. Under this theory, creditors may receive differing portions of their claims as a result of differing "asset/local debt ratio"¹¹⁸. In the case of an extreme form of territorialism, creditors in a jurisdiction where significant assets are located may be better off than creditors in other

¹¹³ Unt, Lore, "International Relations and International Insolvency Cooperation: Liberalism, Institutionalism, and Transnational Legal Dialog" (1997) 24:4 Law and Policy in International Business 1037 at p 1044.

¹¹⁵ Guzman, Andrew T., "International Bankruptcy: In Defense of Universalism" (2000) 98:7 Mich L Rev 2217 at 2204 [Guzman, International Bankruptcy].

¹¹⁷ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 496.

¹¹⁸ Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 460, 465.

jurisdictions with fewer assets and which does not allow foreign creditors to participate in the distribution of local assets (such form of territorialism is called "ring-fencing", 119) 120.

Nevertheless, unequal treatment of creditors may result even when foreign creditors have the right to lodge their claims in local proceedings. The foreign creditors that may have the opportunity to use this right would most likely be the sophisticated creditors that have enough resources to chase the debtor's assets in foreign jurisdictions 121. In addition, inequality of distribution may happen as a result of the abuse of the system created by territorialism on the part of the debtor. A debtor wanting to give preference to a certain creditor may change the location of assets on the eve of insolvency to take advantage of differences that exist between the insolvency laws of different nations 122, or the debtor may satisfy the claims of such a creditor out of foreign assets 123, since the debtor may freely dispose of its foreign located assets.

Aside from failing to promote the insolvency law principles in the context of cross-border insolvencies, territorialism falls short of obtaining the efficiencies that insolvency laws introduced, specifically the elimination of the costs of multiple proceedings commenced against the same debtor and of the monitoring of the debtor. Under territorialism, multiple parallel insolvency proceedings is the norm, and such situations raise the cost of the administration of the debtor's insolvency, particularly because of the multiplication of the expenses incurred for the experts involved in such administrations¹²⁴. As regards the costs of monitoring, they would arise

-

¹¹⁹ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 496.

¹²⁰ Ihid

¹²¹ Westbrook, Choice of Avoidance Law, *supra* note 15 at 514.

¹²² Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2309.

¹²³ Honsberger, *supra* note 101 at 634.

¹²⁴ Rasmussen, *supra* note 100 at 18.

as a result of the need to track the debtor's assets, which may be moved to foreign jurisdictions where these assets will not be affected by a local insolvency proceeding ¹²⁵.

Universalism, by contrast, is actually created based on the nature of insolvency laws. Following the principle of collectivity, universalism provides for the administration of cross-border insolvency cases under the control of a single insolvency proceeding that encompasses all the debtor's assets and creditors, wherever located. As a consequence, under this theory the maximization of the debtor's value through a going concern sale or a restructuring proceeding is easier to undertake than under territorialism, since the decision to implement such measures would depend on a single court acting under a single set of laws 126. In addition, the achievement of an orderly liquidation and reorganization plans requires that all the creditors be bound by such proceedings, even those creditors that disagree with their implementation ¹²⁷; universalism satisfies this requirement. Thus, universalism, as opposed to territorialism, allows the pursuance of optimal solutions for the debtor's insolvency. Other significant positive results of a single court and a single law system proposed by universalism are the efficient administration of crossborder insolvencies and the absence of the need to monitor the debtor as "the movement of assets would be irrelevant", all the debtor's assets would be gathered and distributed in a single proceeding.

-

Pottow, John A. E., "Greed and Pride in International Bankruptcy: The Problems of and Proposed Solutions to "Local Interests"" (2006) 104:8 Mich L Rev 1899 at 1904 [Pottow, Greed and Pride].

¹²⁶ International Bankruptcies Guzman at p 2203 – 2204 "Universalism offers a much better framework for reorganizations as it puts all assets of the firm under the control of a single court. Allowing each jurisdiction to arrive at its own conclusion is akin to giving each creditor – or at least the creditors of each country – a veto over reorganizations" p 2203 - 2204; A global solution Westbrook at 2285 – 2286 saying that "Reorganization Bankruptcy (often called rescue elsewhere) is even more dependent upon the existence of a single reorganization activity." p 2285.

Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2285.

¹²⁸ Westbrook, Global Solution, *ibid* at 2309; Pottow, Greed and Pride, *supra* note 125 at 1904.

Unlike, territorialism, universalism is in harmony with the principle of the equal treatment of creditors¹²⁹. As the insolvency proceeding commenced in the home country of the debtor will have worldwide effect, the stay on individual proceedings will be effective in every jurisdiction where the debtor has assets, thus impeding creditors from satisfying their claims from these assets outside of the collective proceeding commenced in the home country of the debtor¹³⁰. Further, the worldwide recognition and enforcement of the home country proceeding will prevent the debtor from disposing of its assets and from preferring creditors at its will. As stated above, since the administration of the debtor's estate is taking place under a single law, the changing of the assets' location on the eve of insolvency is no longer relevant; thus, the means to give preference to some creditors over others is not available under universalism. In addition, universalism promotes equality by distributing the debtor's assets under a single priority system, ensuring that all creditors of the same rank receive the same dividend on their debts¹³¹.

Another perspective from which territorialism and universalism are evaluated is the *ex ante* perspective of creditors. When looked at from this perspective, territorialism is more inefficient than universalism. It creates legal uncertainty, which in turn raises the cost of borrowing. The argument asserts that creditors adjust the term on which they extend credit by considering what would be the outcome of the debtor's insolvency¹³². Under territorialism, the creditor, in order to ascertain what that outcome would be, would have to determine the location of the debtor's assets, the likelihood of relocating these assets to other jurisdictions, the insolvency laws of the jurisdiction where the assets are located at the moment of borrowing and the jurisdictions to

¹²⁹ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 496.

¹³⁰ Honsberger, *supra* note 101 at 633.

Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 466. Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2293.

¹³² Guzman, International Bankruptcy, *supra* note 115 at 2199.

which assets may be relocated in the future ¹³³. Conversely, universalism is held to increase the predictability of the debtor's insolvency outcome ¹³⁴. Under universalism, the creditors do not need to track the relocated assets of the debtor or the shifting applicable insolvency law; they can consider only the insolvency law of the home jurisdiction, as that is the law that will apply to all the debtor's assets independent of their location ¹³⁵. Thus, under territorialism, "the creditor's informational needs and therefore its transaction costs are much greater" ¹³⁶ than under universalism. As the transactional costs incurred by the creditor are generally passed on the debtor ¹³⁷, the costs of borrowing under territorialism are likely to be higher than under universalism.¹³⁸.

Linked to the argument that an insolvency under territorialism has unpredictable outcomes is the claim that territorialism creates an environment where debtors may easily forum shop for a jurisdiction that would apply laws giving the debtor unfair advantages¹³⁹. Forum shopping under territorialism is possible because of the ease of moving assets to other jurisdictions on the eve of insolvency in order to shift the law that would apply to the administration and distribution of the relocated assets¹⁴⁰. For instance, a debtor would not encounter any difficulty in transferring significant liquid assets to its account in a favored jurisdiction just before filing for insolvency

¹³³ Guzman, International Bankruptcy, *ibid* at 2199-2200.

¹³⁴ Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2292; Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 466.

Guzman, International Bankruptcy, *supra* note 115 at 2199; Pottow, John A. E., "The Myth (and Realities) of Forum Shopping in Transnational Insolvency. (Symposium: Bankruptcy in the Global Village the Second Decade)" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 785 at 788 [Pottow, The Myth].

¹³⁶ Guzman, International Bankruptcy, *supra* note 115 at 2199.

¹³⁷ *Ibid* at 2201.

¹³⁸ Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 466.

¹³⁹ "The possibility of *ex post* forum shopping obviously reduces *ex ante* predictability for creditors and therefore increases the agency cost of debt" see Enriques, Luca & Martin Gelter, "Regulatory Competition in European Company Law and Creditor Protection" (2006) 7:1 European Business Organization Law Review 417 at 444. ¹⁴⁰ See Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Breaking Away: Local Priorities and Global Assets" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 601 at 612 "localism encourages forum stashing, which seems to me a much greater risk than the much-discussed forum shopping, because moving assets is generally much easier than relocating the seat of the enterprise".

proceedings in that jurisdiction¹⁴¹. As regards the possibility of forum shopping under universalism, one author fiercely argues that such a phenomena would be uncontrollable using this theory¹⁴². To shop for a favorable insolvency law, a debtor would have to change its home country¹⁴³; that author argues that such change could easily be done by relocating the attributes that indicate the home country¹⁴⁴. Nevertheless, this change would be easy to do only when the criterion adopted for the determination of the home country would be easy to manipulate, such as the place of incorporation¹⁴⁵. The adoption of a criterion that makes such manipulations unwarranted (for instance, a criterion that would be sufficiently costly to change) would deter forum shopping ¹⁴⁶. Such difficult to manipulate criteria are not impossible to find; as an example could serve a newly emerged concept, namely the centre of main interest of the debtor concept¹⁴⁷.

Despite the fact that universalism wins over territorialism on many levels, territorialism was historically the theory that prevailed in practice¹⁴⁸. While some jurisdictions have shown a preference for universalism¹⁴⁹; this theory has never been adopted in its pure form¹⁵⁰. The main

¹⁴¹ In Pottow, The Myth, *supra* note 135 at 801, the author presents a case where \$24 million from the debtor's US account were wired to a Cayman Islands account just before filling for winding up proceedings in the Cayman Islands under the laws of that forum.

LoPucki, Lynn M., Courting Failure: How Competition for Big Cases is Corrupting the Bankruptcy Courts, (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 2005) at 229 – 231; LoPucki, Lynn M., "Cooperation in International Bankruptcy: A Post-Universalist Approach" (1999) 84:3 Cornell L Rev 696 at 720 – 723 [LoPucki, A Post-Universalism Approach].

¹⁴³ Pottow, The Myth, *supra* note 135 at 797.

¹⁴⁴ LoPucki, A Post-Universalism Approach, *supra* note 142 at 720.

¹⁴⁵ Guzman, International Bankruptcy, *supra* note 115 at 2214.

¹⁴⁶ Ibid.

¹⁴⁷ Pottow, The Myth, *supra* note 135 at 798 "While moving *place of incorporation* requires only glorified paperwork, moving *COMI*, by definition, requires more".

Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 460.

¹⁴⁹ See *McGrath & Ors v Riddell & Ors (Conjoint Appeals)*, [2008] UKHL 21, [2008] 1 WLR 852 at para 30 "The primary rule of private international law which seems to me applicable to this case is the principle of (modified) universalism, which has been the golden thread running through English cross-border insolvency law since the eighteenth century. That principle requires that English courts should, as far as is consistent with justice and UK

reason for the non-adoption of universalism is the failure of universalism to provide for the protection of local interests. The local interests argument is double-sided. On the one side, the protection of local interests argument is concerned with the interests of sovereign states. As mentioned in the previous section, insolvency laws are shaped according to the social and policy conditions of the countries that enacted them. Adopting universalism presupposes that a country accepts a foreign insolvency law, namely the insolvency law of the home country, to govern all the effects of the debtor's insolvency on its territory. Such deference to a foreign country results in a foreign country's policies embedded in its insolvency law deciding over local relations. Thus, "political judgments about local assets disposition and allocation of local losses from the foreign firm's demise are left in the hands of a foreign court." Because countries are reluctant to pre-commit such extensive deferral to foreign countries' views about how a debtor's insolvency should be dealt with, they have difficulties submitting to a regime based on pure universalism.

On the other side of the problem of local interests are the interests of individual creditors that stand to be affected by a cross-border insolvency case. Under universalism, a creditor would have to determine the home country of the debtor and the law that applies to its debtor's insolvency proceeding when adjusting the credit terms¹⁵³. While such an exercise should not raise any complaints from sophisticated creditors¹⁵⁴, in practice it could prove quite hard to

_

public policy, co-operate with the courts in the country of the principal liquidation to ensure that all the company's assets are distributed to its creditors under a single system of distribution."

¹⁵⁰ Pottow, John A. E., "Procedural Incrementalism: a Model for International Bankruptcy" (2005) 45:4 Va J Int'l L 937 at 950 [Pottow, Procedural Incrementalism].

¹⁵¹ Tung, Fear of Commitment, *supra* note 6 at 576.

¹⁵² Ibid.

¹⁵³ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 496.

¹⁵⁴ Trautman, Donald T., Jay Lawrence Westbrook & Emmanuel Gaillard, "Four Models for International Bankruptcy" (1993) 41:4 Am J Comp L 573 at 624.

implement for unsophisticated creditors¹⁵⁵. As Professor LoPucki has stated, "[a]s a practical matter, the Mexican employee, the Mexican trade creditor, and even their U.S. counterparts are unlikely to know enough about foreign insolvency laws to adjust to them."¹⁵⁶ Further, for such creditors the determination of the debtor's home country, whose laws will generally apply to the insolvency proceeding of the debtor¹⁵⁷, could raise further practical difficulties. They will have "to reconcile the known and ascertainable facts regarding the debtor with the criteria employed by the jurisdictional test"¹⁵⁸.

The practical difficulty encountered when determining the home country of the debtor and the applicable insolvency law is not the only unfair prejudice that a creditor could suffer due to a universalist system. There may be instances when the fact that the debtor will be subject to a foreign insolvency law is not readily ascertainable to a creditor entering into a transaction with such a debtor¹⁵⁹. This is a situation where the legitimate expectations of the creditor regarding the law that will determine the consequences of its debtor's insolvency on its legal relationship with the debtor may be defeated¹⁶⁰. The defeat of the creditor's legitimate expectations could be substantial for the creditor's interests in the context of insolvency laws. Due to the differences that exist between insolvency laws of different countries, the insolvency law whose application the creditor legitimately did not expect may affect the creditor's interest in a way that the creditor did not anticipate¹⁶¹. The prejudice that may result from a defeat of a creditor's legitimate expectations is most vividly illustrated in the area of secured creditors' rights. The essential

¹⁵⁵ LoPucki, A Post-Universalism Approach, *supra* note 142 at 711, 712.

¹⁵⁶ *Ibid* at 712.

¹⁵⁷ LoPucki, Cooperative Territoriality, *supra* note 3 at 2220.

¹⁵⁸ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 496.

¹⁵⁹ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *ibid* at 497.

¹⁶⁰ Ibid.

¹⁶¹ Ibid.

purpose of granting a security to a creditor is to protect the creditor against the risk of insolvency¹⁶². In the event of the debtor's insolvency, the secured creditor has "direct recourse to the collateral" ¹⁶³. Nevertheless, the protection offered against the debtor's insolvency by a security to the creditor is not absolute. The security rights of the creditor may be altered in an insolvency proceeding. For instance, a validly created security under applicable civil law may be declared void under insolvency rules governing preferences¹⁶⁴, or the creditor's "right to resort to its remedies against its collateral may be delayed" 165. The impact that the debtor's insolvency will have on the rights of the secured creditor is a factor taken into consideration by the creditor when it decides the terms of the credit 166. Thus, it is important to give effect to the extent of protection on which the secured creditor counted at the time of entering into the transaction with the debtor. Under universalism, secured creditors may not always receive the treatment in home country insolvency proceedings that they had in mind at the time of entering into transactions with their debtors. National insolvency laws differ on how they treat security rights, and different conclusions regarding the secured creditor's rights may be reached under different insolvency laws 167. If a creditor relies on the protection granted by the law of the location of the property that is the subject matter of the security rights (lex situs) and the insolvency of the debtor is ultimately decided under the law of the home country (other than the *lex situs*), which differs on relevant material matters from the *lex situs*, the essential purpose of the secured right might not be achieved¹⁶⁸.

¹⁶² ALI, Global Principles, *supra* note 20 at 236, 237.

¹⁶³ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 402 – 403.

¹⁶⁴ Drobnig, Ulrich, "Secured Credit in International Insolvency Proceedings" (1998) 33:1 Tex Int'l LJ 53 at 65.

¹⁶⁵ Clark, The Honorable Leif M. & Karen Goldstein, "Sacred Cow: How to Care for Secured Creditors' Rights in Cross-Border Bankruptcies" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 513 at 536 [Clark, Sacred Cow].

¹⁶⁶ ALI, Global Principles, *supra* note 20 at 237.

¹⁶⁷ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 403.

¹⁶⁸ Ibid.

Thus, as long as national insolvency laws remain inharmonious, the concerns raised by the need to protect local interests will make the adoption of universalism unattainable¹⁶⁹. Since national insolvency laws are grounded on local, social and public policy values, harmonization of these laws is not likely to succeed in the foreseeable future¹⁷⁰. Accordingly, other solutions that would respond to the current legal realities had to be formulated¹⁷¹. As universalism was widely recognized as the "long term, theoretical solution to the problem of multinational insolvency", the short term solution that gained acceptance came as close to the universalist model as the concerns raised by the divergence of national insolvency laws could allow, and was accordingly termed modified universalism¹⁷³.

2.2.2 Modified Universalism

Modified universalism embraces the central principles of pure universalism, but recognizes that "a country may only unilaterally control its territory and laws", 174. It is an abated form of universalism that tries to fit in with the current legal reality 175. Thus, modified universalism accepts that the cross-border insolvency of a debtor has to be administered under the laws and by the courts of the home country of the debtor 176. Nevertheless, a local court, other than the home country court, retains the discretion to evaluate the compliance of the home country insolvency

1

¹⁶⁹ Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2299; Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 497.

¹⁷⁰ *Ibid*; Adams, Edward S. & Jason K. Fincke, "Coordinating Cross-Border Bankruptcy: How Territorialism Saves Universalism" (2008) 15:1 Colum J Eur L 43 at 46 [Adams].

¹⁷¹ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *ibid*.

Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2299; see also Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *ibid* at 497, stating that "the appeal of the universalist model has tended to gain favor among those seeking to produce a framework for international governance of international insolvencies".

¹⁷³ Fletcher, *ibid* at 498; Westbrook, Choice of Avoidance Law, *supra* note 15 at 517; Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2302.

¹⁷⁴ Anderson, Kent "The Cross-Border Insolvency Paradigm: A defense of the Modified Universal Approach Considering the Japanese Experience" (2000) 21:4 U Pa J Int'l Econ L 679 at 690 [Anderson, Japanese Experience]. ¹⁷⁵ Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2299 – 2302.

¹⁷⁶ Westbrook, Choice of Avoidance Law, *supra* note 15 at 517.

proceeding with certain criteria before giving it effect on its territory 177. Accordingly, the home country insolvency proceeding does not have automatic and direct effect in non-home countries. This deviation from the pure form of universalism is expected to ensure that local interests are given appropriate protection. The usual criteria employed as a guide for the exercise of the local court's discretion are whether the effects of the home country insolvency proceeding, which are asked to be allowed on the local court's territory, would alter the legal entitlements of creditors or offend against local public policy¹⁷⁸. In addition, under modified universalism, non-home countries reserve the right to commence local insolvency proceedings that would administer the debtor's local assets under local laws¹⁷⁹, consequently limiting the universal effects of the home country insolvency proceeding. This alteration to the single court and single law system serves several functions¹⁸⁰. First, the right to commence local proceedings is a means that can be used to protect local creditors' interests, for instance, those of local creditors whose legal entitlements are not recognized in the home country insolvency proceeding ¹⁸¹. Second, local insolvency proceedings may be used as a supplement to the home country insolvency proceeding ¹⁸². For instance, a local proceeding may be commenced for efficiency reasons; there may be some complex estates that cannot be administered as a whole 183. Or, a local proceeding may be commenced to prevent creditors to initiate individual proceedings under non-insolvency laws in

¹⁷⁷ Ibid.

¹⁷⁸ Adams, *supra* note 170 at 48, 49.

¹⁷⁹ Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2300.

¹⁸⁰ EC, Miguel Virgos & Etienne Schmitt, *Report on the Convention on Insolvency Proceedings*, Brussels, 3 May 1996 at paras 32, 33 [The Virgos – Schmitt Report].

¹⁸¹ *Ibid* at para 33.

¹⁸² Adams, supra note 170 at 48.

¹⁸³ Virgos - Schmitt Report, *supra* note 180 at para 33.

countries that, otherwise, would allow them to do so¹⁸⁴. This may be the case when the home country insolvency proceeding was not allowed to have local effects.

To avoid conflicts that may otherwise result from the administration of a cross-border insolvency case through concurrent insolvency proceedings, the modified universalism system limits the scope of the non-home country proceedings. These proceedings are allowed to administer only the locally situated assets¹⁸⁵. To further ensure a harmonized administration of cross-border insolvency cases under a system that allows the commencement of concurrent insolvency proceedings, modified universalism envisions that courts sitting in these concurrent proceedings will cooperate to the maximum extent permitted by local laws to maximize "the value and fairness in the management of the default".

Accordingly, modified universalism purports to achieve some of the benefits of universalism described above, such as efficiency¹⁸⁷ and fairness¹⁸⁸, and at the same time to provide for the protection of local interests. Whether this claim holds true in practice is the question of this thesis. The following chapters are an attempt to answer this question, namely by determining whether the operation of courts in cross-border insolvency cases under a legal framework based on modified universalism promotes the goals of efficiency, fairness and predictability and ensures the protection of local interests. For this purpose, the study of the application by courts

_

¹⁸⁴ ALI, Global Principles, *supra* note 20 at 231.

¹⁸⁵ Fletcher, Treatment of Security Rights, *supra* note 4 at 501.

¹⁸⁶ Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2302.

¹⁸⁷ "The modified regime does not achieve the administrative efficiencies of pure universality, but it limits duplicative administrative expenses while allowing for coordinated liquidation and reorganization." See Anderson, Japanese Experience, *supra* note 174 at 691.

¹⁸⁸ "Under modified universalism, a court is likely to be active in every country in which the debtor has substantial assets. However, in many cases only one court must determine claims and make distributions. This determination by a single court eliminates the necessity for country-by-country filing and determination of claims and arguably enhances the distribution of the system to achieve a worldwide pro rata distribution of assets." See LoPucki, A Post-Universalism Approach at 728.

Insolvency¹⁸⁹ was chosen, since, as it is argued in the third chapter, this Law adopts the modified universalism theory. Notably, the Model Law expressly provides in its preamble that it is committed to further, among other more specific goals, "greater legal certainty for trade and investment" and "fair and efficient administration of cross-border insolvencies that protects the interest of all creditors and other interested parties" 191. This is important for the present research as one cannot assess the workability of a legal instrument by evaluating whether it promotes certain goals when that legal instrument was not intended to promote such goals.

-

¹⁸⁹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18.

¹⁹⁰ *Ibid,* the Preamble.

¹⁹¹ *Ibid*.

CHAPTER 3: UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency

This chapter reviews the legislative history of the Model Law in order to provide a background to a discussion on the legal framework that this document creates for the resolution of cross-border insolvency cases. Hence, this chapter elaborates on the core provisions that form the foundation of the Model Law, particularly those provisions that concern access of foreign representatives and creditors to courts in the enacting state, recognition of foreign proceeding and relief, cooperation with foreign courts and foreign representatives and coordination of concurrent proceedings. Then, this chapter asks the question of whether or not modified universalism is the theoretical foundation of the Model Law, ultimately concluding that it is.

3.1 Legislative History

At the UNCITRAL Congress "Uniform Commercial Law in the 21st Century" held in conjunction with the twenty-fifth session of the Commission on May 1992 in New York, it was proposed that UNCITRAL consider undertaking work in the area of cross-border insolvency¹⁹². The reason for this proposal was tied to the need to find a solution to the conflicting claims of jurisdictions over the insolvent debtor's estate that were occurring in cases when a debtor declared bankruptcy in one jurisdiction and at the same time owned assets in other jurisdictions¹⁹³. The conflict of jurisdiction in such cases arose between the jurisdiction where the debtor declared bankruptcy and the other jurisdictions where the debtor had assets¹⁹⁴. The jurisdiction where the bankruptcy was declared would claim to have jurisdiction to administer

¹⁹² Uniform Commercial Law in the Twenty-First Century: Proceedings of the Congress of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, New York, 18-22 May 1992 at 158, online:

http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/general/Uniform_Commercial_Law_Congress_1992_e.pdf.

193 Ihid.

¹⁹⁴ *Ibid*.

and distribute all of the debtor's assets because they all formed part of the debtor's estate, while the jurisdiction where the assets were located would claim jurisdiction to administer and distribute them only because they were located in its territory.

Those that made the proposal expressed the view that a solution should be found, and that it should not attempt to harmonize or unify the substantive national insolvency law, as such a project would be premature ¹⁹⁵. However, they considered that the problems of cross-border insolvencies could be eased if instead of looking at the country where the insolvency was declared, UNCITRAL would focus instead on the country where the insolvent's assets were located and decide how those assets should be dealt with ¹⁹⁶.

In response to this proposal, UNCITRAL decided to undertake an in-depth legal study of the prevailing legal environment in the area of cross-border insolvency¹⁹⁷. The objective of the study was to ascertain the desirability and feasibility of a potential project aimed at harmonizing the rules regarding cross-border insolvency. For this purpose, the Secretariat of the Commission prepared a report on the legal issues that arose or could arise in cross-border insolvency cases due to the differences in national approaches to such cases¹⁹⁸. The Secretariat identified that countries had different views about what effects liquidation or reorganization proceedings commenced in one country should have or should be allowed to have in another country. Some countries had insolvency laws that claimed universal effect for the insolvency proceedings commenced in their courts, and at the same time refused to recognize the same universal effect

¹⁹⁵ *Ibid*.

¹⁹⁶ Ibid.

¹⁹⁷ Report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law on the Work of its Twenty-Sixth Session, UNCITRALOR, 48th Sess, Supp 17, UN Doc A/48/17, (1993) at paras 302 – 306 [The Twenty-Sixth Session Report]. ¹⁹⁸ Secretariat of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, *Possible Future Work: Cross-Border Insolvency*, UNCITRALOR, 26th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/378/Add.4, (1993).

of foreign insolvency proceedings. Other countries had insolvency laws claiming that local insolvency proceedings had effect only on local assets. Furthermore, it was also identified that national rules on judicial assistance accorded to foreign insolvency representatives differed widely; some courts were empowered to make various orders at the request of foreign insolvency representatives, while other courts were not empowered to entertain any such requests. The secretariat further reported that although many national laws allowed foreign creditors to participate in local insolvency proceedings, those creditors might not be treated equally as local creditors. Other areas of disharmony identified included the priority rules in the distribution of assets; the rules governing the security interests and their effectiveness in insolvency proceedings; the rules for avoidance of transactions prejudicial to creditors generally and as a whole; and the rules that governed the effect that a reorganization plan approved by a court in one jurisdiction should have or be allowed to have in another jurisdiction. The secretariat concluded that the identified disharmony of national rules on various matters related to crossborder insolvency leads to wasteful, uncertain and unfair resolution of cross-border insolvency¹⁹⁹. This is particularly so because such disharmony creates obstacles to access by creditors to debtors' assets, encourages courts in an effort to protect the interests and expectations of local creditors arising under local law to refuse recognition or limit assistance to foreign insolvency proceedings, and in turn encourages the commencement of parallel uncoordinated insolvency proceedings with respect to the same debtor.

In its report, the Secretariat conveyed the views of commentators and members of associations of practitioner²⁰⁰. They agreed that to avoid conflict and the undesirable effects occurring in cross-border insolvency cases as a result of the disharmony of rules governing such cases, states had to

¹⁹⁹ *Ibid* at para 49.

²⁰⁰ *Ibid* at paras 50, 51.

agree on harmonized rules for cross-border insolvency²⁰¹. They considered that a feasible system of harmonized rules for cross-border insolvencies should provide an insolvency representative access to assets located abroad, though subject to conditions. One condition was that the insolvency proceeding in which the insolvency representative was appointed had to be commenced in accordance with harmonized rules for jurisdiction. Another condition was that the access and power of the insolvency representative to administer and/or distribute the assets located abroad had to be tailored so as to ensure the protection of interests and expectations of local creditors arising under local law. To be noted is that these commentators and members of associations of practitioner pointed out that:

[I]t may be unrealistic to suppose that any principle of universality of insolvency proceedings could be attained at the global, or even at regional, level in the foreseeable future...it will continue to be unacceptable that interests and expectations arising under local law could be overridden by the effects of insolvency proceedings taken place elsewhere. 202

This suggests that even if these commentators saw the current approaches to cross-border insolvency, which were mainly based on principles of territorialism, as inadequate, they did not consider shifting to a full universalist approach as a feasible and desirable solution to the crossborder insolvency problems, at least at that time.

At the same time, some concerns were expressed about the feasibility of a project intended to harmonize the rules on cross-border insolvency²⁰³. The reason for such concerns was that similar projects undertaken by international organizations were unsuccessful; such projects either could not reach agreed solutions or were not widely adopted²⁰⁴.

²⁰¹ *Ibid*.

²⁰² *Ibid* at para 51.

²⁰³ The Twenty-Sixth Session Report, supra note 197 at para 304.

²⁰⁴ Ibid.

In light of the Secretariat's study conclusions, and of the views expressed by commentators, the Commission at its twenty-sixth session decided that the Secretariat should continue the in-depth study of the legal environment in the area of cross-border insolvency and focus on the aspects of cross-border insolvency laws that could be harmonized²⁰⁵.

The initial step taken by the Secretariat to accomplish its task was to organize, in collaboration with INSOL - an international association of insolvency professionals, a colloquium on cross-border insolvency issues²⁰⁶. The colloquium was held in Vienna in 1994 and was attended by approximately 90 participants representing governments of common and civil law countries, international organizations, such as INSOL and Committee J of the Section on Business Law of the International Bar Association, and professionals that participated in cross-border insolvency cases or who lead projects intended to harmonize cross-border insolvency laws²⁰⁷.

The purpose of the colloquium was to determine from a practical standpoint the feasibility and the desirability of a project harmonizing the rules on cross-border insolvency²⁰⁸. Attention was drawn to national law reforms and initiatives at the international level made to address the problematic issues that arise in cross-border insolvency cases. These reforms and international initiatives suggested what sub-areas of cross-border insolvency laws could be harmonized. The identified sub-areas were judicial cooperation and access of foreign insolvency representatives and creditors and recognition of foreign proceedings²⁰⁹. Though these two sub-areas may seem modest at first glance, the participants at the colloquium viewed them as sub-areas in which

²⁰⁵ *Ibid* at paras 305, 306.

²⁰⁶ Secretariat of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, *Cross-Border Insolvency: Report on UNCITRAL – INSOL Colloquium on Cross-Border Insolvency*, UNCITRALOR, 27th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/398, (1994). ²⁰⁷ *Ibid* at para 2.

²⁰⁸ *Ibid* at paras 2, 3.

²⁰⁹ *Ibid* at paras 16 - 18.

harmonization of rules would be useful and would allow countries to avoid the unification of substantive rules of insolvency, which was considered unachievable at that stage²¹⁰.

The next step was to pursue work in the sub-areas identified as feasible and useful to be harmonized. The Secretariat, in conjunction with INSOL, co-sponsored a second colloquium intended to receive the views of judges regarding the current rules on judicial cooperation, access and recognition, and to determine what rules might, from the standpoint of the needs of practice and the goals of insolvency laws, facilitate judicial cooperation, access and recognition²¹¹. The colloquium took place in Toronto in 1995 and was attended by over sixty-judges and government officials from thirty-six states²¹².

The participants of the colloquium in their discussions had the benefit of a report prepared by an expert committee assembled by INSOL that was meant to facilitate discussion between the participants²¹³. The report provided an update on the contemporary national approaches in the sub-areas of judicial cooperation, access and recognition of a limited number of countries²¹⁴.

The findings reflected in the report available to the participants at the colloquium, and the findings made by these participants in the course of the colloquium in respect to national approaches in the sub-areas of judicial cooperation, access and recognition, can be summarized

٦.

²¹⁰ *Ibid* at para 16.

²¹¹ Secretariat of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, *Cross-Border Insolvency: Report on UNCITRAL – INSOL Judicial Colloquium on Cross-Border Insolvency*, UNCITRALOR, 28th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/413, (1995) [The Judicial Colloquium Report].

²¹² *Ibid* at para 1.

²¹³ *Ibid* at para 4.

²¹⁴ Joint Project of UNCITRAL and INSOL International on Cross-Border Insolvencies (Reporters: Evan Flaschen & Ron Harmer), *Expert Committee's Report on Cross-Border Insolvency Access and Recognition*, (1996) IIR 139 [The Expert Committee's Report].

as follows²¹⁵. The judicial cooperation was hindered by a lack of legislation to authorize such cooperation in some countries and by the inadequacy of existing legislation in other countries. Harmonized legislative provisions on judicial cooperation would authorize the extension of cooperation by judges in countries where courts cannot act without express legislative authority, as was the case in many civil law countries. Such express legislative provisions would also be useful in countries where the courts have broad discretionary powers to cooperate by promoting predictability in cross-border insolvency cases. The means used to achieve judicial cooperation were inadequate for the resolution of cross-border insolvency cases. One of those means was the negotiation and approval of ad hoc "protocols" – insolvency agreements entered into for the purpose of facilitating the cooperation and coordination of parallel insolvency proceedings commenced with regard to the same debtor in different jurisdictions²¹⁶. Although these protocols proved to be very useful in facilitating the resolution of cross-border insolvency cases²¹⁷, in the absence of legal authority or judicial willingness to cooperate, the protocol approach fell short of promoting predictability for the cross-border insolvency law area. As regards the access and recognition sub-area, countries adopted various approaches to access and recognition. In the absence of specific legislation on cross-border insolvency in common law countries, courts decided on the issues related to access and recognition by applying the principle of comity²¹⁸. This approach granted courts flexibility and discretion to impose conditions on the recognition of

²¹⁵ The following paragraph about national approaches to "judicial cooperation" and "access and recognition" will be based on the content of the Expert Committee's Report, ibid, and the Judicial Colloquium Report, supra note

²¹⁶ UN, UNCITRAL Practice Guide on Cross-Border Insolvency Cooperation, (New York: UN, 2010), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/insolven/Practice Guide Ebook eng.pdf at 27 [The Practice Guide on Cross-Border Cooperation].

²¹⁷ Olympia & York Developments Ltd v Royal Trust Co (1993), 20 CBR (3d) 165 (Ont Gen Div) and Maxwell Communication Corp v Societe Generale (In re Maxwell Communication Corp), 93 F (3d) 1036 (2nd Cir 1996). ²¹⁸ The doctrine of "comity" is an important doctrine of private international law. Common law courts applied this doctrine to justify the application of foreign laws and the recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments, Rafferty, Nicholas et al, Private International Law in Common Law Canada: cases, text and materials, 3d ed (Toronto: Emond Montgomery Publications, 2010) at 9.

foreign proceedings and limits on access to foreign representatives to the extent necessary in the particular case brought before the court. But such an approach enhanced uncertainty, which is undesirable in the area of cross-border insolvency. By contrast, in civil law countries, courts could not rely on the concept of comity outside of the statutory framework ²¹⁹. Thus, in the absence of express provisions on access and recognition in the context of cross-border insolvencies, the foreign insolvency representatives seeking access and recognition of the foreign proceeding in the courts of these countries had to rely on the law governing the recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments given in two-party disputes. The technique employed in such cases required the petitioning of the court to recognize the foreign judgment by issuing an enabling order - an "exequatur". The advantage of the exequatur approach was that it provided certainty; to acquire an exequatur, the foreign petitioner had only to satisfy clear procedural requirements. The drawback of this approach was that the legislation governing the issuance of an exequatur could be confined to the recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments given in two-party disputes, and courts could not easily apply that legislation to recognize and enforce foreign insolvency proceedings that were collective by nature.

At the colloquium, the participants suggested possible practical rules for judicial cooperation, access and recognition. Some of these were: the inclusion of an automatic stay of proceedings to provide a minimum period of time needed to examine the request for recognition; facilitation of communication between courts in cross-border insolvency cases; provisions for establishing equal access of creditors to insolvency proceedings; and the inclusion of a rule determining the controlling insolvency proceeding with the effect of other insolvency proceedings being

²¹⁹ The Expert Committee's Report, *supra* note 214 at 145, 146.

secondary²²⁰. In light of the diversity of national approaches to cross-border insolvency issues, the participants suggested that the form of legal instrument UNCITRAL should draft for its project aimed at harmonizing rules on cross-border insolvency should consist of model legislative provisions containing "a menu of options" ²²¹.

In consideration of the views expressed at the judicial colloquium, in 1995 the Commission, at its twenty-eighth session, decided to develop a legal instrument on judicial cooperation on cross-border insolvency, on court access to foreign insolvency representatives and recognition of foreign insolvency proceedings²²². It assigned this task to one of the three intergovernmental working groups of UNICITRAL, which was named for this project the Working Group on Insolvency Law²²³. In only four two-week sessions the Working Group developed a draft text on cross-border insolvency²²⁴. The draft was presented at the thirtieth session of the Commission, where the final review of the provisions of the draft took place²²⁵. After minor drafting changes, the Commission adopted the draft text under the name "Model Law on Cross-border Insolvency" (The Model Law) on 30 May 1997²²⁶. The final text has 32 articles divided into five chapters²²⁷. The Model Law provides a legal framework to address more predictably and efficiently the cases of cross-border insolvency where the insolvent debtor has assets and/or creditors in more than

²²⁰ The Judicial Colloquium Report, supra note 211 at paras 20, 21.

²²¹ Ibid at 24

Report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law on the Work of its Twenty-Eight Session, UNCITRALOR, 15th Sess, Supp No 17, UN Doc A/50/17, (1995) at paras 382 - 393.

²²³ Guide to Enactment of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency, UNCITRAL, 30th Sess, Annex, UN Doc A/CN.9/422 (1997) at para 6 [The Guide to Enactment].

²²⁴ Ihid.

²²⁵ The Thirtieth Session Report, *supra* note 18.

²²⁶ *Ibid* at 43.

²²⁷ Chapter I – general provisions (on scope of application, basic definitions of the terms used in the Model Law, provisions on international obligations of the States, public policy exception and interpretation); Chapter II – access of foreign representatives and creditors to courts in the enacting state; Chapter III – recognition of foreign proceeding and relief; Chapter IV – cooperation with foreign courts and foreign representatives; Chapter V – concurrent proceedings (on coordination of parallel insolvency proceedings opened in regard of the same debtor).

one jurisdiction²²⁸. In view of the difficulty in achieving harmonization in the field of cross-border insolvency laws, the Model Law respects the differences between national procedural laws and does not attempt to modify the substantive insolvency rules in the enacting states²²⁹. The philosophy of the Model Law is to provide minimum standards needed to be complied with for predictable and efficient resolutions of cross-border insolvency cases, if the enacting state provides for a less restrictive rule than the Model Law does, then that specific rule applies²³⁰.

3.2 Form of Instrument

The Commission presented the text on cross-border insolvencies to states for adoption in the form of a model law²³¹. A model law is a legislative text that, once enacted by a state, becomes part of its national law²³². It also allows the enacting states to make any substantive changes to its text that are necessary to accommodate national requirements²³³. Because of the flexibility afforded by model laws to the enacting states and of the range of differing approaches in national laws on cross-border insolvency, the Commission considered that a model law would be a better vehicle for harmonization in this area of law²³⁴. However, at the drafting stage, there were arguments stating that the form of a convention would be more appropriate for a text that

²²⁸ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 1.

²²⁹ *Ibid* at para 3.

²³⁰ Berends, André J, "The UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency: A Comprehensive Overview" (1998) 6 Tul J Int'l & Comp L 309 at 321 [Berends, A Comprehensive Overview].

²³¹ UNCITRAL uses several legislative techniques to harmonize the laws on international trade, as developing such legislative texts as: conventions, model laws, legislative guides and model provisions. As the degree of harmonization that these types of legislative texts can achieve is different, they are used depending on what degree of harmonization UNCITRAL thinks is desirable or feasible to achieve in a particular area of law. UN, *A Guide to UNCITRAL. Basic Facts about the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law*, (Vienne: UN, 2013), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/general/12-57491-Guide-to-UNCITRAL-e.pdf at 13.

²³³ Ibid.

²³⁴ The Thirtieth Session Report, supra note 18 at para 26.

addresses such issues as judicial cooperation²³⁵. It was claimed that judicial cooperation requires a greater degree of harmonization than the degree that could be achieved through a model law, and that degree of harmonization could be satisfied by adopting the text as a draft convention that afforded less flexibility to enacting states to alter its text²³⁶. In addition, it was pointed out that usually courts cooperate with foreign courts or authorities only after the requirement of reciprocity was satisfied, and that in the case of conventions it was easier to verify whether the reciprocity requirement was satisfied than in the case of model laws²³⁷.

The majority of those implicated in the drafting of the Model Law text opposed this argument. They were of the view that a model law was better suited than a convention to achieve harmonization in the area of cross-border insolvency in the shortest possible time, and the urgency of harmonization of cross-border insolvency rules was acknowledged from the beginning of the work of the Commission in this area of law²³⁸. In support of that view, the lack of success of some conventions that attempted to harmonize the rules on cross-border insolvency was noted²³⁹. They believed that a model law proposing a flexible legislative text might be more easily accepted for enactment by states²⁴⁰. Furthermore, due to the complexity of the procedures for ratification and adoption that a convention requires, this form of legislative text could not induce harmonization of cross-border insolvency laws in the shortest possible time²⁴¹. As regards

_

²³⁵ Report of the Working Group on Insolvency Law on the Work of its Twentieth Session, UNCITRALOR, 30th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/433, (1996) at paras 16 – 20 [The Working Group's Twentieth Session Report].

²³⁶ *Ibid.*

²³⁷ Ibid.

²³⁸ Ibid.

²³⁹ *Ibid*.

²⁴⁰ Ibid.

²⁴¹ Clift, Jenny, "The UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency – a Legislative Framework to Facilitate Coordination and Cooperation in Cross-Border Insolvency. (United Nations Commission on International Trade Law) (2004) 12 Tul J Int'l & Comp L 307 at 318 [Clift].

the reciprocity requirement, it was not accepted as a strong argument for adoption of the text in the form of a convention²⁴².

Though the text of the model law on cross-border insolvency may be modified to the extent desired by the enacting states, "in order to achieve a satisfactory degree of harmonization and certainty, it is recommended that States make as few changes as possible in incorporating the model law into their legal systems"²⁴³. Moreover, to achieve a greater degree of harmonization and certainty in the field of cross-border insolvency, the Commission decided that the model law would be accompanied by a guide to enactment²⁴⁴. The guide to enactment was meant to provide background and explanatory information designed to help Governments and legislators preparing to incorporate the model law into their national legal systems and useful guidance to the end user of this law, as judges, practitioners and academics²⁴⁵.

3.3 Main Features of the Model Law

In a preamble, the Model Law expressly states the objective that it intends to promote. Those objectives are:

- (a) cooperation between the courts and other competent authorities of the enacting State and foreign States involved in cases of cross-border insolvency;
- (b) greater legal certainty for trade and investment;
- (c) fair and efficient administration of cross-border insolvencies that protects the interests of all creditors and other interested persons, including the debtor;
- (d) protection and maximization of the value of the debtor's assets; and

²⁴² The Working Group's Twentieth Session Report, *supra* note 235 at 19.

²⁴³ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 12.

²⁴⁴ The Thirtieth Session Report, supra note 18 at para 23 - 24.

²⁴⁵ *Ibid*.

(e) facilitation of the rescue of financially troubled businesses, thereby protecting investment and preserving employment²⁴⁶.

The purpose of the preamble is not to create substantive rights, but to assist the enacting States in the interpretation of the Model Law²⁴⁷.

3.4 Scope of Application of the Model Law

3.4.1 Types of Procedure Covered

The Model Law limits its scope of application by defining the type of foreign proceeding that is susceptible to recognition or cooperation under its provisions. Article 2(a) defines a "foreign proceeding" as a collective proceeding, in the sense that it represents the interests of all creditors²⁴⁸, opened for the purpose of liquidation or reorganization of the debtor pursuant to a law relating to insolvency, and in which the assets and the affairs of the debtor are under the control or supervision of a judicial or administrative authority. The Model Law expressly states that it also covers interim insolvency proceedings²⁴⁹. The reason is that besides the provisional nature of an interim proceeding, this type of proceeding usually meets all the requirements mentioned previously, and thus, an exclusion from the scope of the Model Law is not warranted²⁵⁰. The wording of the definition permits the inclusion into the scope of the Model Law of proceedings that allow the debtor to stay in control of its assets, as insolvency proceedings that embody the "debtor in possession" concept²⁵¹. However, arguably, an English

²⁴⁶ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at Preamble.

²⁴⁷ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at paras 54, 55.

²⁴⁸ To be noted that such proceedings as receiverships that are instituted for the benefit of individual secured creditors are not covered by the provisions of the Model Law. Such proceedings are aimed at protecting the interest of particular creditors, specifically, of those creditors that have a secured interest in the assets of the debtor. See Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 455.

²⁴⁹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 2 (a).

²⁵⁰ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 69.

²⁵¹ Fletcher, supra note 1 at 456.

law administrative receivership would not be a proceeding covered by the Model Law provisions due to its non-collective nature²⁵².

3.4.2 Types of Debtors Covered

The Model Law is intended to apply to any proceeding that satisfies the requirements set in the definition provided for "foreign proceedings", 253. That definition encompasses any foreign proceeding independent of the nature or status of the debtor under national law²⁵⁴. However, the drafters of the Model Law considered that exceptions in the application of the Model Law to certain debtors were warranted. Article 1 paragraph 2 expressly provides that an enacting state may designate any type of entities, such as financial services institutions or insurance companies, which will be excluded from the scope of application of the Model Law provisions enacted in that state²⁵⁵. The reason that justifies the flexibility of excluding certain entities from the scope of application of the Model Law is that ordinary insolvency law does usually not cover such entities²⁵⁶. Countries create special insolvency regimes for such entities because their insolvency "gives rise to the particular need to protect vital interests of a large number of individuals, and... requires particular prompt and circumspect action (for instance to avoid massive withdrawals of deposits)²⁵⁷. These special insolvency regimes may not be fully susceptible to the application of the Model Law²⁵⁸. For instance, article 14 of the Model Law provides for notification of creditors whenever a local insolvency proceeding is commenced; however, the application of this article may not be compatible with the objectives of a special insolvency regime that require

²⁵² *Ibid* at 455.

²⁵³ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 60.

²⁵⁴ Ihid

²⁵⁵ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 1 (2).

²⁵⁶ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 61.

²⁵⁷ Ihid

²⁵⁸ Report of the Working Group on Insolvency Law on the Work of its Nineteenth Session, UNCITRALOR, 29th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/422, (1996) at para 42 [The Working Group's Nineteenth Session Report].

prompt and discrete action in order to avoid massive withdrawals of deposits in case of a financial institution insolvency²⁵⁹.

Nevertheless, the enacting states are advised not to exclude all the cases of insolvency of these entities²⁶⁰. For instance, enacting states may wish to recognize pursuant to the Model Law provisions a foreign insolvency proceeding commenced in respect of a bank when the activity of that bank on the territory of the recognizing state is not subject to the national regulatory scheme²⁶¹. Similarly, the enacting state may not wish to limit the right of the insolvency representative to seek recognition of a local insolvency proceeding in regard to a bank even if the insolvency of such entities is subject to special regulatory schemes in the enacting state²⁶².

Furthermore, the enacting state may also exclude from the scope of the Model Law the insolvency of other entities that play an important role in the functioning of society, for instance public utility companies, such as electricity companies and railroad companies, which are usually subject to special insolvency regimes²⁶³.

In addition, the enacting states that do not have provisions for the insolvency of consumers or give special treatment to these types of insolvencies may exclude from the scope of the Model Law the insolvencies that relate to consumers, but they are advised to exclude only the insolvency of the consumers whose debts do not exceed a certain monetary ceiling ²⁶⁴. To be noted is that the drafters of the Model Law do not advise to exclude all the insolvencies of

²⁵⁹ Ibid.

²⁶⁰ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 63.

²⁶¹ Ibid.

²⁶² *Ibid* at para 64.

²⁶³ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, supra note 230 at 325, 326.

²⁶⁴ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 66. The Guide to Enactment defines consumers at paragraph 66 as "natural persons residing in the enacting State whose debts have been incurred predominantly for personal or household purposes, rather for commercial or business purposes… non-traders".

natural persons. Such exclusion would unnecessarily limit the scope of application of the Model Law. It is frequently the case that natural persons conduct significant commercial activities in international trade without assuming "any particular corporate garb" ²⁶⁵.

3.5 Access and Assistance

3.5.1 Authority to Act Abroad

Courts asked for assistance by foreign insolvency representatives often wish to be assured that the foreign representatives have authority to act abroad from the jurisdiction where they were appointed as insolvency representatives, especially with respect to the debtor's foreign located assets²⁶⁶. UNCITRAL found that express legislative authorization for insolvency representatives to act abroad was absent in some countries²⁶⁷. The absence of such express legislative authority introduces uncertainty that in turn increases the workload of insolvency representatives and subsequently the costs of insolvency proceedings²⁶⁸. To reduce uncertainty in cross-border insolvency cases, article 5 of the Model Law expressly authorizes insolvency representatives to act in foreign states on behalf of the insolvency proceeding in which they were appointed²⁶⁹. This provision only gives insolvency representatives the power to act abroad, but the applicable foreign law determines the extent of their power²⁷⁰.

Working Group on Insolvency Law, *Possible Issues Relating to Judicial Cooperation and Access and Recognition in Cases of Cross-Border Insolvency*, UNCITRALOR, 18th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/WG.V/WP.42, (1995) at para 36.

²⁶⁶ Report of the Working Group on Insolvency Law on the Work of its Eighteenth Session, UNCITRALOR, 29th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/419, (1995) at para 36 [The Working Group's Eighteenth Session Report].

The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 27.

²⁶⁸ "Unpredictability almost invariably leads to increased efforts, expense and delay on the part of the parties involved in the issue", see the Expert Committees' Report, *supra* note 214 at 146.

²⁶⁹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 5.

²⁷⁰ Ibid.

Similarly, article 25 of the Model Law authorizes the courts to cooperate and communicate directly with foreign courts and foreign representatives in cross-border insolvency cases²⁷¹. This article provides the needed legislative authority for courts that cannot operate outside the areas of express legislative authorization to cooperate with foreign courts and foreign representatives²⁷². It also adds clarity about the authority to cooperate for courts that have cooperated thus far on the basis of judicial discretion²⁷³.

3.5.2 Foreign Representative's Access to Courts of the Enacting State

The Model Law grants foreign representatives the right to directly access the courts of the enacting states²⁷⁴. This provision eliminates the need for the foreign representatives to meet such requirements as licences and consular action that some countries require in order to grant access to their courts²⁷⁵. In this way, the Model Law emphasizes the importance of quick action in cross-border insolvency cases. However, to be able to exercise this right, a foreign representative should fall within the scope of the definition of "foreign representative" provided by the Model Law²⁷⁶. That definition states that a "foreign representative means a person or body, including one appointed on an interim basis, authorized in a foreign proceeding to administer the reorganization or the liquidation of the debtor's assets or affairs or to act as a representative of the foreign proceeding"²⁷⁷.

The definition is formulated broadly in order to avoid the unnecessary limitation of the scope of application of the Model Law. It refers to both the insolvency representatives that are natural

²⁷¹ *Ibid* at art 25 (2).

²⁷² The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 174.

²′³ Ibid

²⁷⁴ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 9.

²⁷⁵ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 93.

²⁷⁶ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 473.

²⁷⁷ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 2 (d).

persons and those that are bodies appointed to administer the insolvency of debtors. Allowing a body appointed to administer the reorganization or the liquidation of a debtor to be recognized as a foreign representative, the Model Law removes the exclusion from its scope of application those types of proceedings where the debtor remains in control of its assets (for instance, the debtor in possession proceedings)²⁷⁸.

In addition to authorizing the foreign representatives to directly access the courts in the enacting states, the Model Law gives them the right to commence local insolvency proceedings in enacting states²⁷⁹. This right can be exercised before or after an application for recognition of the foreign proceeding is made by the foreign representative in the courts of the enacting states pursuant to the provisions of the Model Law (the right to apply for recognition and the conditions and effects of recognition are discussed in later sections of this thesis). Moreover, it can be exercised even when recognition of the foreign proceeding requested by the foreign representative is refused.

The purpose of this provision is to enhance the efficiency of foreign representatives' actions to avoid the dissipation of the debtors' assets. The commencement of a local insolvency proceeding will usually have the effect of staying the individual legal actions of creditors against the debtor's assets and of precluding the debtors to dispose of their assets²⁸⁰. The foreign representative can use this provision when the commencement of a local insolvency proceeding

-

²⁷⁸ The drafters of the Model Law considered that the expression "a body... to administer the reorganization or the liquidation of the debtor' assets or affairs" might be sufficient to express the point that the insolvency proceedings that allow the debtor to stay in control of its assets and affairs are covered by the Model Law, see the discussions of the UNCITRAL Working Group on Insolvency as reported in the Working Group's Eighteenth Session Report, *supra* note 266 at paras 115, 116.

²⁷⁹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 11.

²⁸⁰ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 474, 475.

would be a more efficient way to stop the dissipation of assets than the application for recognition of the foreign proceeding would be²⁸¹.

It is to be noted that the foreign representative is entitled to commence an insolvency proceeding "if the conditions for commencing such a proceeding are otherwise met"²⁸². Thus, the Model Law does not try to establish any exceptions in favour of foreign representatives to the need to satisfy the conditions for opening an insolvency proceeding imposed by the law of the enacting state²⁸³.

In order to prevent insolvency representatives from avoiding petitioning for recognition and assistance from some jurisdictions the Model Law provides a measure of protection for foreign representatives. Article 10 of the Model Law states that an application under the Model Law provisions in a court of the enacting state by a foreign representative does not subject the foreign representative or the assets of the debtor under the supervision of the foreign representative to the jurisdiction of the court receiving the application for any purpose other than the application 284 . According to the laws of some jurisdictions, any voluntary appearance in that jurisdiction will justify the assumption of jurisdiction over that person even on matters unrelated to the cause of the appearance 285 . This article provides that the court in the enacting state will not

-

²⁸¹ *Ibid*; For instance, when a foreign representative applies for recognition of the foreign non-main proceeding, the granting of the recognition does not give rise to an automatic stay of actions and proceedings. Furthermore, even if the foreign representative applies for relief available upon recognition of a foreign non-main proceeding relief can be granted only in relation to assets that should be administered in the foreign non-main proceeding (the Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 21(3)). Thus, in these circumstances and in the absence of a recognition of a foreign main proceeding (such recognition would trigger an automatic stay of individual proceedings of creditors against the debtor and suspension of the debtor's right to dispose of its assets, see the Model Law, (*ibid*) at art 20(1)) the commencement of a local insolvency proceeding would be a more efficient way than the application for recognition of the foreign non-main proceeding to avoid the dissipation of assets.

²⁸² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 11.

²⁸³ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 475.

²⁸⁴ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 10.

²⁸⁵ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 474.

assume jurisdiction over the foreign representative (for instance, in matters concerning the foreign representative personally), or over the assets under the supervision of the foreign representative on the sole ground that the foreign representative made an application in the enacting state²⁸⁶. In the absence of such a provision, a foreign representative might avoid making an application in certain jurisdictions, and thus, endanger the efficient resolution of a crossborder insolvency case²⁸⁷.

However, the protection that the foreign representative receives under article 10 is qualified²⁸⁸. The courts retain the jurisdiction to deal with the acts of foreign representatives that offend against their laws²⁸⁹.

3.5.3 Access of Foreign Creditors to Courts of the Enacting State

Article 13 paragraph 1 of the Model Law states that foreign creditors have the right to commence and participate in an insolvency proceeding in the enacting state in the same manner and to the same extent as local creditors²⁹⁰. According to this provision, foreign creditors will still have to satisfy all the requirements set in the national laws of the enacting states for the commencement of proceedings, filing of claims or making petitions to courts, since this provision establishes equal treatment of all creditors. Although the Model Law recognizes that creditors should be

²⁸⁶ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 94.

²⁸⁷ Sarra, Janis "Northern Lights, Canada's Version of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency" (2007) 16:1 IIR 19 at 40 [Sarra, Northern Lights].

²⁸⁸ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at 95.

²⁸⁹ Ibid. "For example, a tort or a misconduct committed by the foreign representative may provide grounds for jurisdiction to deal with the consequences of such an action by the foreign representative. Furthermore, the foreign representative who applies for relief in the enacting State will be subject to conditions that the court may order in connection with relief granted (article 22, paragraph 2)" Ibid.

²⁹⁰ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 13 para 1. The terms "foreign creditors" and "local creditors" are not defined by the Model Law. Because countries use different criteria to establish who should be regarded as foreign or local creditors, it would be difficult to formulate a uniform definition. See The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 163.

treated equally, it does not venture that foreign creditors be placed on equal footing with their local counterparts in the process of asset distribution. It only prescribes a minimum standard of treatment of foreign creditors²⁹¹. Paragraph 2 of article 13 states that the claims of foreign creditors should not be ranked lower than the class of general unsecured creditors except when an equivalent local claim would rank lower than the class of general unsecured creditors. The Model Law presents as an example the treatment of claims for penalty or deferred payment claims as claims that are usually ranked lower than the class of general unsecured creditors.

The Model Law makes one more exception to the equal treatment of creditors rule. In a footnote to article 13 paragraph 2, it introduces an alternative wording of this paragraph that allows enacting states to exclude foreign tax and social security claims from the distribution process of the local proceedings²⁹². The justification for granting such flexibility to enacting states is the reluctance of some states to enforce foreign public authorities' claims for policy reasons²⁹³. Failing to provide for the option to exclude foreign tax and social security claims from local proceedings would have affected the acceptability of the Model Law by these countries. Furthermore, this alternative paragraph introduces certainty into cross-border insolvency cases. In some states, the question whether the enforcement of foreign tax claims in cross-border insolvencies should be refused for policy reasons is not entirely settled²⁹⁴. Incorporating this alternative paragraph that expressly gives an answer to the question whether the foreign tax claims and other public authorities claims will be accepted in the process of asset distribution in

²⁹¹ The Model Law, *ibid* at art 13(2); Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 52; Clift, *supra* note 241 at 321.

²⁹² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 13 n 2.

²⁹³ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 476, 477.

New Zealand. Law Commission, Cross-Border Insolvency: Should New Zealand adopt the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency? (Wellington, NZ: The Commission, 1999) at 51.

local insolvency proceedings makes it clear to foreign public authorities what their position will be in the local insolvency proceeding of the enacting state.

Granting the right of direct access to courts in the enacting states to foreign creditors would be meaningless without establishing a mechanism for notifying foreign creditors of the commencement of insolvency proceedings in the enacting states so as to give them the chance to file claims and protect their rights. Article 14 of the Model Law states the rules for notification of foreign creditors²⁹⁵. In line with the equal treatment rule, paragraph 1 of this article states that notification should be given to foreign creditors whenever such notification is required for local creditors according to the national law of the enacting states. Independent of the traditional methods for notification of local creditors, the enacting states must notify foreign creditors individually unless the court considers that the circumstances warrant the use of other means of notification (for example, when individual notice would prove to be too costly for the proceedings)²⁹⁶. Nevertheless, enacting states are advised not to use letters rogatory or other similar formal methods of notification, as these are too time-consuming²⁹⁷.

In addition, the Model Law establishes the minimum information that the notice of commencement of insolvency proceedings to foreign creditors should contain²⁹⁸. Thus, a notice to foreign creditors should indicate the time period and place for the filing of claims, and should include any other information that is required by national law or courts to be included in a notification to local creditors and should specify whether secured creditors need to file secured claims. The last requirement was introduced for the protection of the interests of foreign secured

²⁹⁵ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 14.

²⁹⁶ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 107.

²⁹⁷ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 14(2).

²⁹⁸ *Ibid* at art 14(3).

creditors. Countries differ as to the need to file secured claims and as to the effects of filing or failing to file secured claims²⁹⁹. In some countries, filing a secured claim results in waiving that secured claim, while in other countries the secured claim is waived if it is not filed³⁰⁰. Warning the foreign secured creditors of these effects in the notice will help them protect their rights more effectively.

The Model Law leaves the issue of the language in which the notification should be made to foreign creditors to be decided by enacting states.

3.6 Recognition of Foreign Proceedings

3.6.1 Decision Whether to Recognize a Foreign Proceeding

Recognition of a foreign proceeding under the Model Law has important effects on the resolution of insolvency cases. For instance, after a foreign proceeding is recognized the foreign representative is allowed to take action to avoid the dissipation and concealment of the debtor's assets. Recognizing that for this to be effective such an action must be triggered early on, the Model Law obligates the courts to decide on the application for recognition of a foreign proceeding "at the earliest possible time" The Model Law not only establishes an obligation for the courts to decide quickly on the application for recognition, but it also provides a simplified system for the process of recognition of foreign proceedings. This process, under the Model Law, becomes almost automatic 302. If the four criteria that article 17 establishes are met,

²⁹⁹ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 478.

³⁰⁰ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 111. ³⁰¹ The Model Law, art 17 para 3.

³⁰² Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 46.

then the foreign proceeding for which recognition is requested has to be recognized unless the public policy exception is invoked³⁰³.

The four criteria are as follows. First, the foreign proceeding should be a proceeding within the meaning of subparagraph (a) of article 2 that defines the term "foreign proceeding". Second, the foreign representative that applies for recognition should be the one that was appointed in the proceeding that is requested to be recognized. In addition, the foreign representative must be a person or body within the meaning of subparagraph (d) of article 2 that determines the meaning of the term "foreign representative". Third, the application for recognition must meet the procedural requirements for such an application indicated by paragraph 2 of article 15. Fourth, the application has to be submitted to the competent court or authority that has jurisdiction to receive such applications according to the law of the enacting state.

To simplify the process of recognition of foreign proceedings even further, the Model Law imposes a limited list of procedural requirements for an application for such recognition. First, it requires that a certified copy of the decision to commence the foreign insolvency proceeding and to appoint the foreign representative accompany the application. Alternatively, the foreign representative could attach to the recognition application a certificate from the foreign court confirming the fact of commencement of the foreign proceeding and of the appointment of the foreign representative ³⁰⁴. In the absence of such evidence, the foreign representative is allowed to present any other evidence that the court where the application for recognition is made considers acceptable ³⁰⁵. Furthermore, in line with the objective of simplifying the process of recognition of foreign proceedings, the Model Law allows the courts to presume that the

³⁰³ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 17(1).

³⁰⁴ *Ibid* at art 15(2) (a), (b).

³⁰⁵ *Ibid* at art 15(2) (c).

documents that accompany the application are authentic, whether they are legalized or not³⁰⁶. Legalization is a procedure that presupposes the certification of documents by authorities such as diplomatic or consular agents³⁰⁷. This is a complex and time-consuming procedure. Instituting a presumption in favour of the authenticity of the documents submitted in support of the application for recognition, and removing the necessity of legalization of these documents, simplifies and expedites the recognition process.

Article 15 establishes two additional procedural requirements for an application for recognition³⁰⁸. First, the foreign representative must inform the court of all foreign proceedings commenced with regard to the debtor and that are known to the foreign representative. This requirement is not necessary for the decision on recognition, but for a subsequent decision on granting relief in favour of the foreign proceeding in case the foreign representative applies for such relief. The information about the existence of other foreign insolvency proceedings with regard to the debtor will assist the court in deciding the scope of that relief³⁰⁹. Second, the recognizing court may, but is not required to, request from the foreign representative a translation of the documents that are attached to the application for recognition of the foreign proceeding³¹⁰. Not requiring a translation in cases when such translation is not warranted shortens the time and reduces the costs of the recognition process.

The Working Group on Insolvency considered the issue of whether or not reciprocity should be included as a requirement for recognition³¹¹. The argument in favour of the inclusion of

_

³⁰⁶ *Ibid* at art 16(1), (2).

³⁰⁷ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at paras 113, 114.

³⁰⁸ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 15(3), (4).

³⁰⁹ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at paras 117, 118.

³¹⁰ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 15 (4).

³¹¹ The Working Group's Eighteenth Session Report, supra note 266 at paras 42 – 45.

reciprocity as a requirement for recognition suggested that such a requirement would accelerate the process of harmonization of cross-border insolvency laws by putting pressure on countries that have not yet adopted the Model Law to adopt it. However, this argument was not accepted. Because the term reciprocity had differing interpretation in distinct legal systems, and because it would have been difficult to determine whether reciprocal treatment was or would actually be accorded, the inclusion of the reciprocity as a requirement for granting recognition would have contributed to uncertainty, an effect that the Working Group was committed to reduce in the context of cross-border insolvencies. Furthermore, the inclusion of such a requirement was seen as inconsistent with the aim of the Model Law to promote greater international cooperation in cross-border insolvencies.

Under the Model Law, only the foreign representatives have the right to apply for recognition of a foreign proceeding³¹². There were suggestions in the Working Group to extend this right to creditors³¹³, since creditors were thought to have an interest in causing the courts to cooperate in cross-border insolvencies, especially when there were not enough assets in their jurisdiction to satisfy their claims. However, this argument was not successful. Since a foreign representative was viewed as more informed about the financial status of the debtor and the course of the insolvency proceeding than creditors, it was considered that the foreign representative was a more appropriate person to decide whether an application for recognition should be brought³¹⁴. After all, a foreign representative, as an insolvency representative, is presumed to act in the interest of all the creditors. If the foreign representative decides not to bring an application for recognition, then creditors can be assured that this decision serves their interests. Thus, creditors,

-

³¹² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 15(1).

³¹³ Supra note 38 at 351; Report of the Working Group on Insolvency on Insolvency Law on the Work of its twenty-first session, 19 February 1997, UN Doc. A/CN.9/435 at para 167.

³¹⁴ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, supra note 230 at 351.

under the Model Law provisions, are not granted the right to apply for recognition of foreign proceedings.

3.6.2 Main and Non-Main Proceedings

Another important component in the process of the recognition of a foreign proceeding under the Model Law is the duty of the recognizing court to categorize the foreign proceeding under consideration. Depending on the jurisdictional basis on which the foreign court commenced the foreign proceeding, the court shall recognize the foreign proceeding as a "main" or "non-main" proceeding³¹⁵. This determination is an important part of the Model Law scheme. The degree of assistance in the form of relief and judicial cooperation is contingent on the type of recognized foreign proceeding.

The foreign proceeding shall be recognized as a main proceeding if it takes place in the enacting state where the debtor has its "centre of main interests" (COMI). The Model Law does not define the concept of COMI, but the Commission does not leave the enacting countries without any guidance. This concept is assimilated from the European Union Convention on Insolvency Proceedings³¹⁶ that never came into force, but its text is incorporated into the EC Regulation on International Insolvency (the Regulation)³¹⁷ that is now part of the law of all the Member States of the European Union, except for Denmark³¹⁸. The function that it serves in the context of the Regulation is distinct from that that it serves under the Model Law. The presence of COMI on the territory of a Member State of the European Union gives to the competent court of that state

_

³¹⁵ The Model Law, supra note 18 at art 17(2).

³¹⁶ The European Union Convention on Insolvency Proceedings opened for signature in Brussels on November 23 1995 and signed by 14 Member States out of 15 Member States (the United Kingdom was the state that did not signed it), see Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 352 n 37.

³¹⁷The Regulation, *supra* note 21.

³¹⁸ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 352 – 358.

jurisdiction to commence a main insolvency proceeding ³¹⁹. Thus, under the Regulation the concept of COMI is part of a rule governing jurisdiction in insolvency matters, while under the Model Law it is part of a rule on recognition of foreign proceedings. The Working Group considered that this distinction did not warrant a differing interpretation of the concept under the Model Law³²⁰. By choosing to use this concept over other proposed alternative ones, the Working Group intended to promote harmony and consistency with respect to terminology used in the cross-border insolvency regulation area³²¹. In view of this circumstance, the explanation of COMI provided by the Regulation and jurisprudence interpreting the Regulation is relevant to the interpretation of this concept by courts in states that enact the Model Law. Furthermore, recent amendments to the Guide to Enactment quote the Regulation and its explanatory report (The Virgos – Schmit Report³²²) as guidance for the interpretation of the concept of COMI³²³. The Regulation indicates that COMI "should correspond to the place where the debtor conducts the administration of his interests on a regular basis and is therefore ascertainable by the third parties" ³²⁴. The reason for adopting such an explanation is simple³²⁵. As it will be seen, a main

_

³¹⁹ The Regulation, *supra* note 21 at art 3(1).

³²⁰ UN, *Legislative Guide on Insolvency Law*, (New York: UN, 2005), online:

http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/insolven/05-80722_Ebook.pdf at 41 [Legislative Guide on Insolvency].

The Working Group's Nineteenth Session Report, supra note 258 at paras 88 - 90.

The Virgos Schmitt Report, *supra* note 180, is an explanatory report written to facilitate the interpretation of the European Convention on Insolvency. Although the Convention failed to enter into force, the report is considered an authoritative guidance for the interpretation of the Regulation.

The Commission at its 46th session, 8-26 July 2013, adopted the revisions to the Guide to Enactment of the Model Law prepared by the Working Group on Insolvency. These revisions are directed at providing further guidance on the interpretation and application of selected concepts of the Model Law, among them is the concept of COMI (United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, *Provisional Agenda, Annotations thereto and Scheduling of Meetings of the Forthy-Sixth Session*, UNCITRALOR, 46th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/759, (2013) at paras 19, 20). The guidance provided for the interpretation of COMI contains quotes from the recitals (12) and (13) of the Regulation (these recitals explain the concept of COMI) and from the Virgos-Schmit Report (United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, Working Group V (Insolvency Law), *Interpretation and Application of Selected Concepts of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency Relating to Centre of Main Interests (COMI)*, UNCITRALOR, 43d Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/WG.V/WP.112, (2013) at paras 31, 31A-C [UN Doc, Interpretation and Application of Selected Concepts]).

The Regulation, *supra* note 21 at recital 13.

insolvency proceeding, under both regulatory instruments, may be allowed to enjoy broad extraterritorial effects and to encompass all the debtor's assets wherever located. Therefore, potentially, it will have the greatest impact on the creditors' rights in the event of their debtor's insolvency. As insolvency is a foreseeable risk, it is important to enable potential creditors to assess how the insolvency of their future debtor will affect their rights. Interpreting COMI, the indicator of the jurisdiction of the main insolvency proceeding, as the place "ascertainable by third parties" enables potential creditors to calculate the legal risk assumed through dealing with their future debtor in case of its insolvency.

To expedite the evidentiary process, the Model Law establishes the presumption that the debtor's registered office, or habitual residence in the case of individuals, in the absence of proof to the contrary, is the debtor's COMI³²⁶. However, there will often be cases when the debtor does not carry on any business activity in the territory of the jurisdiction where its registered office is placed. For instance, a debtor may choose to have its registered office in a state only for tax purposes, and aside from a letterbox have nothing in that state³²⁷. To avoid the recognition of a foreign proceeding commenced in the jurisdiction of the registered office, when the debtor has no other substantial connection to that jurisdiction, as the main proceeding, the Model Law provides for the possibility of rebuttal of this presumption³²⁸. Nevertheless, the Model Law does not provide any guidance as to what proof would be relevant to rebut the presumption³²⁹.

³²⁵ The Virgos – Schmitt Report, supra note 180 at para 75.

The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 16(3).

³²⁷ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, supra note 230 at 330.

³²⁸ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 para 122.

³²⁹ Sarra, Janis "Maidum's Challenge, Legal and Governance Issues in Dealing with Cross-Border Business Enterprise Group Insolvencies" (2008) 17:2 IIR 73 at 102 [Sarra, Maidum's Challenge].

Since the successful operation of the Model Law's legal framework requires that the administration of a debtor's cross-border insolvency be centralized in a single jurisdiction, a consistent determination of the debtor's COMI is also required in each particular case, by recognizing courts sitting in different jurisdictions. Nevertheless, the drafters of the Model Law encourage courts to make decisions regarding the COMI of a debtor free of any COMI determinations in respect of the same debtor made by courts in other jurisdictions. Even if a recognizing court may rely on relevant information as to COMI contained in decisions and orders of foreign courts, that information is "not determinative or binding" on the recognizing court, which would have to independently satisfy itself about the location of the debtor's COMI COMI.

Much has been written about the use of COMI as the indicator of the main proceeding³³². The main criticism is the fact that the concept of COMI as provided by the Model Law does not easily facilitate the resolution of cross-border insolvencies of business enterprise groups³³³. The explanation is as follows. Business enterprise groups are groups that consist of a number of individual legal entities. The Model Law provides that the determination of COMI has to be made in respect of each individual legal entity. Thus, a court asked to recognize foreign

-

³³⁰ Report of Working Group V (Insolvency Law) on the Work of its Fortieth Session, UNCITRALOR, 45th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/738, (2012) at para 34.

³³¹ Ibid at para 35; Report of the Working Group V (Insolvency Law) on the Work of its Fortieth-Second Sess, UNCITRALOR, 46th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/763, (2013) at para 30; See also the Report to the International Bar Association on the Twenty-Second Session of UNCITRAL Working Group V (Insolvency Law), Vienne, November 2012 at p 2, online: http://www.ibanet.org/Document/Default.aspx?DocumentUid=7C066E65-A0E7-405C-AAEB-731A8D2F365B, "Based on remarks of some of the world's leading insolvency jurists, the Working Group agreed that courts called upon to recognize main insolvency proceedings pending in other jurisdictions should remain free to make their own determinations as to COMI as might be required by national law, irrespective of other courts' findings."

³³² For instance, see Sarra, Maidum's Challenge, *supra* note 329, Westbrook, Jay Lawarence, "Locating the Eye of the Financial Storm" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 1019 [Westbrook, The Eye of the Storm]; LoPucki, Lynn M., "Universalism Unravels" (2005) 79:1 Am Bankr LJ 143 [LoPucki, Universalism Unravels] and Bomhof, Scott A. & Adam M. Slavens, "Shifting Gears in Cross-Border Insolvencies: From Comity to COMI" (2008) 24:1 BFLR 31.

³³³ LoPucki, Universalism Unravels, *supra* note 332; Sarra, Maidum's Challenge, *supra* note 329 at 116.

proceedings commenced in respect of legal entities that are members of the same business enterprise group, will have to determine separately the COMI of each legal entity. If such court finds that different members of the same group have their respective COMIs in different jurisdictions, more than one court may be empowered to administer main proceedings in the context of cross-border insolvency of the group. There are cases in which the reorganization of a business enterprise group is more efficient when it is administered under the supervision of a single leading court³³⁴. Accordingly, in such cases, the concept of COMI may hamper the resolution of such groups' reorganizations. This is all the more important in that business enterprise groups are a wide spread form of conducting business, and many cross-border insolvencies involve members of such groups³³⁵.

A court will recognize as a foreign non-main proceeding, a foreign proceeding, other than the foreign main proceeding, that is opened in the jurisdiction where the debtor has an establishment³³⁶. As in the case of COMI, the term "establishment" and its definition are borrowed from the text of the Regulation for reasons of consistency in terminology in cross-border insolvency legislation. The Model Law defines this term as "the place of operation where the debtor carries out non-transitory economic activity with human means and goods or services"³³⁷.

Allowing for recognition of foreign proceedings commenced in jurisdictions where the debtor has an establishment is meant to protect the interests of potential creditors concluding contracts

³³⁴ Sarra, Maidum's Challenge, supra note 329 at 116.

³³⁵ Sarra, Northern Lights, supra note 287 at 43.

³³⁶ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 17(2) (b).

³³⁷ *Ibid* at art 2 (f). This definition corresponds to the definition provided in article 2 (h) of the Regulation. The only difference is that the drafters of the Model Law added the words "or services".

with local establishments³³⁸. Foreign companies that conduct economic activities through local establishments should be subject to the same rules as local companies. Thusly, a potential creditor entering into contracts with a local establishment will not have to inquire whether the establishment is of a local or a foreign company. Accordingly, they will incur the same information costs and legal risks whether they deal with a local or a foreign company.

As under the Model Law, a court is obligated to recognize a foreign proceeding only when it is either commenced in the jurisdiction of the debtor's COMI or in the jurisdiction where the debtor has an establishment. It follows that a foreign proceeding commenced in a jurisdiction that has neither the COMI of the debtor nor one of its establishments will not be recognized. For instance, foreign proceedings opened on the basis of the presence of the debtor's assets in the jurisdiction will not enjoy the benefits of recognition under the Model Law provisions³³⁹. Despite that, the Model Law is not entirely against such rules of assumption of jurisdiction in insolvency matters³⁴⁰. According to article 28, a local insolvency proceeding may be commenced in the enacting state provided that the debtor has assets located in its territory. Nevertheless, the effects of such insolvency proceeding are limited to those assets and other assets of the debtor that should be administered in that proceeding³⁴¹. In addition, foreign proceedings commenced based on the presence of assets, and other foreign proceedings that do not receive recognition, can still derive benefits from the Model Law provisions, specifically from those that deal with matters of cooperation with foreign courts and foreign representatives³⁴². According to these provisions, cooperation with foreign courts and foreign representatives does not require prior recognition of

³³⁸ The Virgos – Schmitt Report, supra note 180 at para 71.

³³⁹ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 458.

³⁴⁰ Ibid.

³⁴¹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 28.

Ibid at art 25 – 27: Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 459.

the foreign proceeding with the courts and foreign representatives of which cooperation is wanted or needed³⁴³.

3.7 Relief

The principle underlying the approach that the Model Law adopts with respect to the effects of foreign proceedings in the recognizing state is that recognition of a foreign proceeding does not import into the recognizing state the effects that the recognized proceeding has under its national law³⁴⁴. Instead, the Model Law establishes a minimum list of forms of relief that the recognized foreign proceeding can enjoy in the recognizing jurisdiction. The minimum list includes the type of relief that is needed to avoid the dissipation of the debtors' assets³⁴⁵. The relief included in the minimum list is either triggered automatically by recognition or is given at the discretion of the recognizing court. This relief is complemented by any other type of relief that would be available to a local insolvency representative under local insolvency laws³⁴⁶. This last provision reveals that the Model Law favours the application of the law of the recognizing jurisdiction when determining the scope of the relief instead of favouring the application of the law of the originating jurisdiction. The reason for favouring an approach based on the application of the law of the recognizing jurisdiction was that courts find it easier to apply their own laws than to apply foreign laws³⁴⁷. Thus, this approach would make the granting of relief to foreign proceedings more likely and make the Model Law more acceptable for adoption³⁴⁸.

³⁴³ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 117.

³⁴⁴ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, supra note 230 at 372.

The Working Group's Eighteenth Session Report, supra note 266 at para 57.

³⁴⁶ *Ibid* at paras 53-59.

³⁴⁷ Ibid at para 51.

³⁴⁸ *Ibid*.

Providing a minimum list of relief available to foreign representatives has one more function. It assures the insolvency representatives that the basic relief necessary for the administration of the debtor's assets will be available to assist him or her in foreign jurisdictions that enacted the Model Law, as the relief in this minimum list may not be otherwise included in the insolvency laws of those foreign jurisdictions.

3.7.1 Interim Relief

In order to protect the interests of all the creditors as a whole and to preserve the value of assets that, due to their nature or circumstances, are susceptible to devaluation or dissipation, the Model Law provides that provisional relief be available from the time of filing an application for recognition until the application is decided upon³⁴⁹. Under this rule, courts have the discretion to grant provisional relief only at the request of the foreign representative and only if such relief is urgently needed to protect the assets of the debtor or the interests of the creditors; for instance, when there is a need to prevent some creditors from gaining an advantage over other creditors by taking individual actions in the jurisdiction where an application for recognition is sought.

Article 19 paragraph 1 provides for the following non-exhaustive list of measures that a court may grant in favour of the foreign proceeding: the staying of execution against the debtor's assets; entrusting the administration or realization of the debtor's assets to the foreign representative or another person designated by the court; and any relief included in paragraph 1 (c), (d) and (g) of article 21 (types of relief available after recognition is granted at the discretion

³⁴⁹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 19.

of the court)³⁵⁰. The provisional relief granted terminates when the recognition is decided upon, unless the court decides to extend it³⁵¹.

3.7.2 Automatic Relief

According to article 20, recognition has certain automatic effects when it is given with respect to a foreign main proceeding. Those effects are the stay of individual actions of creditors against the debtor' assets, rights, obligations or liabilities and the suspension of the debtor's rights to transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of any of its assets³⁵². These are effects that usually flow from the commencement of a local insolvency proceeding in various countries. Their purpose is to give the insolvency representative time to reorganize or liquidate the debtor by preventing the creditors from realizing their claims to assets and preventing the debtor from concealing or disposing of its assets³⁵³. Thus, allowing foreign proceedings to enjoy these effects in the recognizing country promotes order, efficiency and fairness in the administration of cross-border insolvency cases³⁵⁴. In addition, requiring that such relief flow automatically from recognition in combination with a simplified process of recognition allows foreign representatives to prevent the dissipation of the debtors' assets in a timely manner.

The apparently broad scope of the automatic stay and suspension of rights that flows from recognition is nevertheless limited by exceptions included in paragraph 2 of the same article. The scope of the automatic stay and suspension of rights, its modification or termination, is subject to any exceptions, limitations, modifications or termination that a similar stay and suspension of

³⁵⁰ *Ibid a*rt 19(1).

³⁵¹ *Ibid* at art 19(3).

³⁵² *Ibid a*rt 20(1).

³⁵³ Sarra, Northern Lights, supra note 287 at 48.

³⁵⁴ Ibid.

rights triggered by the commencement of a local insolvency proceeding would be subject to under local insolvency laws³⁵⁵. For instance, local laws may provide that the stay will not prevent a secured creditor from exercising its enforcement remedies against the secured assets or the debtor from dealing with its assets in the ordinary course of business³⁵⁶.

The Model Law allows for two more exceptions to the automatic stay and suspension of rights. First, the automatic stay and suspension of rights does not affect the right to commence individual actions and proceedings in order to protect a creditor's interest³⁵⁷. The rational for this exception is that the stay and suspension that flows from recognition does not trigger the cessation of the running of the limitation period for claims, so creditors are allowed to commence individual actions to establish their claims³⁵⁸. Nevertheless, no enforcement will be allowed to be taken on any judgment obtained in such actions³⁵⁹. Second, the automatic stay and suspension of rights does not affect the right to commence local insolvency proceedings and to file claims in such proceedings³⁶⁰. This exception clarifies that the recognition of a foreign proceeding in the enacting state will not preclude the commencement of local insolvency proceedings³⁶¹.

3.7.3 Discretionary Relief

According to article 21, after recognition of a foreign proceeding, where necessary to protect the assets of the debtor or the interests of the creditors, the recognizing court may grant relief at the

³⁵⁵ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 20(2).

³⁵⁶ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 148.

³⁵⁷ The Model Law, supra note 18 at art 20(3).

³⁵⁸ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at paras 151, 152

³⁵⁹ Ihid

³⁶⁰ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 20(4).

³⁶¹ Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 153.

request of the foreign representative³⁶². Such discretionary relief may be given in favour of both a main and a non-main foreign proceeding.

This article establishes a minimum list of relief that a court may grant in respect of a recognized foreign proceeding³⁶³. The minimum list is not exhaustive, but is merely illustrative of the most frequent types of relief that are given in insolvency cases, and can be combined with relief that would be available to a local insolvency representative under the local insolvency laws³⁶⁴. Among the reliefs listed in article 21 are the granting of orders to stay individual actions of creditors and suspend the debtors' rights to dispose of its assets to the extent that they were not stayed as a result of recognition. Under this provision, the court may extend the scope of the relief that flows from recognition. For instance, the court may order a stay of the enforcement of secured claims if such enforcement was allowed to be commenced or continue notwithstanding the granting of recognition. Other orders that the court has the discretion to make pursuant to this provision are orders to facilitate access of the foreign representative to information about the debtor's estate, orders to designate the foreign representative or another person to administer and realize all or part of the debtor's assets located in the recognizing state and orders to extend the interim relief granted at the time of application for recognition³⁶⁵. It should be noted that an order authorizing the foreign representative to administer and realize the debtor's assets located in the recognizing state does not imply giving the right to the foreign representative to take them for distribution to creditors under the foreign proceeding³⁶⁶. To acquire this right a foreign

³⁶² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 21.

³⁶³ *Ibid,* at art 21(1).

³⁶⁴ *Ibid*, at art 21(1) (g).

³⁶⁵ *Ibid*, at art 21(1) (d), (e).

³⁶⁶ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, supra note 230 at 370.

representative should obtain a separate court order as provided by article 21, paragraph 2³⁶⁷. The consequence of such an order is the remittal of those assets to the foreign proceeding where those assets will be distributed according to the laws of the foreign proceeding³⁶⁸. It is common ground that national insolvency laws establish different distributional rules giving priority and privileges to different classes of creditors³⁶⁹. In order to protect the expectations of creditors regarding their rank and privileges in a distribution process, the Model Law allows the courts to order the remittal of assets to a foreign proceeding only after the court is satisfied that the interests of the local creditors are adequately protected³⁷⁰.

Also, under article 21, if a foreign proceeding is a foreign non-main proceeding, the court has the discretion to grant such relief as that which flows automatically from the recognition of a foreign main proceeding, such as the stay of individual actions against the debtor and the suspension of the right of the debtor to dispose of its assets³⁷¹. This highlights the differential treatment that the Model Law adopts towards main and non-main proceeding. The stay is mandatory in case of recognition of a main proceeding and only discretionary in case of recognition of a non-main proceeding. A further distinction the Model makes between these two categories of foreign proceeding is limiting the scope of any relief granted in favour of a foreign non-main proceeding. In other words, the relief granted to a foreign non-main proceeding is limited to the assets that under the law of the recognizing state should be administered in the foreign non-main proceeding and to information required in that proceeding³⁷². But what are the assets that *should* be

³⁶⁷ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 21(2).

³⁶⁸ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 469.

Garrido, José M., "No Two Snowflakes the Same: The Distributional Question in International Bankruptcies" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 459 [Garrido, The Distributional Question].

³⁷⁰ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 21(2).

³⁷¹ Sarra, Northern Lights, supra note 287 at 49.

³⁷² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 21(3).

administered in a foreign non-main proceeding? One author suggests that assets removed by the debtor on the eve of insolvency from the jurisdiction of the foreign non-main proceeding to that of the recognizing court, and fraudulently reducing the pool of assets available for distribution in the foreign non-main proceeding, could be a type of asset that should be administered in the foreign non-main proceeding³⁷³. A further possibility may be when it can be established that all or some of the assets located in the recognizing country are more closely associated with a foreign establishment where the recognized foreign non-main proceeding is commenced³⁷⁴. For instance, when it can be shown that the assets located in the recognizing jurisdiction were assets used for the operation of the foreign establishment.

3.7.4 Protection of Creditors and Other Interested Persons

The Model Law establishes several measures that can be employed by the courts to ensure that the interests of creditors and other interested persons, when relief in favor of a foreign proceeding is granted, are protected. First, The Model Law allows that the scope of automatic relief in favor of a foreign main proceeding, provided by article 20, to be subject to any exceptions, limitations, modifications and termination established by the law of the recognizing court ³⁷⁵. Second, it provides that courts, when granting or denying relief granted under article 19 and 21 (that regulate interim and discretionary relief respectively), or when modifying or terminating such relief, be satisfied that the interests of the creditors and other interested persons are adequately protected ³⁷⁶. Third, it empowers the courts to subject relief granted under article

³⁷³ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, supra note 230 at 371.

³⁷⁴ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 470.

³⁷⁵ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 20(2).

³⁷⁶ *Ibid*, at art 22(1).

19 and 21 to any conditions it considers appropriate³⁷⁷. Finally, it gives procedural standing to the foreign representative or a person affected by interim or discretionary relief to petition for modification or termination of such relief³⁷⁸. These measures seem to protect the individual interests of creditors that may be affected by the granting of relief to foreign proceedings as opposed to the collective interests of all creditors generally.

Although by introducing these measures the Model Law emphasizes the importance of protecting the individual interests of creditors, it does not give them an overriding importance over the other interests and objectives that the Model Law seeks to protect and to promote, such as maximization of the value of the debtor's assets and facilitation of the rescue of financially troubled businesses. The Guide to Enactment states that "there should be a balance between relief that may be granted to the foreign representative and the interests of the persons that may be affected by such relief...[this] balance is essential to achieve the objectives of cross-border insolvency legislation" ³⁷⁹. The Model Law gives enough flexibility to courts to achieve a fair balance between the individual interests of creditors and the relief granted to foreign representatives. The Model Law does not suggest that courts refuse to grant relief altogether when such relief would affect individual creditors' interests. Instead, it uses broad terms as "adequate protection" ³⁸⁰ or "conditions [the courts] considers appropriate" that leave the court enough flexibility to decide how to tailor the relief that it may grant to foreign representatives in such a manner as to not adversely affect the creditors' interests. For instance, when a remittal of local assets for distribution under a foreign proceeding, requested by a foreign representative

³⁷⁷ *Ibid, at* art 22(2).

³⁷⁸ *Ibid,* art 22(3).

³⁷⁹ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 161.

³⁸⁰ For an analysis of the concept "adequate protection" see Yamauchi, Keith D., "The UNCITRAL Model Cross-Border Insolvency Law: The Stay of Proceedings and Adequate Protection" (2004) 13:2 IIR 87.

under article 21 paragraph 2, would adversely affect the interests of a local creditor, instead of refusing to grant such relief altogether and commencing a local insolvency proceeding to distribute those assets, which would be wasteful, the courts could subject the granting of such relief to any conditions that would ensure that the interests of the local creditor will be adequately protected in the foreign proceeding.

3.7.5 Other Type of Relief

After recognition of the foreign proceeding has been granted, the foreign representative appointed in that foreign proceeding is entitled to institute avoidance actions ("actions to avoid or otherwise render ineffective acts detrimental to creditors"³⁸¹) under the courts of the recognizing jurisdiction³⁸². It is to be noted that this provision only grants procedural standing to the foreign representative to commence avoidance actions; it does not intend to create substantive rights or affect the choice of avoidance rules established in the enacting states³⁸³.

Strong arguments were advanced against this provision at the time of its drafting³⁸⁴. The provision was said to increase uncertainty about concluded or performed transactions. This provision creates the possibility of avoiding a transaction under a law other than the law expected by the party entering in such a transaction to apply. Consider the following example:

A debtor incorporated in Barbados (with its COMI in Barbados) has placed a deposit with the London branch of a UK bank in order to secure the debtor's guarantee in respect of a loan facility granted by the bank to the debtor's parent in the US. The guarantee is governed by New York law and provides that if the debtor defaults under the guarantee, the bank could set off the deposit against the

³⁸¹ The Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 165.

³⁸² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 23(1).

³⁸³ The Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 166. See also Ho, Look Chan, "Conflict of Laws in Insolvency Transaction Avoidance" (2008) 20:1 SAC LJ 343 [Ho, Transaction Avoidance] for a discussion of the complex situations in which the issue of choice of avoidance law could arise.

³⁸⁴ The Thirtieth Session Report, *supra* note 18 at para 214.

debtor's guarantee obligations. Both the debtor and its parent become insolvent. The debtor goes into Barbados liquidation and the liquidator applies to the English court for recognition and relief under the [English] Model Law in order to avoid the guarantee. 385

If the English court where the avoidance action was commenced applies its rules of avoidance, as it normally does in a local insolvency proceeding³⁸⁶, then the avoidance action may unnecessarily affect the interest of the bank, which did not expect that a transaction governed by New York law entered into with a debtor whose COMI is in Barbados will be rendered ineffective by the application of English law.

However, the drafters decided to include this provision in the final text of the Model Law, as "the right to commence such actions is essential to protect the integrity of the assets of the debtor and is often the only realistic way to achieve such protection".

Also upon recognition of foreign proceeding, the foreign representative acquires the right to participate in a local insolvency proceeding³⁸⁸ and to intervene in individual court actions or other proceedings instituted by the debtor against third parties or by third parties against the debtor³⁸⁹. These provisions only give procedural standing to the foreign representative and do not intend to establish a privileged status for the foreign representative, namely the foreign representative will have to comply with any existent conditions under local law for bringing such actions³⁹⁰.

³⁸⁵ Ho, Transaction Avoidance, *supra* note 383 at 350.

³⁸⁶ Ibid

³⁸⁷ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 167.

³⁸⁸ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 12.

³⁸⁹ *Ibid*, at art 24.

³⁹⁰ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at paras 101, 170.

3.8 Cross-Border Cooperation

One of the stated objectives of the Model Law is to promote cross-border cooperation³⁹¹. Cooperation in cross-border insolvency cases will enable courts and insolvency representatives to achieve efficient results³⁹². It may often be the only way to prevent dissipation of the debtor's assets or maximization of the value of those assets³⁹³. For instance, cooperation could facilitate the selling of assets located in more than one country together, when those assets are worth more if sold together than if sold separately, or the formulation of a better plan for the reorganization of the debtor³⁹⁴.

The Model Law sets out an obligation to cooperate for courts and insolvency representatives. Article 25 specifies that a "court shall cooperate to the maximum extent possible with foreign courts or foreign representatives". The same duty is imposed on insolvency representatives: article 26 states that the person or body administering a reorganization or liquidation under the law of the enacting state "shall cooperate to the maximum extent possible with foreign courts or foreign representatives". Nevertheless, the same provision states that the insolvency representatives acts of cooperation are subject to the supervision of the courts that appointed these representatives³⁹⁷. The Model Law does not intend to modify the rules of the enacting states regarding the supervisory powers of the courts, though the Guide for enactment advises

³⁹¹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at Preamble (a).

³⁹² Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 173.

³⁹³ Ihid

³⁹⁴ *Ibid*.

³⁹⁵ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 25.

³⁹⁶ *Ibid*, at art 26.

³⁹⁷ *Ibid*.

that courts in exercising those powers allow for a certain degree of initiative on the part of the insolvency representative for practical reasons³⁹⁸.

The inclusion of a rule on cooperation serves to fill the gap in the legislation of countries that do not expressly authorize courts to cooperate with their foreign counterparts or foreign representatives in cross-border insolvency cases³⁹⁹. This provision could be particularly useful in civil law countries where courts can only act within the confines established by legislation⁴⁰⁰. However, it could prove useful in common-law countries also, by clarifying any uncertainty regarding the right of courts to cooperate with their foreign counterparts or foreign representatives in cross-border insolvency cases⁴⁰¹.

Recognizing the need for urgent action in insolvency cases, the Model Law empowers the courts and insolvency representatives to communicate directly with, or request assistance directly from, foreign courts or foreign representatives⁴⁰². The purpose of this provision is to avoid the use of time-consuming means of cooperation, such as letters rogatory or communication through higher courts⁴⁰³.

It is to be noted that the Model Law allows cooperation with foreign courts and foreign representatives administering a foreign proceeding that is not yet recognized or is refused recognition⁴⁰⁴.

[.]

³⁹⁸ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 180.

³⁹⁹ *Ibid* at para 174.

⁴⁰⁰ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, *supra* note 230 at 379.

⁴⁰¹ Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 51.

⁴⁰² The Model Law, at art 25(2), 26(2).

⁴⁰³ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 179.

⁴⁰⁴ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, *supra* note 230 at 380.

Even if the Model Law establishes an obligation to cooperate, it does give to courts and insolvency representatives the flexibility to decide the degree of that cooperation and the forms of its implementation 405. By adding the words "to the maximum extent possible", the Model Law allows the courts and insolvency representatives to limit the degree of cooperation to the extent necessary to comply with any substantive or procedural rules established by their national law 406. For instance, their national law may limit the exchange of some information regarding the debtor in order to protect the debtor's privacy, or it may mandate that appropriate safeguards for the protection of the parties involved in the cross-border insolvency case be taken into the process of communication with foreign courts, such as notification to creditors about such communication 407. Furthermore, the flexibility given to courts in respect to their right to cooperate is suggested by article 27, which provides a non-exhaustive list of forms of cooperation 408. The forms listed are only possible forms of cooperation that a court may use in cross-border insolvency cases, such as appointment of a person or body to act at the direction of the court ⁴⁰⁹ or approval or implementation by courts of agreements concerning the coordination of proceedings⁴¹⁰. By including a non-exhaustive list, the Model Law gives to the courts the discretion to adopt the appropriate form of cooperation as the circumstances of the case and their national laws dictate.

-

⁴⁰⁵ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 480.

⁴⁰⁶ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, *supra* note 230 at 379.

⁴⁰⁷ *Ibid* at 380.

⁴⁰⁸ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 27 (f).

⁴⁰⁹ *Ibid* at art 27 (a).

⁴¹⁰ *Ibid* at art 27 (d).

3.9 Coordination of Concurrent Proceedings

The Model Law accepts the commencement of concurrent insolvency proceedings in different jurisdictions regarding the same debtor, a type of situation that is characteristic of the state of the administration of cross-border insolvencies before the adoption of the Model Law. Concurrent insolvency proceedings are often accompanied by competition between the courts that supervise those proceedings for control over the debtor's assets, which results in conflicting claims for jurisdiction over the debtor's assets⁴¹¹. The Model Law tries to address these difficulties, not by eliminating the possibility of commencing concurrent insolvency proceedings, but by establishing rules for coordination of these proceedings.

The rules for coordination of concurrent insolvency proceedings formulated by the Model Law can be placed within two main categories. The first category concerns rules that coordinate a local insolvency proceeding with recognized foreign proceedings regarding the same debtor. The second category concerns rules that coordinate more than one recognized foreign proceeding regarding the same debtor.

The rules in the first category address two types of situations. One is when the local proceeding is already commenced at the time an application for recognition of the foreign proceeding is filed. In this situation, the court must ensure that any relief granted to the foreign proceeding is consistent with the local proceeding in the recognizing state⁴¹². Additionally, the existence of a local insolvency proceeding at the time recognition is granted to a foreign main proceeding makes article 20, which provides for the automatic stay of individual actions of creditors against

76

⁴¹¹ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 482.

The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 29 (a) (i).

the debtor and for the suspension of the right of the debtor to dispose of its assets, inoperative 413. The principle derived from these provisions is that the existence of a local insolvency proceeding does not preclude the recognition of a foreign proceeding 414. This is important as recognition will facilitate cooperation and will allow foreign representatives to apply for relief that is available after recognition is granted, although the relief that the recognizing court may offer will be limited to the extent necessary so as to be consistent with the local proceeding.

The other situation that the rules for coordination of a local proceeding with foreign proceedings address is when the local proceeding commences after recognition or after the filing of the application for recognition of a foreign proceeding. In this situation, any relief granted to the foreign proceeding shall be modified or terminated if inconsistent with the local proceeding ⁴¹⁵. Furthermore, if the recognized foreign proceeding is a foreign main proceeding, the automatic relief accorded pursuant to article 20 will be modified or terminated if it is inconsistent with the local proceeding ⁴¹⁶. A principle embodied by these provisions is that the recognition of a foreign proceeding, either main or non-main, does not preclude the commencement of a local proceeding.

Nevertheless, when a foreign main proceeding has already been recognized at the time an application for the commencement of a local insolvency proceeding is filed there are certain limitations on the jurisdiction of the courts to commence such local proceeding and to the scope of that local proceeding ⁴¹⁷. According to this provision, a court can commence a local proceeding only if the debtor has assets in the jurisdiction of that court. Furthermore, the effects of such a

⁴¹³ *Ibid*, at art 29 (a) (ii); Clift, *supra* note 241 at 329.

⁴¹⁴ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 189.

⁴¹⁵ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 29 (b) (i).

⁴¹⁶ *Ibid* at art 29 (b) (ii).

⁴¹⁷ *Ibid* at art 28.

local proceeding will be restricted to the assets of the debtor located in the jurisdiction where it was commenced and to other such assets that are located abroad, but that should be administered in that local proceeding⁴¹⁸. The purpose of this rule is to avoid potential conflicts of jurisdiction between the foreign main proceeding and the local proceeding over the debtor's assets as both, under their national laws, could otherwise claim universal effect⁴¹⁹.

Another principle embodied by the rules that govern coordination between a local proceeding and foreign proceedings is the prevalence of the local proceeding over the foreign proceedings⁴²⁰. By establishing this principle, the Model Law avoids interfering with the autonomy of the enacting states to administer insolvency cases on their territory according to the policies that these countries established for such administration⁴²¹. Nevertheless, the Model Law does not establish a rigid hierarchy between the foreign main proceeding and the local proceeding, since that would affect the ability of courts to cooperate and exercise their discretion when granting relief to the foreign representatives⁴²².

Article 30 provides the rules from the second category; these are the rules that coordinate more than one foreign proceeding regarding the same debtor when these proceeding seek relief in the recognizing state. The principles that govern these rules are the following: first, the relief granted to a foreign non-main proceeding must be consistent with the relief granted to a foreign main

⁴¹⁸ Ihid

 $^{^{419}}$ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, supra note 1 at 482.

⁴²⁰ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 190.

⁴²¹ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 484.

⁴²² Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 190.

proceeding ⁴²³; second, relief granted to a non-main proceeding must be tailored so as to be consistent with relief granted to other non-main proceedings ⁴²⁴.

Other rules of coordination of concurrent proceedings are the presumption of insolvency based on recognition of a foreign main proceeding and "the hotchpot rule". Article 31 establishes the rebuttable presumption that the recognition of a foreign main proceeding is proof that the debtor is insolvent. This presumption simplifies the evidentiary process for the commencement of a local proceeding when proof that the debtor is insolvent is required for such proceedings to be commenced "25". This provision will prove to be useful when the commencement of a local proceeding is "urgently needed for the protection of local creditors" Nevertheless, the presumption is rebuttable, and the courts may still require that the insolvency of the debtor be proved "27". Furthermore, the presumption will apply only if the main proceeding is recognized in the jurisdiction where commencement of a local proceeding is sought; the mere existence of a main proceeding regarding the debtor does not make this presumption operative "428".

The hotchpot rule is a rule of payment of creditors in concurrent proceedings. This rule intends to calculate the payment to be given to a creditor in a local insolvency proceeding by taking into account the payment received by this creditor in a foreign insolvency proceeding ⁴²⁹. According to article 30, a creditor who has received partial payment in respect of its claim in a foreign insolvency proceeding cannot receive payment in a local proceeding until other creditors of the

⁴²³ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 30 (a), (b).

⁴²⁴ *Ibid* at art 30 (c).

⁴²⁵ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at paras 194, 195.

⁴²⁶ *Ibid* at para 197.

⁴²⁷ Ibid.

⁴²⁸ Yamamoto, Kazuhiko, "New Japanese Legislation on Cross-Border Insolvency as Compared with the UNCITRAL Model Law" (2002) 11:2 IIR 67 at 94 [Yamamoto, New Japanese Legislation].

⁴²⁹ Bang-Pedersen, Urlik Rammeskow, "Asset Distribution In Transnational Insolvencies: Combining Predictability and Protection of Local Interests" (1999) 73:2 Am Bankr LJ 385 at 388.

same rank in this proceeding receive a portion of their claims equivalent to that received by the creditor in the foreign proceeding⁴³⁰. Conversely, a creditor that has received partial payment in a foreign proceeding that constitutes a smaller portion of his or her claim than the portion that other creditors of the same rank are entitled to receive in the local proceeding will receive payment in a local proceeding to the extent necessary so as to put him or her in an equal position with the other creditors of the same rank in the local proceeding. However, a creditor that has received a greater portion of his or her claim in the foreign proceeding than the portion that other creditors of the same rank in the local proceeding are entitled to receive will be allowed to keep what he or she received in the foreign proceeding⁴³¹. The purpose of this rule is to guarantee that a creditor will not receive a more favourable treatment as a result of its opportunity to file its claim and to obtain satisfaction for its claim in multiple insolvency proceedings⁴³².

The hotchpot rule has to be applied without prejudice to secured claims or rights in rem⁴³³. For instance, a creditor's claim against the debtor has both a secured and unsecured part; this creditor receives full payment on its secured claim in a foreign proceeding and, later, participates in a local proceeding in an enacting state for the unsecured balance of its debt; in this case, the part of the payment that the secured creditor has already received for the secured part of its original

-

⁴³⁰ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 32. The following example is given in the Guide to Enactment: "an unsecured creditor has received 5 per cent of its claim in the foreign proceeding; that creditor also participates in the insolvency proceeding in the enacting State. Where the rate of distribution is 15 per cent; in order to put the creditor in the equal position as the other creditors in the enacting State, the creditor would receive 10 per cent of its claim in the enacting State", see The Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 198.

⁴³¹ Han, Min, "The Hotchpot Rule in Korean Insolvency Proceedings" (2007) 7 J Korean L 445 at 457 [Han, The Hotchpot Rule]; Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, *supra* note 230 at 394.

⁴³² The Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 198.

⁴³³ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 32. The Guide to enactment defines "secured claims" as "claims guaranteed by particular assets" and "rights in rem" as "rights relating to a particular property that are enforceable also against third parties", *supra* note 223 at para 200.

claim will not be taken into account for the purpose of calculating the amount that this creditor is entitle to receive in the local proceeding for the unsecured part of its claim⁴³⁴.

The hotchpot rule as enacted by the Model Law does not include in the calculation of the payment that a creditor is entitled to receive in a local proceeding the payments received by the creditor outside of a foreign insolvency proceeding⁴³⁵. Examples of such payments are the payments received in foreign individual execution actions instituted by the creditor against the debtor or voluntary payments out of the debtor's assets located abroad⁴³⁶. The Model Law left to the discretion of the enacting states to decide how to deal with such payments⁴³⁷.

3.10 The Public Policy Exception and International Obligations

The Model Law authorizes courts to refuse to take any action governed by the provisions of the Model Law enacted in their countries if those actions would be manifestly contrary to the public policy of their state⁴³⁸. Thus, the public policy exception could be invoked by courts to refuse to grant recognition of foreign proceedings, relief and any other action that the Model Law mandates or encourages courts to take. In view of the potentially wide range of applications of the public policy exception, its broad interpretation could hamper the achievement of the Model Law objectives⁴³⁹. In order to reduce this risk, the Model Law introduced the phrase "manifestly

-

⁴³⁴ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 485.

⁴³⁵ Yamamoto, New Japanese Legislation, *supra* note 428 at 95; Han, The Hotchpot Rule, *supra* note 431 at 457.

⁴³⁶ Ibid.

⁴³⁷ Han, The Hotchpot Rule, *supra* note 431 at 457.

⁴³⁸ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 6.

⁴³⁹ The Working Group's Eighteenth Session Report, *supra* note 266 at para 40.

contrary to the public policy^{3,440}, suggesting that courts in the enacting states interpret the exception restrictively⁴⁴¹.

Another rule that sets the limits of the scope of application of the Model Law is provided by article 3. It specifies that if there is a conflict between the provisions based on the Model Law in the enacting state and an obligation of that state arising out of any treaty or agreement, the obligation of the treaty or agreement prevails⁴⁴². This provision merely restates a principle of international law that establishes the supremacy of international obligations over national law⁴⁴³. This principle, if applied frequently, would affect the goal of the Model Law of promoting cooperation and predictability in cross-border insolvencies⁴⁴⁴. It is advisable that courts interpret the scope of application of international treaties that their countries are part of with care. It might be the case that certain treaties, even if they address matters related to access to courts, cooperation between courts or recognition of foreign judgments, are not intended to apply in cross-border insolvency cases⁴⁴⁵.

3.11 Is Modified Universalism the Theoretical Basis of the Model Law?

To summarize from the second chapter of this thesis, modified universalism is based on a combination of principles borrowed from both universalism and territorialism. Modified universalism claims that a debtor should have a "home country" for insolvency purposes and that courts located in other countries than the home country should recognize the insolvency proceeding commenced in the home country of the debtor as the controlling proceeding for the

⁴⁴⁰ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 6.

⁴⁴¹ The Guide to Enactment, supra note 223 at para 89.

⁴⁴² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 3.

⁴⁴³ Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at para 76.

⁴⁴⁴ *Ibid* at para 77.

⁴⁴⁵ Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, *supra* note 230 at 334.

administration of that debtor's cross-border insolvency and should allow that proceeding to have broad effects on their territory. This first principle is borrowed from universalism.

At the same time, modified universalism, recognizes the territorialist concerns, and states that the proceeding commenced in the home country should enjoy only such effects in other countries that are consistent with the local public policy and legal values 446.

To show further deference to the public policy and legal values of countries, modified universalism allows the commencement of local proceedings in respect of the same debtor, even when an insolvency proceeding is taking place in the home country of the debtor⁴⁴⁷. To reduce the situations of conflict that could arise from concurrent proceedings, modified universalism suggests using a system of rules for coordination of these concurrent proceedings and rules for the cooperation between the courts and other authorities involved in the administration of the cross-border insolvency of the same debtor⁴⁴⁸.

A study of the articles of the Model Law reveals that the Model Law embodies the principles of modified universalism. The universalism principle is the basis of the articles that govern the relief granted to a foreign main proceeding. According to article 20, the recognition of the foreign main proceeding triggers an automatic stay of individual actions of creditors against the debtor and suspension of the debtor's right to dispose of its assets; and, according to article 21, the foreign representative appointed in the foreign main proceeding may receive additional relief with respect to any of the debtor's assets or affairs located in the territory of the recognizing

4

⁴⁴⁸ *Ibid* at 17.

⁴⁴⁶ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 15 – 17, the author discusses the need for an "Internationalist Principle" that actually represents a description of the modified universalism theory. See also, Westbrook, Global Solution, *supra* note 13 at 2300; Pottow, Procedural Incrementalism, *supra* note 150 at 952.

⁴⁴⁷ Fletcher, Insolvency in Private international Law, *ibid* at 16.

court. These articles, in combination with article 21 paragraph 2 (that govern the remittal of assets for administration in the foreign proceeding), suggest that the main proceeding is allowed to act as the controlling proceeding over the administration of the debtors assets. This claim is further supported by the discrimination that the Model Law makes in favour of the foreign main proceeding over the foreign non-main proceeding. Any relief that the foreign non-main proceeding may receive has to be related to the assets that should be administered in the foreign non-main proceeding or to information required in that proceeding. In addition all this relief must be consistent with the relief granted to a foreign main proceeding.

The deference to territorialist concerns is shown in the articles that establish the public policy exception and in the articles that provide for the protection of the individual creditors' interests.

Those articles entitle the courts to refuse to grant recognition or relief to the foreign main proceeding, or condition, modify or terminate that relief, if acting otherwise would be against the public policy or would adversely affect the interests of individual creditors.

As well as modified universalism, the Model Law allows for the commencement of concurrent proceedings regarding the same debtor as acknowledged by article 28, which allows the commencement of a local proceeding even after the recognition of a foreign main proceeding. It also provides rules of coordination of the concurrent proceedings (articles 28 - 30) and cooperation between courts and other authorities involved in the administration of the cross-border insolvency (articles 25 - 27).

The next chapter is concerned with establishing whether modified universalism provides an effective mechanism for dealing with cases of cross-border insolvency so as to further the objectives of efficiency, fairness, predictability and protection of local interests on a practical

level. In other words, the next chapter will be concerned with determining whether the application of a law based on the modified universalism theory to actual cross-border cases furthers these objectives. Accordingly, the Model Law, being a law based on the modified universalism theory, can be used for the purposes of the next chapter.

CHAPTER 4: The Application of the Model Law

This chapter discusses the application of the provisions of the Model Law as enacted by Canada and Great Britain 449. In Canada, the Model Law was incorporated in Part IV of the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (CCAA)⁴⁵⁰ and Part XIII of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (BIA)⁴⁵¹. In Great Britain, the Model Law was incorporated in Schedule 1 of the Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations 2006 (CBIR)⁴⁵². Great Britain enacted the Model Law almost verbatim. The modifications that Great Britain made to the Model Law's text were only those that were needed to incorporate the Model Law into its insolvency law regime⁴⁵³. On the other hand, Canada has adopted the Model Law in a considerably modified form. In view of this circumstance, an analysis of the application of the relevant provisions of the CCAA and BIA by courts will provide meaningful insight into the question of the workability of the Model Law's legal framework only if those provisions when not enacted verbatim will nevertheless lead to results consistent with those contemplated by the Model Law. For this reason, this chapter first assesses the compliance of the relevant provisions of CCAA and BIA within the scheme of the Model Law. Next, this chapter discusses the application of the Canadian and British versions of the Model Law provisions governing recognition, determination of COMI, and relief. This chapter determines whether the application of these provisions promotes the objectives of the Model Law.

⁴⁴⁹ This thesis is focused on the application of the version of the Model Law as enacted by Great Britain. For this reason, reference is made only to Great Britain and not to the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Island. The Northern Ireland has also enacted the Model Law, but through the *The Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2007*, SR 2007/115.

⁴⁵⁰ Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, RSC 1985, c. C-36 [CCAA].

⁴⁵¹ Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, c. B-3 [BIA].

⁴⁵² The Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1030 [CBIR].

⁴⁵³ Ho, Look Chan, "Applying Foreign Law – Realising the Model Law's Potential" (2010) JIBLR 552 at 1 n 1 [Ho, Applying Foreign Law].

4.1 Canadian Versions of the Model Law

Part IV of the CCAA and Part XIII of the BIA enact certain provisions of the Model Law with modifications and omit other such provisions. These parts, when interpreted in the general context of the whole Canadian body of laws, provide mechanisms for solving cross-border insolvency cases equivalent to those available under the Model Law⁴⁵⁴. An analysis of the compliance of the Canadian version of the Model Law with the Model Law can be conducted under three subheadings⁴⁵⁵. The first subheading concerns provisions that, even if not identical to the corresponding Model Law provisions, considerably reflect those provisions. The second subheading concerns provisions that differ considerably from the text of their analogous Model Law provisions. The third subheading concerns provisions that are omitted in the relevant parts of the CCAA and the BIA.

4.1.1 Canadian Provisions that Considerably Reflect the Model Law Provisions

The Canadian versions of the Model Law enact the preamble of the Model Law that spells out the objectives of this act for cross-border insolvencies almost verbatim⁴⁵⁶. Similarly enacted are the provisions that formulate the definitions of foreign proceeding, foreign main proceeding, foreign representative and foreign court. It is worth noting that the definitions of foreign

⁴⁵⁴ Bélenger, Philippe H. & Neil A. Peden "The Changing Framework Relating to the Recognition of Cross-Border Insolvencies in Canada and the United States" (2005) Annual Review of Insolvency Law 203 at 223 – 225 [Bélenger].

⁴⁵⁵ This categorization is inspired by the categorization provided in Ziegel, Jacob S. "Cross-border Insolvencies" in Anthony J. Duggan & Stephanie Ben-Ishai, *Canadian Bankruptcy and Insolvency Law: Bill C-55, Statute c. 47 and Beyond/Edited by Stephanie Ben-Ishai and Anthony Duggan*, (Markham, Ont: LexisNexis, 2007) at 296 [Ziegel, Cross-Border Insolvencies].

⁴⁵⁶ CCAA, *supra* note 4450 s 44; BIA, *supra* note 451 s 267.

proceeding and foreign representative differ under the CCAA and the BIA. The difference is needed to reflect the distinct purposes that these two acts serve⁴⁵⁷.

Also, without significant departure from the original provisions, the following provisions are enacted:

- the provision authorizing a person to act on behalf of the local insolvency proceeding in a foreign state⁴⁵⁸;
- the provision concerning the public policy exception ⁴⁵⁹;
- the provision limiting the enacting state courts' power to assume jurisdiction over the foreign representative⁴⁶⁰;
- the provision authorizing the foreign representative to commence insolvency proceedings in the enacting state⁴⁶¹;
- the provisions governing the application for recognition of a foreign proceeding 462;
- the provision establishing the presumption that the registered office of a debtor company, and the habitual residence in case of individuals, is the debtor's COMI⁴⁶³;

⁴⁵⁷ For instance, under the CCAA s 45 (1) the term "foreign proceeding" is defined as "a judicial or administrative proceeding, including an interim proceeding, in a jurisdiction outside Canada dealing with creditors' collective interests generally under any law relating to bankruptcy or insolvency in which a debtor company's business and financial affairs are subject to control or supervision by a foreign court for purpose of reorganization", while under the BIA s 268 (1) the definition is entirely similar except that the BIA includes the words at the end of the definition "or liquidation". These words are included to make the definition consistent with the purpose that the BIA serves, meaning that is an act that governs both reorganization and liquidation proceedings.

⁴⁵⁸ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 5; CCAA, *supra* note 450 at s 56; BIA, *supra* note 451 at s 279.

⁴⁵⁹ The Model Law, *ibid* at art 6; CCAA, *ibid* at s 60 (2); BIA, *ibid* at s 284 (2).

⁴⁶⁰ The Model Law, *ibid* at art 10; CCAA, *ibid* at s 57; BIA, i*bid* at s 280.

⁴⁶¹ The Model Law, *ibid* at art 11; CCAA, *ibid* at s 51; BIA, *ibid* at s 274.

⁴⁶² The Model Law *ibid* at art 15, 16 (1); CCAA, *ibid* at s 46; BIA, *ibid* at s 269.

⁴⁶³ The Model Law *ibid* at art 16 (3); CCAA, *ibid* at s 45 (2); BIA, *ibid* at s 268 (2).

- the provision requiring the foreign representative to provide information in respect of any change in its status or the status of the foreign proceeding and information about any proceedings in respect of the debtor commenced in foreign jurisdictions⁴⁶⁴;
- the provision empowering the courts to impose any terms and conditions that it considers appropriate when granting relief in favor of a foreign proceeding⁴⁶⁵;
- the provision listing the forms that cooperation can take between courts and insolvency representatives involved in different proceedings commenced in different jurisdictions in respect of the same debtor⁴⁶⁶;
- the provision establishing the presumption of insolvency. However, the corresponding Canadian provisions have a broader scope. The Model Law establishes that the court is entitled to presume that the debtor is insolvent based on the recognition of the foreign main proceeding⁴⁶⁷. On the other hand, the CCAA and the BIA state that courts are entitled to presume that the debtor is insolvent based on the certified copy of the order commencing the foreign proceeding irrespective of whether that proceeding is a main or a non-main proceeding⁴⁶⁸;
- the provision adopting the hotchpot rule⁴⁶⁹. By contrast to the original provision of the Model Law, the Canadian version includes into the calculation of the dividend of a creditor not only the amount that this creditor received in a foreign insolvency proceeding, but also the value of what the creditor received on account of his or her claim

⁴⁶⁴ The Model Law *ibid* at art 18; CCAA, *ibid* at s 53; BIA, *ibid* at s 276.

⁴⁶⁵ The Model Law *ibid* at art 22(2); CCAA, *ibid* at s 50; BIA, *ibid* at s 273.

⁴⁶⁶ The Model Law *ibid* at art 27; CCAA, *ibid* at s 52 (3); BIA, *ibid* at s 275 (3).

⁴⁶⁷ The Model Law *ibid* at art 31.

⁴⁶⁸ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 59; BIA, *supra* note 451 s 282.

⁴⁶⁹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 32.

by way of a transfer⁴⁷⁰. However, the transfer must be of a type that if it were subject to local law would be regarded as either a transfer that gives a preference to the creditor over other creditors or a transfer at an undervalue⁴⁷¹.

The enacting of these provisions with slight alterations to their text do not appear to lead to results in cross-border insolvency cases brought in front of the Canadian courts that would be inconsistent with those envisioned by the Model Law.

4.1.2 Canadian Provisions that Differ Considerably from the Model Law Provisions

There are a number of such provisions in the Canadian versions of the Model Law. One of these relates to the definition of a foreign non-main proceeding. The Model Law defines the foreign non-main proceeding as a foreign proceeding commenced in the jurisdiction where the debtor has an establishment ⁴⁷². The Canadian acts, instead, define the foreign non-main proceeding as "a foreign proceeding, other than the foreign main proceeding". Hence, the Canadian provisions do not require the presence of an establishment in the jurisdiction of the foreign proceeding to recognize that proceeding as a foreign non-main proceeding ⁴⁷⁴. Due to this circumstance, the Canadian courts may recognize foreign proceedings commenced in jurisdictions where the debtor has no assets or no place of business ⁴⁷⁵. The practical implication of this deviation is that Canadian courts will recognize as foreign non-main proceedings more

¹

⁴⁷⁰ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 60 (1); BIA, *supra* note 451 s 283 (1).

^{4/1} Ibid.

⁴⁷² The Model Law at article 2 defines the term establishment as "any place of operations where the debtor carries out a non-transitory activity with human means and goods or services".

⁴⁷³ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 45 (1); BIA, *supra* note 451 s 268 (1).

Anderson, Andrew J. F., Stephanie Donaher & Adam Maerov, "UNCITRAL Eh? The Model Law and its Implications for Canadian Stakeholders" (2005) Ann Rev Insol L at 194.

⁴⁷⁵ Ziegel, Cross-Border Insolvency, *supra* note 455 at 298.

foreign proceedings than will the courts in the states that enacted the relevant definition verbatim.

Another provision of the Model Law enacted by CCAA and BIA with substantial alterations to its text is the provision that governs the decision to recognize a foreign proceeding. The relevant Canadian provisions are shorter than the corresponding Model Law provisions; however, these are interpreted in combination with the provisions regarding the formal requirements of an application for recognition 476 and appear to require that the same conditions as under the Model Law be satisfied for the court to issue a recognition order 477.

The Canadian versions of the Model Law adopt the provisions of the Model Law relating to the relief that flows automatically from the recognition of a foreign main proceeding with significant changes, but these changes, after a more in-depth consideration, do not appear to be substantial. It is worth noting at this point that while both the CCAA and BIA provide for such automatic relief, the method of making that relief available is different under these two acts. Under the BIA the relief flows directly from the order recognizing the foreign main proceeding ⁴⁷⁸, while under the CCAA the court must make an additional order granting such relief ⁴⁷⁹. This difference is introduced to mirror the method through which such relief is granted in local insolvency proceedings under these acts ⁴⁸⁰. Nevertheless, this difference does not make such relief less available under the CCAA cross-border provisions than under those of the BIA since the courts,

⁴⁷⁶ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 46; BIA, *supra* note 451 s 269.

⁴⁷⁷ Ziegel, Cross-Border Insolvency, *supra* note 455 at 299.

⁴⁷⁸ BIA, *supra* note 451 s 271 (1).

⁴⁷⁹ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 48 (1).

⁴⁸⁰ Sarra, Northern lights, *supra* note 287 at 47; In local insolvency proceedings, the stay of proceedings under the BIA flows automatically after the granting of the bankruptcy order while under the CCAA is derived from a court order. This distinction is made because of the need to tailor the stay according to the circumstances of the particular case in CCAA proceedings. See Wood, Bankruptcy, *supra* note 24 at 333.

under the CCAA regime, are required, after recognizing the foreign main proceeding, to make orders granting such relief⁴⁸¹.

After the recognition of a foreign main proceeding, both the CCAA and the BIA require that the commencement or the continuation of any action, execution or proceeding against the debtor is stayed, and the debtor is prohibited from disposing of its assets outside of the ordinary course of its business⁴⁸². This stay and prohibition reflect the automatic relief adopted by the Model Law 483. Also, in accordance with the Model Law, the Canadian provisions state that the scope of this stay and prohibition will be determined by the Canadian insolvency law. The CCAA provides that the order staying the actions against the creditor and prohibiting the debtor from disposing of its assets must be consistent with a similar order that may be granted in a local proceeding commenced under the CCAA⁴⁸⁴. Similarly, the BIA states that any exceptions that would have been applied if the foreign proceeding had been commenced under the BIA apply to this relief⁴⁸⁵.

Also in accordance with the Model Law, the Canadian provisions state that the granting of automatic relief does not preclude the commencement of local insolvency proceedings⁴⁸⁶. Nevertheless, the Canadian provisions do not expressly provide that the stay of proceedings does not affect the right to commence actions needed for the protection of a right ⁴⁸⁷. However, this omission is not material. Under both the CCAA and the BIA, the courts have the power to lift the

⁴⁸¹ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 48 (1). It is worth noting that, as the studied Canadian jurisprudence shows, the fact that the court under the CCAA must make an additional order granting automatic relief has no timing implications. Namely, such relief is ordered at the same time when the court makes the order recognizing the foreign proceeding as a foreign main proceeding. 482 CCAA, supra note 450 s 48 (1); BIA, supra note 451 s 271 (1).

⁴⁸³ Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 48.

⁴⁸⁴ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 48 (2).

⁴⁸⁵ BIA, *supra* note 451 s 271 (3).

⁴⁸⁶ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 48 (4); BIA, *ibid* at s 271 (4).

⁴⁸⁷ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 20 (3).

stay when a creditor is materially prejudiced by the existence of the stay in local insolvency proceedings⁴⁸⁸. This power is relevant in the cross-border insolvency context since, as was previously mentioned, the scope of the automatic relief is determined under Canadian insolvency law.

The Canadian versions of the Model Law, reflecting the Model Law, empower the courts to grant discretionary relief in addition to the automatic relief. Similar to the Model Law, it allows courts to make any order that it considers appropriate if it is satisfied that it is necessary for the protection of the debtor's property or the interests of the creditors⁴⁸⁹. However, the Canadian provisions, in contrast with the Model Law, provide for a shorter list of illustrative orders that a court may grant. Particularly, they omit the Model Law provision authorizing the courts to remit the local assets for distribution in the foreign proceeding. The reason for such omission, one author assumes, could be the fear of the Canadian drafters that courts might abuse the power given by such a provision ⁴⁹⁰. However, the same author considers that this is a weak argument for excluding this provision since it could be brought against any provision that implies the application of discretionary powers⁴⁹¹. Despite this omission, the Canadian courts have the authority through common law to remit local assets⁴⁹² with the exception of immovable property⁴⁹³. Nevertheless, in respect of immovable property, the courts have bypassed this exception by allowing a local receiver appointed by the foreign representative to take control of

⁴⁸⁸ Sarra, Northern lights, *supra* note 287 at 49; Wood, Bankruptcy, *supra* note 24 at 157, 344.

⁴⁸⁹ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 49 (1); BIA, *supra* note 451 s 272 (1).

⁴⁹⁰ Ziegel, Cross-Border Insolvencies, *supra* note 455 at 299.

⁴⁹¹ Ibid

⁴⁹² IIT (Re) (1975), 58 DLR (3d) 55 (Ont SC) [IIT (Re)] cited in Ziegel, Jacob S., "Ships at Sea, International Insolvencies, and Divided Courts" (1998) 29 Can Bus LJ 417 at 426 [Ziegel, Ships at Sea].

⁴⁹³ Macdonald v. Georgian Bay Lumber Co. (1878), 2 SCR 364 (SCC) [Macdonald v. Georgian Bay] cited in Ziegel, Ships at Sea, ibid at 426.

the debtor's property⁴⁹⁴. These rules are relevant in the post Model Law period as the Canadian Model Law includes a provision authorizing courts to apply "any legal or equitable rules governing the recognition of foreign insolvency orders and assistance to foreign representatives", to the extent they are not inconsistent with the provisions of the CCAA or the BIA. The effect that this provision is intended to have is consistent with the Model Law since the Model Law itself encourages the courts in enacting states to provide any additional assistance available to a foreign representative under local law 496.

The Canadian versions of the Model Law make one more alteration to the Model Law provision regulating discretionary relief. In contrast to the Model Law, it does not limit the discretionary relief granted in favor of a foreign non-main proceeding to assets that should be administered in the foreign proceeding and to information that is required in that proceeding ⁴⁹⁷. The practical implication of this alteration is that a foreign non-main proceeding may enjoy more generous relief in Canada than in Model Law enacting countries that provide for such a limitation. However, this implication will not shatter the hierarchy between foreign main and non-main proceedings that the Model Law tried to establish by adopting this limitation. The Canadian versions of the Model Law have enacted the provision of the Model Law that ensures that any relief granted in favor of a foreign non-main proceeding will be revoked or amended if inconsistent with the relief granted in respect to a foreign main proceeding ⁴⁹⁸.

⁴⁹⁴ Duggan, Anthony J. & Jacob S. Ziegel, *Canadian Bankruptcy and Insolvency Law: Cases, Text and Materials*, 2d ed (Toronto: Emond Montgomery Publications, 2009) at 825 [Duggan, Canadian Bankruptcy].

⁴⁹⁵ CCAA, supra note 450 s 61 (1); BIA, supra note 451 s 284 (1).

⁴⁹⁶ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 7.

⁴⁹⁷ The Model Law, *ibid* at art 21 (3); CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 49; BIA, *supra* note 451 s 272.

⁴⁹⁸ CCAA, *ibid* at s 55 (1); BIA, *ibid* at s 278 (1).

Other provisions of the Model Law that Canadian legislators decided to adopt with alterations are those relating to cooperation between courts and insolvency representatives from different jurisdictions. The Canadian provisions do not state, as the Model Law does, that the Canadian courts and insolvency representatives are entitled to communicate with or request information from foreign courts and foreign representatives directly⁴⁹⁹. Nevertheless, this omission may not be material. The Canadian courts have communicated directly with their foreign counterparts and have requested information and assistance directly from foreign courts in a number of cases⁵⁰⁰.

The Canadian provisions enact the Model Law provisions regarding coordination of concurrent proceedings with two significant changes. Under the Model Law, a local insolvency proceeding, after recognition of a foreign main proceeding, can be commenced only if the debtor has assets in the territory of the recognizing court ⁵⁰¹. The Canadian provisions permit the commencement of such local proceedings even in the absence of such assets. Also, the Model Law provides that such local proceedings should encompass only local assets and assets that should be administered in the local proceeding ⁵⁰². The Canadian provisions do not limit the scope of the local proceedings. Considering the fact that bankruptcy and insolvency proceedings commenced in Canada extend to the property of the debtor wherever located ⁵⁰³, these deviations from the Model Law provisions on coordination of concurrent proceedings may lead to conflicting claims over assets ⁵⁰⁴. However, considering that under the Model Law scheme the claims of insolvency proceedings over foreign assets are determined in the recognizing state, such conflicting claims

10

⁴⁹⁹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 25 (2); BIA, *ibid* s 26 (2).

⁵⁰⁰ Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 51.

⁵⁰¹ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 art 28.

⁵⁰² Ihid

⁵⁰³ Under section 2 of the BIA "property" means the property of the debtor "whether situated in Canada or elsewhere", see *supra* note 451 s 2.

Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 55.

over assets may be avoided. If a Canadian insolvency proceeding is recognized by these countries as a foreign non-main proceeding, then this proceeding's scope will be limited to assets that the recognizing states consider necessary to be administered in the Canadian proceedings.

4.1.3 Model Law Provisions that are Omitted in the Relevant Parts of the CCAA and BIA

The omission of some of these provisions is probably not significant, as many of these provisions are redundant in the Canadian legal context⁵⁰⁵. These provisions include the following:

- the provision establishing the pre-eminence of the obligations of the enacting state
 deriving from a treaty to which the enacting state is a party over the provisions of the
 Model Law⁵⁰⁶;
- the provision determining the court competent to perform the actions specified by the
 Model Law⁵⁰⁷;
- the interpretation provision stating that the courts should interpret the Model Law having regard "to its international origin and to the need to perform uniformity in its application and the observance of good faith" ⁵⁰⁸;
- the provision granting to the foreign representative the right to apply directly to the local courts⁵⁰⁹;
- the provisions stating that the foreign representative may intervene in any proceeding in which the debtor is a party⁵¹⁰; and

508 *Ibid* at art 8.

⁵⁰⁵ Bélenger, *supra* note 454 at 297, 298.

⁵⁰⁶ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 3.

⁵⁰⁷ *Ibid* at art 4.

⁵⁰⁹ *Ibid* at art 9.

⁵¹⁰ *Ibid* at art 24.

 the provision granting foreign creditors access to insolvency proceedings in the enacting state⁵¹¹.

Other omitted provisions may, at least at first glance, raise concerns with respect to the compliance of the Canadian provisions with the Model Law. The Canadian versions of the Model Law omit the provision governing interim relief. This is the relief that may be granted at the discretion of the court after an application for recognition of the foreign proceeding is filed, but before the court makes a decision with respect to this application⁵¹². Despite this omission, one author argues, Canadian courts have sufficient discretion to grant such relief in favor of foreign proceedings⁵¹³.

Another significant provision absent in the relevant parts of the CCAA and the BIA is the general provision that ensures that when granting relief under the Model Law "the interests of creditors and other interested parties, including the debtor, are adequately protected". The omission of this key provision, arguably, is due to the specific meaning that the phrase "adequately protected" carries in some countries, such as the US, for instance 515. This protective Model Law provision envisions that when granting relief the court must weigh both the relief that the foreign representative requests and the interest of the persons involved in the particular cross-border insolvency case 516. The Canadian courts, even in the absence of such provision, have long engaged in balancing the interests of all the stakeholders involved in cross-border

5

⁵¹¹ *Ibid* at art 13.

⁵¹² *Ibid* at art 19.

⁵¹³ Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 50.

⁵¹⁴ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 22 (1).

⁵¹⁵ Bélenger, *supra* note 454 at 224; Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 48, 49. The *United States Bankruptcy Code*, 11 USC, Chapter 3 § 361 (1984) provides that a court may order that adequate protection be granted by the trustee to a secured creditor in the form of cash payment or periodic cash payments, an additional or replacement lien or other type of relief to the extent that the stay under section 362, use, sale, or lease under section 363 or any grant of lien under section 364 affects the value of the secured creditor's interest in the debtor's property. ⁵¹⁶ Sarra, Northern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 49.

insolvency cases when considering an application for relief⁵¹⁷. Due to this tradition, the omission of the protective Model Law provision should not be material.

Another omitted key provision is the provision that authorizes foreign representatives to commence avoidance actions in the recognizing state⁵¹⁸. Arguably, the Canadian drafters were concerned that the inclusion of this provision could have been interpreted as allowing the application of foreign avoidance rules, which could have been more generous than the local avoidance rules⁵¹⁹. Despite this omission, the foreign representatives are not left without any equivalent remedy. Under the BIA provision governing discretionary relief, the court has the authority to appoint a trustee as a receiver and direct it to take any action that the court considers appropriate, which would, presumably, include the taking of avoidance actions⁵²⁰. This relief may also be available under the CCAA, since the courts have broad powers for granting any order they consider appropriate at the request of a foreign representative⁵²¹.

In conclusion, even if the Canadian versions of the Model Law enacted the Model Law with considerable changes, these changes may turn out to be non-material. However, the achievement under the Canadian provisions of consistent results with results envisioned by the Model Law depends to a great extent on the interpretation of these provisions by Canadian courts.

⁵¹⁷ Holt Cargo Systems Inc. v. ABC Containerline N.V. (Trustee of), 2001 SCC 90, [2001] 3 SCR 907 at 33, 34, 87 cited in Sarra, Northern Lights, supra note 287 at 49.

⁵¹⁸ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 23.

⁵¹⁹ Ziegel, Cross-Border Insolvency, *supra* note 455 at 298.

⁵²⁰ Sarra, Norhtern Lights, *supra* note 287 at 51.

⁵²¹ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 49 (1).

4.2 Recognition of Foreign Proceedings

Under the Model Law, recognition is not automatic; courts should consider certain criteria when deciding to grant recognition ⁵²². According to article 17 of the Model Law, such criteria include formal requirements and certain basic elements that the foreign proceeding and the foreign representative must satisfy. These basic elements are derived from the definitions of a foreign proceeding and foreign representative provided in article 2 of the Model Law. The definitions are drafted in broad terms so as to encompass the wide ranging types of insolvency proceedings and insolvency representatives existent in different legal systems ⁵²³. A restrictive interpretation of these terms by courts can possibly reduce the instances when recognition may be granted. A restrictive interpretation of the Model Law based provisions by the courts of enacting states can be one that does not take into account the international origin of these provisions and that limits the scope of these provisions by giving a local meaning to the terms included in these definitions ⁵²⁴.

Recognition of foreign proceedings is a key feature of the Model Law. An order granting such recognition makes available to the foreign proceedings all the mechanisms, such as relief and cooperation with local courts, provided by the Model Law for the facilitation of the administration of cross-border insolvency proceedings. Refusal of recognition brings back the situations possible under territorialism, such as the commencing of full parallel insolvency proceedings, the race of creditors for the assets of the debtor or the concealment of such assets by

Mevorach, Irit, "On the Road to Universalism: A Comparative and Empirical Study of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency" (2011) 12:4 European Business Organization Law Review 517 at 525 [Irit, On the Road to Universalism].

⁵²³ The Working Group's Nineteenth Session Report, *supra* note 258 at paras 46 – 54.

The Model Law at article 8 provides that when interpreting this Law's provisions to be mindful of its international origin and to the need to promote uniformity in its application.

the debtor. Accordingly, for the Model Law objectives to be promoted, courts should not interpret the two definitions restrictively.

4.2.1 Canadian Judgments

To date, Canadian courts have found foreign proceedings commenced in various countries, such as the United States 525, the United Kingdom 526, Germany 527 and Mexico 528 to meet the criteria set by the definition of foreign proceeding included in the Canadian versions of the Model Law. Making such determinations, the courts have often relied on the provisions that entitled the courts to accept the documents, as the certified copy of the instrument that commenced the foreign proceeding or a certificate from the foreign court that confirmed the existence of the foreign proceeding, as proof that the foreign proceeding for which recognition was requested in Canada was a foreign proceeding for the purpose of the BIA or CCAA as the case may be 529. For this reason, the Canadian courts applying the Model Law based provisions on recognition of foreign proceedings have not engaged in an in-depth analysis of the definition of foreign proceeding so as to provide insight into their approach to the interpretation of this definition. However, we can derive some knowledge about their approach to this matter by looking at the interpretation these courts have given to the definition of foreign proceeding that existed in

⁵²⁵ Gyro – Trac (USA) Inc et Raymond Chabot inc, 2010 QCCS 1321, 66 CBR 5th 170 (Qc SC) [Gyro - Trac]; Probe Resources Ltd (Re), 2011 BCSC 552 (available on CanLII) [Probe Resources]; Re Xerium Technologies Inc, 2010 ONSC 3974, 71 CBR (5th) 30; Digital Domain Media Group, Inc (Re), 2012 BCSC 1565 (available on CanLII) [Digital Domain]; Hartford Computer Hardware, Inc (Re), 2012 ONSC 964 (available on CanLII) [Hartford]; Lightsquared LP (Re), 2012 ONSC 2994 (available on CanLII) [Lightsquared]; Massachusetts Elephant & Castle Group, Inc (Re), 2011 ONSC 4201 (available on CanlII) [Massachusetts Elephant].

⁵²⁶ Tucker v Aero Inventory (UK) Limited, [2009] OJ No 4797 (Ont SC) [Tucker].

⁵²⁷ Burckhardt Reimer (Re), 2012 BCSC 2091 (available on CanLII) [Burckhardt].

⁵²⁸ Compania Mexicana de Aviacion, S.A. de C.V. (5 August 2010), Montreal 500-11-039418-104 (SCQ) (Order on Motion for Recognition of Foreign Proceeding), online: http://www.deloitte.com/assets/Dcom-Canada/Local%20Assets/Documents/Insolvencies/Mexicana/ca_en_insolv_Mexicana_OrderRecognitionForeignProceedings 080510.pdf>.

⁵²⁹ BIA, supra note 451 s 269 (2), (3); CCAA, supra note 450 s 46 (2), (3); Burckhardt, supra note 527 at paras 15, 16; Gyro – Trac, supra note 525 at paras 83 – 85.

Canadian legislation before and which has been abrogated by the enactment of the Model Law in Canada.

The interpretation given by courts to this abrogated definition is relevant for the present discussion. The abrogated definition was very similar to the Model Law definition of foreign proceeding; it stated that a foreign proceeding means "a judicial or administrative proceeding commenced outside Canada in respect of a debtor under a law relating to bankruptcy or insolvency and dealing with the collective interests of creditors generally", 530. This definition set almost the same criteria for assessing a foreign proceeding as the criteria included in the definition taken from the Model Law 531. In addition, there are at least two Canadian judgments that, in the context of the application of the Model Law definition of foreign proceeding, referenced leading judgments interpreting the abrogated definition of foreign proceeding 532. One such referenced judgment is *Babcocks & Wilcox Canada Ltd.* 533.

In the *BW Canada* case, the applicant, Babcocks & Wilcox Canada Ltd., a solvent Canadian company, applied for recognition and relief with respect to Chapter 11 restructuring proceedings commenced under the US Bankruptcy Court by its parent and several of its subsidiaries. The Canadian company was not a party to the Chapter 11 proceedings nor to any Canadian insolvency proceedings. The parent company and its subsidiaries had commenced the restructuring proceedings to protect themselves against mass asbestos claims that could have brought these companies to insolvency. Such claims could also have been advanced against the

⁵³⁰ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 18.6 (1).

The difference between the abrogated definition and the new definition is that the new definition specifies, by contrast to the abrogated definition, that the foreign proceeding must also be a proceeding in which the property and affairs of the debtor are subject to control or supervision by a foreign court, for the purpose of reorganization or liquidation, see CCAA, *ibid* at s 45 (1) and BIA, *supra* note 451 s 268 (1).

⁵³² Lightsquared, supra note 525 at para 18; Massachusetts Elephant, supra note 525 at para 13.

⁵³³ Babcock & Wilcox Canada Ltd, Re (2000), 5 BLR (3d) 75, 18 CBR (4th) 157 (Ont SC) [BW Canada].

Canadian subsidiary. As the Canadian subsidiary's funds were needed for the US restructuring proceedings to succeed, a stay of actions against the Canadian subsidiary was required. The US bankruptcy court made an order restraining the plaintiffs in the mass asbestos actions from commencing claims against "non-debtors affiliates". in the Chapter 11 proceedings and requested the Canadian courts to assist in the carrying out of the order. For this reason, the Canadian subsidiary filed for recognition of the Chapter 11 proceedings and for a stay of proceedings that could have been commenced against the Canadian subsidiary in Canada.

In order to decide whether recognition and relief was to be granted, the Canadian court had to consider whether the Chapter 11 proceedings were proceedings within the definition of foreign proceeding provided by s. 18.6 paragraph (1) of the CCAA (the abrogated definition). In this context there arose a question about the meaning of the "debtor" term contained in the definition. The Chapter 11 proceedings did not require that the debtor be insolvent. By contrast, for a debtor company to commence a CCAA restructuring proceeding, it had to prove that it was insolvent. Consequently, the question was whether or not the term "debtor" contained in s. 18.6 paragraph (1) of the CCAA required that the debtor in the foreign proceeding be insolvent. The court considered that it did not because the definition was intended to be given a broad scope:

...the 1997 Amendments [the amendments that introduced the abrogated definition of foreign proceeding] contemplated that it would be inappropriate to pigeonhole or otherwise constrain the interpretation of s. 18.6 since it would be not only impractical but also impossible to contemplate the myriad of circumstances arising under a wide variety of foreign legislation which deal generally and essentially with bankruptcy and insolvency but not exclusively so. ⁵³⁵

--

⁵³⁴ *Ibid* at para 2.

⁵³⁵ *Ibid* at para 17.

Accordingly, the court recognized that the Chapter 11 proceedings were foreign proceedings as defined by s. 18.6 (1) of the CCAA.

Being one of the first cases to consider the 1997 Amendments that dealt with international insolvencies at length⁵³⁶, the court listed certain factors that in its view could serve as guidance for courts when applying the provisions introduced by these amendments. One of the factors suggested that courts refuse recognition of a foreign proceeding in very limited circumstances:

Respect should be accorded to the overall thrust of foreign bankruptcy and insolvency legislation in any analysis, unless in substance generally is so different from the bankruptcy and insolvency law of Canada or perhaps the legal process that generates the foreign order diverges radically from the process here in Canada. ⁵³⁷

This case is enlightening because it shows that the Canadian courts take a liberal approach to interpreting the definition of foreign proceeding; namely, they recognize that foreign proceedings may include details unfamiliar to the local insolvency laws and that that is not a reason to deny recognition.

Such a liberal approach promotes the objective of facilitation of restructuring proceedings. This is evident in the *BW Canada* case. If the court had given to the term debtor an ordinary domestic meaning, and, for this reason, had refused to grant recognition, then such debtors as the debtors in the Chapter 11 proceedings in the *BW Canada* case would have not had access to a stay of proceedings in Canada. This would have been so because such debtors, being solvent, could not commence a CCAA proceeding to benefit from a stay that was usually granted in such

⁵³⁶ *Ibid* at para 1.

⁵³⁷ *Ibid* at para 21 (b).

proceedings. In this circumstance, a foreign proceeding, such as the Chapter 11 proceedings, could have failed.

As regards the interpretation of the definition of foreign representative, it could be said that the courts have interpreted this definition broadly. This is so because the Canadian courts have recognized as falling within this definition a wide variety of foreign representatives ranging from persons that were appointed by the foreign courts to supervise the insolvency proceedings in their respective jurisdictions⁵³⁸ to debtors that were allowed to remain in the possession of their property and to administer their insolvency under the supervision of the court⁵³⁹. Furthermore, the court in *Lightsquared*⁵⁴⁰ recognized as a foreign representative foreign representatives appointed on an interim basis, subject to the following condition⁵⁴¹. After recognizing the foreign representative appointed on an interim basis as a foreign representative in respect of the foreign proceeding, the court pointed out that if the status of the recognized foreign representative were altered by the foreign court then the issue of its recognition would have to be reviewed by the Canadian court⁵⁴².

4.2.2 British Judgments

Like Canadian courts, the British courts have recognized as foreign proceeding proceedings commenced and conducted in various jurisdictions including Norway⁵⁴³, Korea⁵⁴⁴, Antigua and

⁵³⁸ Chartrand, Rupert H., Sandra Abitan & Michael De Lellis, "Emerging Trends and Practices for Recognizing International Insolvencies Under New Part IV of the CCAA" (2011) 27:1 BFLR 125 at 132; *Burckhard, supra* note 527 at paras 1, 16.

⁵³⁹ Digital Domain, supra note 525 at paras 16, 17.

⁵⁴⁰ *Lightsquared, supra* note 525.

⁵⁴¹ Lightsquared, ibid at para 20.

⁵⁴² *Ibid*.

European Insurance Agency AS (7 September 2006), Bristol 6BS30434 (UKHC (Ch)), online: https://www.insol.org/_files/Model%20Law/UK/European%20Insurance%20Agency%202006.pdf [European Insurance Agency].

Barbuda⁵⁴⁵, the United States⁵⁴⁶, Denmark⁵⁴⁷ and Switzerland⁵⁴⁸. Some of these cases discuss questions relating to recognition, such as the interpretation of the definition of foreign proceeding, and they shed some light on the British courts' approach to these questions.

One of these cases is *Rubin v. Eurofinance SA*⁵⁴⁹. In this case, the foreign proceeding was a US bankruptcy proceeding commenced with respect to a business trust. The US insolvency laws allowed for bankruptcy proceedings to be brought against business trusts, although such entities were not considered to have separate legal personalities for any other purposes⁵⁵⁰. Under English law, the business trust was not considered to have a separate legal personality, not even for the purpose of insolvency laws; consequently, it could not be the subject of English insolvency laws⁵⁵¹. The opponent to the application for recognition of the foreign US proceeding submitted that the term "debtor" contained in the definition of foreign proceeding in CBIR should be given "its ordinary meaning under the English law",552 and that for this reason there was no debtor and CBIR did not apply⁵⁵³. The court expressly rejected such an interpretation of the "debtor" term. It held that, in the context of the definition of foreign proceedings, giving the term debtor any other meaning than that intended in the foreign proceeding would be "perverse". Furthermore, it stated that its approach to the interpretation of this term was supported by the Model Law provisions. Specifically the court held that:

⁵⁴⁴ Samsun Logix Corporation v Def, [2009] EWHC 576, [2009] BPIR 1502 (Ch) [Samsun].

⁵⁴⁵ Stanford International Bank Limited, Re, [2009] EWHC 1441, [2009] BPIR 1511 (CH) [Stanford].

⁵⁴⁶ Rubin & Anor v Eurofinance SA & Ors, [2009] EWHC 2129, [2009] BPIR 1478 (Ch) [Rubin].

⁵⁴⁷ Larsen & Anor (Foreign Representatives of Atlas Bulk Shipping AS) & Anor v Navios International Inc, [2011] EWHC 878, [2012] Bus LR 1124 [Larsen v Navios].

⁵⁴⁸ Cosco Bulk Carrier Co Ltd v Armada Sipping SA & Anor, [2011] EWHC 216, [2011] 2 All ER (Comm) 481 at para 1. ⁵⁴⁹ *Rubin, supra* note 546.

⁵⁵⁰ *Ibid* at para 10.

⁵⁵¹ *Ibid* at para 36.

⁵⁵² *Ibid*.

⁵⁵³ *Ibid*. ⁵⁵⁴ *Ibid* at para 39.

...article 8 provides that in interpreting the Law [the Model Law] regard is to be had to its international origin and to the need to promote uniformity in its application. Both these considerations would be disregarded if the court were to adopt a parochial interpretation of "debtor" and as a result refuse to provide any assistance in relation to a bona fide insolvency proceeding taking place in a foreign jurisdiction. ⁵⁵⁵

This case is significant as it shows that, similar to Canadian courts, British courts are inclined to adopt a liberal interpretation and refuse to infuse the terms provided in the Model Law provisions with local meaning.

Another relevant case with respect to the British courts' approach to the interpretation of the definition of foreign proceeding is *Re Stanford International Bank*⁵⁵⁶. In this case, the High Court of Justice received two applications for recognition of two distinct proceedings opened with respect to the same company in different countries. The company, Stanford International Bank Ltd (SIB), was a company incorporated in Antigua that also maintained its registered office there. SIB was part of Sir Allen Stanford's business empire that collapsed due to allegations that Sir Allen and his associates had been engaged in a fraudulent Ponzi scheme that defrauded investors worldwide⁵⁵⁷. On 16 February 2009, the United States Security Exchange Commission filed a complained against Sir Allen, his associates, SIB, Stanford Group Company and Stanford Capital Management, LLC alleging, among other causes of action, securities fraud⁵⁵⁸. The US court made an order appointing a receiver over the worldwide assets of Sir Allen, his associates, SIB, Stanford Group Company and Stanford Capital Management, LLC and other legal entities owned and controlled by any of them⁵⁵⁹.

⁵⁵⁵ *Ibid* at para 40.

⁵⁵⁶ Stanford, supra note 545.

⁵⁵⁷ *Ibid* at para 1.

⁵⁵⁸ *Ibid*.

⁵⁵⁹ Ibid.

At the same time, the Antigua regulatory authorities took action against SIB⁵⁶⁰. On 19 February 2009, the Financial Services Regulatory Commission of Antigua and Barbuda appointed receiver-managers for SIB. A week later the Antiguan court appointed the receiver-managers as Antiguan receivers of the SIB. On 24 March 2009, the Financial Services Regulatory Commission of Antigua and Barbuda filed a petition to the Antiguan court seeking an order for the winding up of SIB and the appointment of the Antiguan receivers as liquidators⁵⁶¹. The Antiguan court granted an order on this petition for the winding up of the SIB and appointed the Antiguan receivers as liquidators⁵⁶².

Both the US receiver and the Antiguan liquidators filed for recognition to the High Court of Justice under CBIR for the proceedings in which they were appointed. The High Court held that the US receivership was not a foreign proceeding for the purpose of the CBIR and that the Antiguan liquidation was such a proceeding.

In arriving at its conclusion, the court did not assess whether the foreign proceedings were foreign proceedings as defined by the Model Law by reference to the local insolvency laws, but by reference to the criteria set by the relevant definition. This definition specified that the proceeding be:

- (a) a collective judicial or administrative proceeding;
- (b) based in a law relating to insolvency;
- (c) a proceeding in which the assets and affairs of the debtor are subject to control or supervision by a foreign court; and

⁵⁶⁰ Ibid.

⁵⁶¹ *Ibid*.

⁵⁶² *Ibid*.

(d) for the purpose of reorganization or liquidation⁵⁶³.

The court held that to be a collective proceeding, the foreign proceeding had to be for the benefit of all the creditors generally and to contemplate a *pari passu* distribution to all the creditors. Such an interpretation of the criterion of collectivity is not restrictive, as the *pari passu* distribution that encompasses all the creditors' claims is the basic principle of insolvency laws⁵⁶⁴. The US receivership did not comply with this criterion. It was appointed for the purpose of collecting and preserving the debtor's assets for the benefit of the investors only, and it did not preclude creditors from commencing individual proceeding against the debtor, in certain circumstances⁵⁶⁵.

Interpreting the criterion as "a law relating to insolvency", the court adopted a non-restrictive approach. Its reasoning suggested that the foreign proceeding did not have to be commenced pursuant to a written statute; it could be commenced by order of a court pursuant to the general common law rules⁵⁶⁶. In addition, it was suggested that the provisions under which the foreign proceeding was commenced did not have to deal with insolvency exclusively; it was only required that the proceedings be commenced pursuant to these provisions on the ground that the debtor was insolvent⁵⁶⁷. The US receivership did not comply with this criterion either; the court order pursuant to which this proceeding was commenced was not based on the insolvency of the debtor, but on the need to prevent the dissipation of the debtor's assets because of the debtor's involvement in securities fraud. By contrast, the Antiguan liquidation was found to be commenced pursuant to a law relating to insolvency, even if it was governed by an act concerned

5

⁵⁶³ Ibid at para 37.

⁵⁶⁴ Clark, Sacred Cow, *supra* note 165 at 574; Fletcher, Insolvency in private International Law, *supra* note 1 at 9.

⁵⁶⁵ Stanford, supra note 545 at paras 79, 84.

⁵⁶⁶ Ibid at para 84 vii), ix).

⁵⁶⁷ *Ibid* at paras 86 - 95.

with the winding up of companies and did not expressly refer to insolvency. The order of the Antiguan court was made pursuant to a provision that allowed for winding up provisions to be commenced on just and equitable grounds, which included the insolvency of the debtor as such a ground; this was the ground on which the Antiguan court relied when making the winding up order.

The US liquidators appealed the judgment of the court of the first instance. The Court of Appeal approved the judgment and agreed with the reasons for the judgment. It also emphasized that, in view of its international origin and objectives, the Model Law "should not be construed by reference to any particular national system of law"⁵⁶⁸. It stated that the Model Law "is intended to embrace all systems of law which satisfy the conditions described in the definitions"⁵⁶⁹ of foreign proceeding and foreign representative so as to allow for reciprocal recognition of proceedings between all the states that might enact the Model Law.

Accordingly, the British courts' approach to the determination of the nature of a foreign proceeding is a liberal one and permits recognition of foreign proceedings that satisfy the broadly interpreted criteria set by the Model Law definition of foreign proceedings.

As regards the recognition of foreign representatives under CBIR, it could be inferred from the cases concerned with this matter that the British courts interpret the relevant definition broadly. The British courts have recognized foreign representatives appointed in different countries and in various types of insolvency procedures⁵⁷⁰.

⁵⁶⁸ Stanford International Bank Ltd, Re, [2010] EWCA Civ 137, [2010] 3 WLR 941 at para 23 [Stanford].

⁵⁶⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁷⁰ See for instance, *European Insurance Agency*, *supra* note 543, *Larson v Navios*, *supra* note 547 at para 13; *Samsun, supra* note 544 at paras 5, 6.

4.3 The Determination of COMI of the Debtor

A centralized administration of cross-border insolvency cases is generally considered to be efficient and fair. Having separate insolvency proceedings in each country where a debtor has assets impedes a rescue or a sale as a going concern of the debtor's property ⁵⁷¹; allowing the distribution of a debtor's assets to occur according to one distribution scheme results in equal treatment of the creditors of the same class ⁵⁷². For this reason, the Model Law scheme tries to consolidate the government of cross-border insolvency cases under a main proceeding.

The location of the main proceeding depends on the determination of the debtor's COMI⁵⁷³. As there must be only one main proceeding, it must be true that each debtor should have only one COMI⁵⁷⁴. The concept of COMI is not defined by the Model Law. Even if courts have multiple sources to which they could look for guidance when interpreting this concept⁵⁷⁵, it still remains a broad standard, as opposed to a bright-line rule⁵⁷⁶. In view of its flexibility, courts from different countries may adopt differing interpretations. Inconsistent interpretation of COMI can result in multiple main proceedings competing for control over the debtor's property⁵⁷⁷.

Also, inconsistent interpretations of COMI raise the cost of credit. The pricing of credit depends on how accurately the creditors can predict the outcome of insolvency of their debtor⁵⁷⁸. If the

⁻

Moss, Gabriel QC, "Group Insolvency – Choice of Forum and Law: The European Experience under the Influence of English Pragmatism. (Symposium: Bankruptcy in the Global Village the Second Decade)" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 1005 at 1008 [Moss, Group Insolvencies]; Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *supra* note 3 at 465.

⁵⁷² Westbrook, Theory and Pragmatism, *ibid* at 466.

⁵⁷³ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 17 (2).

⁵⁷⁴ Pottow, The Myth, *supra* note 135 at 792.

Legislative Guide on Insolvency, *supra* note 320 at 41; Recent amendments of the Guide to Enactment: UN Doc, Interpretation and Application of Selected Concepts, *supra* note 323 at paras 31, 31A-C.

⁵⁷⁶ Pottow, The Myth, *supra* note 135 at 791, 792.

⁵⁷⁷ Bufford, The Honorable Samuel L., "Centre of Main Interests, International Insolvency Case Venue, and Equality of Arms: The *Eurofood* Decision of the European Court Of Justice" (2007) 27:2 Nw J Int'l L & Business 351 at 382.

Garrido, The Distributional Question, *supra* note 369 at 469.

outcome is uncertain, the price will likely rise. Under the Model Law, the outcome of insolvency of a debtor will largely depend on the law applicable in the main proceeding; thus, it is important for the creditors to determine with reasonable accuracy where that main proceeding will be commenced prior to entering into a transaction. Therefore, they need to know how to determine the COMI of the debtor, since COMI is the criterion that indicates the jurisdiction entitled to conduct the main proceeding.

4.3.1 Canadian Judgments

In the *Massachusetts* case⁵⁷⁹, the lead debtor in the Chapter 11 proceedings commenced pursuant to the US Bankruptcy Code with respect to fourteen members of a business enterprise group, was seeking an order from a Canadian court recognizing those proceedings as foreign main proceedings. Among the fourteen members of this group, all but three companies were incorporated in the US. These three companies were incorporated in Canada where they also had their registered offices⁵⁸⁰. All group members operated and franchised restaurant-pubs in the US and Canada⁵⁸¹.

To recognize the foreign proceedings as foreign main proceedings, the court had to determine the COMI of the debtors. The court held that the determination of COMI had to be made with respect to each company individually⁵⁸². The court started its COMI analysis by recalling the presumption that the registered office of each debtor was its respective COMI. It determined that the registered office of the Canadian subsidiaries was in Canada and that, in view of this fact, their COMIs were deemed to be located in Canada provided there was no proof to the contrary.

⁵⁷⁹ Massachusetts Elephant, supra note 525.

⁵⁸⁰ *Ibid* at para 6.

⁵⁸¹ *Ibid* at para 4.

⁵⁸² *Ibid* at para 20.

However, the applicant submitted that the COMI of each of the Canadian subsidiaries was located in the US. Subsequently, the court determined that it had to decide whether there was sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption established in favor of the registered office.

In support of its position, the applicant pointed to the following facts: the head offices of all of the Chapter 11 debtors, including the Canadian subsidiaries, were consolidated and located in the US; all the decisions with respect to the operations of all of the members of the group were taken from the consolidated head offices in the US; all of the members of the management of the Chapter 11 debtors were located in the US; almost all of the administrative functions, such as human resources and financial functions, were located in the US; the information technology functions were also provided from the US; and one of the Canadian subsidiaries was the parent of a group of restaurants which operated only in the US⁵⁸³.

At this point, the court considered it relevant to add that there were other facts that seemed to oppose the applicant's submission. These included the facts that almost half of the operating locations of the group were in Canada, that nearly half the total number of employees were working in Canada, and that a substantial lender of the applicant (a US company, also a debtor under the Chapter 11) was a Canadian company. However, this lender was not opposing the application.

The court held that when determining whether the presumption was rebutted, depending on the circumstances of the particular case, some factors might be more important than others⁵⁸⁴. For instance, the court said that the location of the debtor's primary bank could be an important

⁵⁸³ *Ibid* at para 23. ⁵⁸⁴ *Ibid* at para 28.

factor only if the bank had a significant control over the debtor. However, the court considered that there were factors that would be important in every case. These include:

- (a) the location of the debtor's headquarters or head office functions or nerve centre;
- (b) the location of the debtor's management; and
- (c) the location recognized by significant creditors as being the centre of the company's operations. 585

It added that other factors might also be relevant in particular circumstances and should be considered only to the extent that they were related to or reinforced these three factors⁵⁸⁶.

Based on this, the court concluded that the presumption was rebutted, and the COMI of each of the Canadian debtors was in the US. It stated that the head office and the nerve centre of all of the Chapter 11 debtors and all of their management were in the US; the substantial Canadian lender did not oppose the application.

The approach taken in *Massachusetts* was subsequently refined by the court in *Lightsquared*⁵⁸⁷. In this case, the debtors were all members of a business enterprise group composed of 20 companies. All the members of the group filed for reorganization proceedings under the Chapter 11 provisions of the Bankruptcy Code of the US. Also, all of these companies, except for four of them, were incorporated and had their head offices in the US. Of these four companies, three of them, SkyTerra Holding Canada Inc., SkyTerra Canada Inc. and Lightsquared Corp., were incorporated in Canada⁵⁸⁸.

The operations of the Canadian companies can be summarized as follows. Sky Terra Canada Inc.'s sole purpose was to hold certain regulated assets in Canada. Its assets were a satellite,

⁵⁸⁵ *Ibid* at para 30.

⁵⁸⁶ *Ibid* at para 31.

⁵⁸⁷ *Lightsquared, supra* note 525.

⁵⁸⁸ *Ibid* at para 9.

certain licenses and a number of contracts with other members of the group and third parties. It had no third party customers and no employees at the time of the application, and its operations were funded by its parent. SkyTerra Holding Canada Inc. was created to hold the shares of Sky Terra Canada Inc.; it had no employees and no operational functions. Lightsquared Corp.'s function was to provide services to Canadian customers based on products and services developed by the group for US customers. It held certain assets and had 43 employees in Canada. The employees worked at its offices in Ottawa, Ontario. Furthermore, its operations were funded by its parent.

The applicant in this case was seeking recognition of the Chapter 11 proceedings as foreign main proceedings. Submitting that the COMI of each of the Chapter 11 debtors was in the US, the applicant relied on the following facts: the corporate decisions on behalf of all the Chapter 11 debtors were made at the consolidated offices in the US; the majority of the employee administration, human resources functions, communication and marketing decisions on behalf of all the debtors were made in the US; the senior executives of all of these debtors were located in the US; the majority of the debtors' managers were shared; all the group members shared a cash management system that was overseen by employees in the US; the Canadian debtors had guaranteed the loan of their parent, and the guarantee was secured on these debtors' assets; thus, the Canadian companies shared the creditors with their parent (a US company).

The court, having recognized that there was a presumption in favor of the registered office, held that there were three main factors that would tend to indicate whether the jurisdiction where the debtor had its COMI was other than the jurisdiction of the registered office. These were:

(a) the location is readily ascertainable by creditors;

- (b) the location is one in which the debtor's principal assets or operations are found; and
- (c) the location is where the management of the debtor takes place. 589

It added that, usually, these factors would all point to a single jurisdiction. Where they would conflict, courts would have to scrutinize the facts more carefully. At any rate, the courts would have to determine whether the jurisdiction where the foreign proceeding was commenced corresponded with the actual location of the debtor's true seat or principal place of business, which should be "consistent with the expectations of those who dealt with the enterprise prior to commencement of the proceedings".590.

Having recognized that COMI must be determined with respect to each company, notwithstanding that there were members of the same business enterprise group, the court stated, after applying the three factors to the facts of the case, that the presumption was rebutted and that the COMIs of all the members of the group, including the Canadian debtors, were in the US. The court recognized the foreign proceeding as a foreign main proceeding ⁵⁹¹.

The approach to the determination of COMI developed in the *Lightsquared* case was subsequently applied in *Allied Systems Holdings Inc.* (Re)⁵⁹² and *Digital Domain*⁵⁹³. In both of these cases, the foreign representative applied for recognition of US Chapter 11 proceedings commenced with respect to several members of a business enterprise group as foreign main proceedings. In both of these cases, some members of these groups had their registered offices in Canada.

⁵⁸⁹ *Ibid* at para 25.

⁵⁹⁰ *Ibid* at para 26.

⁵⁹¹ *Ibid* at paras 30, 31.

⁵⁹² Allied Systems Holdings, Inc (Re) 2012 ONSC 4343 [Allied Systems Holdings].

⁵⁹³ *Diaital Domain, supra* note 525.

In the *Allied Systems Holdings* case, the Canadian companies were Allied Systems Canada and Axis Canada. Allied Systems had its principal place of business in Hamilton, Ontario; however, only minimal administrative functions of this company were carried out in Canada. Axis had its principal place of business in Atlanta, Georgia. Both companies were managed from the US. By reference to these facts, and to the three factors from *Lightsquared*, the court found that the COMI of each of the two Canadian companies was in the US.

In the *Digital Domain* case, the business enterprise group involved in the Chapter 11 restructuring in the US was developing "computer-generated imagery, animation and visual effects for major motion picture studios and advertisers" It was composed of fourteen companies, thirteen of which were US companies that were also conducting their business in that country. The fourteenth company was a Canadian subsidiary company that operated in Vancouver. The operations of the Canadian subsidiary were an integral and substantial part of the entire group's operations. The Canadian company was operating from leased premises and had approximately 260 employees.

The court first acknowledged the operation of the presumption that the registered office of a debtor was, in absence of proof to the contrary, deemed to be the debtor's COMI. Accordingly, the court found that in order to recognize the foreign proceeding commenced with respect to the Canadian subsidiary as a foreign main proceeding, it must be satisfied that there was sufficient proof to rebut the presumption.

The applicant identified the following factors in support of its application that the COMI of each of the members of the corporate group, including that of the Canadian subsidiary, was in the US:

⁵⁹⁴ *Ibid* at para 2.

the nerve centre or the head office functions of the entire corporate group was located in the US, and it was a location readily ascertainable by creditors; the principal assets of the group were movie projects that were the main source of revenue for the group and that originated and were being operated from US headquarters; the group's management was centralized and performed from its consolidated headquarters; all the corporate decisions on behalf of all of the members of the group were also taken at the group's headquarters; all business operations for all group members were conducted in the US; all of the members of the senior management were located in the US, and Digital Vancouver's personnel reported to senior management in the US; the Digital Vancouver's accounting and collection functions were managed from the US; all the proprietary technology used by Digital Vancouver was owned by a US group member company; all Digital Vancouver's productions projects were developed by employees in the US, and Digital Vancouver did not have any authorization to engage in the marketing or sale of its products or services⁵⁹⁵.

Applying the three factor list from *Lightsquared*, the court concluded that each member company, including the Canadian subsidiary, had its COMI in the US. With respect to the Canadian subsidiary, the court held that the fact that its registered office was in Vancouver was not decisive. This was particularly so due to mitigating facts including: the management of the subsidiary occurred in the US; its operations, to a large extent, were conducted in the US, and creditors dealing with the Canadian subsidiary, in the court's opinion, would see the US as its COMI.

-

⁵⁹⁵ *Ibid* at para 25.

It may be inferred from these cases that the Canadian approach to identifying the COMI is based on the following principles⁵⁹⁶. The determination of COMI is made on an entity basis as opposed to a corporate group basis. The COMI of a debtor is presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, to be the debtor's registered office. When considering whether the COMI of the debtor is in a jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction of its registered office, the courts do not apply any rigorous test. This means that they do not find one factor to be determinative, but rather they consider many factors to be relevant. What factors are relevant depend on the particular circumstances of the case. However, the factors considered in each particular case are those that will indicate the place where the management and operational functions are actually carried out, and whether that place is ascertainable by creditors as the debtor's COMI. When all these factors pointed to a jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction of the registered office, they were considered sufficient to rebut the presumption, even if the Canadian companies had assets and employees located at its registered office as well as Canadian creditors⁵⁹⁷.

Despite the clear and useful guidance that these cases offer with respect to the governing principles over a determination of COMI, there is some uncertainty as to how the courts determined what were the perceptions of creditors in respect of the location of the debtor's COMI.

As all these cases were concerned with finding the COMI of legal persons, the following principles may not apply to the determination of the COMI of natural persons.

⁵⁹⁷ See particularly *Massachusetts Elephant, supra* note 525 at 25.

4.3.2 British Judgments

In the *Stanford*⁵⁹⁸ case, the case where competing applications were filed for recognition as foreign main proceedings of foreign proceedings commenced in respect of the same company (SIB) in Antigua and the US, the Antiguan Liquidator and the US receiver were both claiming that the COMI of SIB was in their respective countries.

As the SIB had its registered office in Antigua, the court observed that Antigua was presumed, absent proof to the contrary, to be the SIB's COMI. Further, the court summarized the facts that it considered as being relevant when determining whether the presumption was rebutted. First, it considered the facts that, in its judgment, created the public face of the SIB, including the company's place of incorporation, the place of its physical headquarters, the place where the company's employees worked and where the operations departments were conducted, the information included in the disclosure statement provided to potential depositors and that included in its marketing materials, the identity of its creditors, the jurisdiction whose law governed the contracts that SIB entered into and the disputes that would have arisen from these contracts, the SIB's principal operating bank account, the location of SIB's assets, the place where the meetings of the Board of directors were held, and the place where the accounts of the SIB were audited. Next, the court considered it relevant to identify the facts that revealed the SIB's connections with the Stanford group. Finally, it considered the facts that in the court's view existed "behind the scene", namely the facts related to the fraud that the Stanford group was involved in, such as the persons who were making strategic decisions with respect to the group and the location of these persons.

⁵⁹⁸ Stanford, supra notes 545, 568.

⁵⁹⁹ Stanford, supra note 545 at para 29 – 31.

With all the considered facts in view, the court concluded that the COMI of SIB was in Antigua. It based its decision on the reasoning of the European Court of Justice that provided for the interpretation of COMI in the context of the Regulation⁶⁰⁰ in the *Re Eurofood IFSC Ltd* case⁶⁰¹. The court in *Stanford* decided to follow the ECJ' reasoning in *Eurofood* because the formulation and the context in which COMI was used in both the Regulation and the Model Law were similar, and because the drafters of the Model Law intended to provide a "complementary regime" to that created by the Regulation.

The *Eurofood* case presented the ECJ's interpretation of COMI. Eurofood was an Irish company that had its registered office in Dublin, Ireland. It was a wholly owned subsidiary of Parmalat SpA, a company incorporated in Italy. Eurofood's principal purpose was the "provision of financial facilities for companies in the Parmalat group" Both the Italian court and the Irish court commenced insolvency proceedings with respect to Eurofood. Both courts decided that the COMI of Eurofood was within their territory. The Italian insolvency representative appealed the Irish decision to the Supreme Court; the latter referred a number of questions to the ECJ. The fourth question asked the court to address the COMI issue:

Where (a) the registered office of a parent company and of its subsidiary are in two different Member States, (b) the subsidiary conducts the administration of its interests on a regular basis in a manner ascertainable by third parties and in complete and regular respect for its own corporate identity in the Member State where its registered office is situated and (c) the parent company is in a position, by virtue of its shareholding and power to appoint directors, to control and does in fact control the policy of the subsidiary, in determining the "centre of main interests", are the governing factors those referred to at (b) above or on the other hand those referred to at (c) above? 604

⁶⁰⁰ The Regulation, *supra* note 21.

⁶⁰¹ Eurofood IFSC Ltd, C-341/04, [2006] ECR I-3854 [Eurofood].

⁶⁰² Stanford, supra note 545 at para 45.

⁶⁰³ Eurofood, supra note 601 at I-3862.

⁶⁰⁴ *Ibid* at I-3865.

The ECJ court first stated that by establishing the presumption that the place of the company's registered office, in the absence of proof to the contrary, shall be the company's COMI, the Regulation suggested that the determination of COMI be made with respect to each company individually. The court further relied on the definition of COMI provided by recital 13 of the Regulation. That definition stated that "the "centre of main interests" should correspond to the place where the debtor conducts the administration of his interests on a regular basis and is therefore ascertainable to third parties". The court interpreted that definition as suggesting that COMI had to be identified by reference to factors that were both "objective and ascertainable by third parties".606. The court considered that only such factors could ensure "legal certainty".607 and "foreseeability",608 with respect to the court that would have jurisdiction to conduct the administration of the main insolvency proceeding and, thus, of the law that would apply in that proceeding. Based on such an approach to the determination of COMI, the court concluded that the presumption in favor of the registered office of the company could only be rebutted if there were factors that were both objective and ascertainable by third parties that showed that "an actual situation exists which is different from that which locating [the COMI] at [the registered office of the company] is deemed to reflect." The court stated that such a situation could exist in the case of a "letterbox company" 610 that was not carrying out any business in the country of its registered office. By contrast, when a subsidiary company carried out its business in the country of its registered office, the simple fact that its decisions were or could be controlled by

⁶⁰⁵ The Regulation, supra note 21 at Recital 13.

⁶⁰⁶ Eurofood, supra note 601 at I-3868.

⁶⁰⁷ *Ibid*.

⁶⁰⁸ Ibid.

⁶⁰⁹ *Ibid*.

⁶¹⁰ *Ibid*.

its parent located in another country was not sufficient to rebut the presumption established in favor of the registered office.

What *Eurofood* decided was that, in order to show that the presumption was rebutted, it had to be demonstrated that the jurisdiction where the debtor conducted its business was other than the jurisdiction where it had its registered office and that this situation might be ascertainable to third parties⁶¹¹.

By deciding to rely on the approach taken by ECJ in *Eurofood* to identify SIB's COMI, the British court refused to follow its own judgment given in a previous case concerned with the determination of COMI. The court stated that "the head office function" test applied in that judgment was the wrong test for determining COMI. According to this test, the presumption in favor of the registered office was rebutted if it could be shown that the economic decisions of the company were made or controlled from a jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction where the registered office of the company was⁶¹³. The reason for rejecting this test was that looking only at the place where the head office functions were actually carried out, without determining whether that place was ascertainable by third parties, would be inconsistent with the purpose of COMI to provide for legal certainty and foreseeability for parties dealing with the company⁶¹⁴.

Further, the court was concerned with determining what was meant by "ascertainable" ⁶¹⁵. The court refused to follow the interpretation proposed by the US receivers because it made the requirement of ascertainability almost insignificant. According to the US receivers, the

⁶¹¹ Gaillot, Laurent "The Interpretation by French Courts of the EU COMI Notion: an EU Perspective", (2006) 16:2 Newsletter of the IBA Insolvency, Restructuring and Creditors' Rights Section 38 at 39 [Gaillot, French Courts and COMI].

⁶¹² Stanford, supra note 545 at para 61.

⁶¹³ *Ibid* at para 60.

⁶¹⁴ *Ibid* at para 61.

⁶¹⁵ *Ibid* at para 62

information that had to be considered ascertainable did not necessarily have to be in the public domain, but rather it had to be what an honest answer to a question asked by a third party would reveal⁶¹⁶. Instead, the court agreed with the interpretation given to this requirement by the Antiguan liquidator. This definition stated specifically that "ascertainable by a third party was what was in the public domain and what a typical third party would learn as a result of dealing with the company"⁶¹⁷. This was the preferred interpretation because it did not place a heavy burden on the creditors as that would require them to make inquiries prior to dealing with the debtor in order to discern whether the actual facts differed from what was apparent⁶¹⁸.

Based on the reasoning in *Eurofood*, the court held that when it was necessary to show that the COMI of the debtor was in a jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction of the registered office the presumption in favor of the registered office could only be rebutted by objective factors, and those factors could only count if they were also ascertainable by third parties⁶¹⁹.

The court found that the facts supported rather than rebutted the presumption. The physical headquarters of SIB and most of its employees were located in Antigua; the law governing the contracts concluded by SIB with investors and other creditors was the law of Antigua; SIB's marketing materials presented it as an Antiguan company; private banking facilities offered by SIB were provided from Antigua; and the SIB's accounts were audited by Antiguan accountants and regulated by Antiguan regulators.

⁶¹⁶ *Ibid*.

⁶¹⁷ Ibid.

⁶¹⁸ *Ibid*.

⁶¹⁹ *Ibid* at para 70.

The approach to making a COMI identification developed in the *Stanford* case was subsequently applied in *Pillar Securitisation S.a.r.l and Ors v Spicer and Shinners*⁶²⁰. Even if in that case, the COMI analysis was in the context of the EC Regulation, and it was still relevant for the interpretation of COMI under the Model Law; the court in *Stanford* affirmed that COMI should be given the same meaning under both acts. In *Pillar Securitisation*, the court had to determine the COMI of a limited partnership - Kaupthing Capital Partners II Master LP Inc (Master) - that was established in Guernsey. Master was part of a large group of companies, the Kaupthing Group, and its business was to hold a fund of investments. It was managed by its operator, which was a member of the Kaupthing Group. Master's operator delegated certain administrative functions and investment management of Master to the other two companies that were also members of the Kaupthing Group.

Master became insolvent, and its principal partner appointed joint administrators. Master's largest creditors applied to the court to settle certain issues related to the appointment of the administrators. The applicants affirmed that the appointment of the administrators was invalid because the COMI of Master was Guernsey, and the English courts did not have jurisdiction in relation to the insolvency pursuant to the Regulation. The courts in the EU Member States had jurisdiction pursuant to the Regulation only when the debtor's COMI was located on the territory of a Member State⁶²¹.

To determine where the COMI of Master was, the court relied on the principles established by the ECJ in *Eurofood* and further explained by the court in *Stanford*. It summarized those principles as follows:

⁶²⁰ Pillar Securitisation SARL & Ors v Spicer & Anor (Court Administrators), [2010] EWHC 836, [2011] BCC 338 (Ch) [Pillar Securitization].

- (i) There is a presumption that the body's COMI is in the state where its registered office is located.
- (ii) The presumption can be rebutted only by factors which are both objective and ascertainable by third parties. Thus, the court is to have regard to factors already in the public domain, or which would be apparent to a typical third party doing business with the body, excluding such matters as might only be ascertained on inquiry.
- (iii) Accordingly, the place where the body's head office functions are carried out is only relevant if so ascertainable by third parties.
- (iv) Each body or individual has its own COMI, there is no COMI constituted by an aggregation of bodies or individuals⁶²².

Accordingly, the court started its COMI analysis by assuming that the COMI of Master was in Guernsey and that only objective and ascertainable factors as defined in *Stanford* could deem that not to be the case. The court went on to consider whether there were such factors that could rebut the presumption.

The court established that Master was registered in Guernsey, that its filed declaration made at the time of registration stated that its principal place of business was Guernsey and that these facts were in the public domain. Further, the court identified that the company was incorporated in Guernsey for tax reasons and that this fact would be apparent to creditors dealing with the company. The court also determined that Master's head office functions were conducted in London on its behalf by its operator and its investors, as well as by two companies who were members of the Kaupthing Group.

However, following the *Stanford* judgment, the court held that the head office function test was no longer the test applied when determining the COMI of a company. The court specifically said that it could only be satisfied that the presumption that Master's COMI was at its registered

⁶²² Pillar Securitization, supra note 620 at para 13.

office be rebutted "on the bases that it would have been apparent to third parties doing business with the Master that this was the case".

At this point, the court started to examine what would be ascertainable to these third parties. The potential investors were provided with relevant documentation about the structure, operation and management of the partnership. Consequently, the court declared that as far as the investors would know, Master was registered in Guernsey and had its declared place of business there; they would also know that the actual "administration of the fund, the operating and management functions, were to be conducted in London".

Further the court referred to other third parties, namely the Master's creditors. The court established that these creditors communicated with the English operating companies at their London offices. In addition, Master's largest creditor took over Master's debt to a bank that was undertaking restructuring and in those circumstances it was to be expected that this creditor would know its debtor's identity.

The court concluded that because it would have been apparent to third parties that Master's business matters were conducted on its behalf in England, the presumption that Master's COMI was in Guernsey, as the place of its registered office, was rebutted.

It can be inferred from these two British cases concerned with finding a debtor's COMI that such a finding is governed by the following principles. The determination of COMI must be made in respect of each company individually. It is presumed, in absence of proof to the contrary, that the place of the registered office is the debtor's COMI. That presumption can be rebutted only by

⁶²³ Pillar Securitization ibid at para 17.

⁶²⁴ Pillar Securitization, ibid at para 20.

factors that are both objective and ascertainable. Ascertainable factors are those that are in the public domain or that would be apparent to a third party dealing with the debtor.

There is no defined combination of factors that when established would rebut the presumption. The facts that would be relevant are those that will show that the debtor's business is conducted from other than the jurisdiction of the debtor's registered office. Establishing that the debtor's business was conducted from another jurisdiction is not the end of the British COMI analysis. The court making that determination would also have to establish whether this fact was ascertainable to third parties.

4.3.3 Consistency of Interpretation

The interpretations given by Canadian and British courts to the concept of COMI under the Model Law based provisions are consistent. First, the courts from both countries recognize that each legal entity has its own COMI, notwithstanding that it is a member of a business enterprise group, and that the courts must rely, in absence of proof to the contrary, on the presumption established in favor of the registered office. The agreement on these points is not surprising as the Model Law provisions did not leave much room for interpretation in respect to this matter.

The issue that may create divergent interpretations is what is sufficient to rebut the presumption. However, the Canadian and British courts' interpretations are aligned on this subject too. The courts from both countries did not give an exhaustive list of factors that when established as pointing to other then the jurisdiction of the registered office would be deemed sufficient to rebut the presumption. This is clearly seen in the British cases, as the court in the *Pillar Securitization* case did not try to determine the same factors as those considered by the court in *Stanford*. As regards Canadian cases, even if they singled out three factors, they expressly recognized that the

issue, whether the presumption is rebutted, "will depend on the particular circumstances and facts of each case" 625. The point that illustrates that the approaches of these courts are aligned is that their inquiry into the facts has the same intention. Specifically, this is to determine whether the debtor conducts its business from other then the place of its registered office and whether that fact is ascertainable by creditors.

The approach taken by these courts to the interpretation of COMI raises certain concerns. In view of a lack of agreed and pre-established factors that would be relevant to making a COMI determination, it may be possible that, despite a consistent approach to COMI interpretation, the courts from these countries arrive at differing conclusions with respect to the location of the COMI of the same debtor⁶²⁶. This may be so because courts may find as relevant distinct factors in a case regarding the same debtor.

The situation may be complicated by divergent court decisions as to whether the ascertainability requirement is satisfied or not. Such inconsistency may be due to two reasons. First, the Canadian interpretation of the ascertainability requirement may diverge from the British approach to the extent that it results in a distinction from the British courts' determinations. Second, even if the Canadian and British courts share the same approach, it is still likely that these courts may inconsistently determine whether this requirement is satisfied or not. In certain instances, the satisfaction of the ascertainability requirement may result in a subjective interpretation ⁶²⁷.

٠,

⁶²⁵ Digital Domain, supra note 525 at para 24.

⁶²⁶ Gaillot, French Courts and COMI, *supra* note 611 at 42.

⁶²⁷ Ibid.

One of the implications of the flexibility of the shared Canadian and British approach to the interpretation of COMI is greater unpredictability. Further, when such flexibility would result in concurrent main proceedings, the approach may result in a defeat of the Model Law's intent to put the administration of cross-border insolvency cases under the control of only one jurisdiction, or, at least, to achieve greater coordination by establishing a scheme of a single main proceeding having universal effect that is supported by local non-main proceedings generally having effect only on local assets⁶²⁸. Despite such possible implications, the flexibility offered by the approach may be a necessary evil on the road to secure a benefit, the discouragement of forum shopping⁶²⁹. The adoption of a rigid approach, such as making one criterion decisive for the location of the debtor's COMI, would have left debtors the chance, prior to their insolvency, to choose as the controlling jurisdiction the jurisdiction that would give them an advantage in case of insolvency and that would have little connection with the debtors' affairs 630. Basing the finding of COMI on the assessment of several factors whose range depend on the circumstances of each case, as the Canadian and British approach implies, makes such forum shopping less achievable. The need to balance the predictability achieved through rigid approaches and the benefits that are drawn from flexible approaches is also acknowledged by Professor Westbrook. He explains:

Predictability is always in tension with correctness of result. The world offers endless variations of the clash between competing values and policies, leaving the judge torn between the predictable result and the one that is correct in this case or that establishes a correct rule for the future. So, we may expect that a balance between predictability and flexibility must be drawn with regard to COMI as well. 631

⁶²⁸ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 28; Westbrook, The Eye of the Storm, *supra* note 332 at 1024.

⁶²⁹ Pottow, The Myth, supra note 135 at 790.

⁶³⁰ *Ibid* at 792.

⁶³¹ Westbrook, The Eye of the Storm, *supra* note 332 at 2023.

4.4 Relief

Drawing from the second chapter, the relief that a foreign proceeding may enjoy in the recognizing state under the Model Law provisions as enacted in that state is the relief that automatically flows from the recognition of a foreign main proceeding and relief that may be granted at the discretion of the court. As the automatic relief provisions provide for relief that is urgently needed in insolvency proceedings for the purpose of avoiding dissipation of assets⁶³², the Model Law gives little room for interpretation to courts. Such relief is expected to be available the moment the recognition order has been granted. Such expectations are confirmed by the Canadian and British judgments⁶³³. As regards the provision governing discretionary relief, specifically article 21 of the Model Law, the courts are given flexibility in using that provision. Under this provision courts can grant any relief that they consider appropriate in the circumstances of each particular case⁶³⁴. Such additional relief is needed for efficient and orderly administration of cross-border insolvencies ⁶³⁵. Given the importance of this provision for the achievement of the objectives of the Model Law, the interpretation of the scope of this provision by courts will provide insight as to whether the application of this Law promotes these objectives.

Article 21 of the Model Law has two components, a jurisdictional and a discretionary component. First, a court hearing an application under this article must determine whether it has

⁶³² Berends, A Comprehensive Overview, *supra* note 230 at 363, 364.

⁶³³ Canadian judgment: *Massachusetts Elephant, supra* note 525 at 33 "Having reached the conclusion that the foreign proceeding in this case is a foreign main proceeding certain mandatory relief flows at set out in s. 48 (1) of the CCAA [the equivalent provision of article 20 of the Model Law, which governs automatic relief]"; British judgment: *Samsun, supra* note 544: the court, after it recognized that the foreign proceeding is a foreign main proceeding, said at para 11: "I make it clear that the effect of my recognition of the Korean proceeding is that article 20 applies in this case [the equivalent article of article 20 of the Model Law]".

⁶³⁴ UN, *UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency: The Judicial Perspective (Updated 2013)*, (New York: UN, 2014), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/insolven/Judicial-Perspective-2013-e.pdf at para 169.
⁶³⁵ The Thirtieth Session Report, *supra* note 18 at para 63.

jurisdiction to grant the relief sought. Further, being satisfied that it has such jurisdiction, the court must decide whether to exercise its discretion and grant the relief. This section tries to determine, as regards the finding of jurisdiction under article 21, what the courts' reasoning with respect to the extent of their jurisdictional power under this article is, and as regards the discretionary component under the same provision, how courts interpret the provisions guiding the exercise of the courts' discretion, namely the provision that requires that courts grant relief only if satisfied that the creditors and other interested parties' interest are adequately protected and that the act of granting relief is not manifestly against the local public policy Overall, the next two sections will try to determine whether the approach taken by the courts promote the goals of the Model Law.

4.4.1 Canadian Judgments

It could be said that the Canadian courts have taken a liberal interpretation of the equivalent provision of article 21 paragraph (1) of the Model Law. The Canadian approach can be discerned from the following cases.

In *Tucker*⁶³⁸ the administrators in a UK insolvency proceeding recognized as a foreign main proceeding in Canada applied for an order temporarily staying the exercise of set-off rights. A substantial part of the foreign debtors' inventory was located in Canada. The inventory in Canada was in the physical control of the debtors' primary customer, who was also owed under the contracts concluded with the debtors. Those contracts included a liquidated damage clause. Due to these circumstances, there was a concern that the customer might use the inventory

636 Model Law art 22.

⁶³⁷ Model Law art 6.

⁶³⁸ Tucker, supra note 526.

without making payment and later try to set off the amount that it had to pay for the use of the inventory against the amount that it was owed under the contracts concluded with the debtors. The payment for the use of inventory was needed to ensure the ongoing operation of the debtors and thus prevent prejudice to the debtors' customers.

The court held that it had the power to order a temporary stay of set off rights. It based its reasoning on section 49 (1) of the CCAA (the equivalent of article 21 of the Model Law), which stated that after recognizing the foreign proceeding, a court could make any order that it considered appropriate⁶³⁹. It further considered whether the relief sought was available under the CCAA. It found that section 21 of the CCAA expressly stated that set off rights were not precluded by the commencement of local CCAA proceedings. It also found, relying on a Canadian judgment given in a domestic CCAA proceeding, that such rights might be temporarily stayed⁶⁴⁰. Having found that such relief would be available at the request of a local representative in a local CCAA proceeding, the court concluded that such relief was accessible to a foreign representative.

Subsequently, having been persuaded that the exercise of set off would adversely affect the foreign proceeding and the recovery of creditors, the court exercised its discretion and granted the order sought.

Accordingly, under the provision governing discretionary relief in Canada, a court has jurisdiction to grant relief to the same extent that it is granted in local insolvency proceedings. A foreign representative can invoke the same provisions of local insolvency laws that a local insolvency representative would have the chance to use, and this is of considerable practical

⁶³⁹ *Ibid* at para 24.

⁶⁴⁰ *Ibid* at paras 26, 27.

importance. As illustrated by the *Tucker* case, the foreign proceeding had received substantial assistance from the Canadian court, in the absence of which there would have been considerable damage to the debtor's creditors and to the resolution of the proceedings itself. Aside from promoting efficient and orderly administration of cross-border insolvencies, this approach promotes legal certainty for creditors. The Canadian court order given in *Tucker* did not defeat the debtor's customer's legitimate expectations. This customer might be thought to have assumed that if such proceedings had been commenced in Canada, as the Model Law provisions as enacted by both the CCAA and the BIA allowed, such a stay could have been ordered.

Under the same provision, the Canadian courts found that they have power to recognize and enforce foreign insolvency judgments and orders. In $Probe^{641}$ the foreign representative appointed in a US Chapter 11 proceeding, which was recognized as a foreign main proceeding in Canada, applied for an order recognizing and allowing implementation of the plan of restructuring approved in the foreign main proceeding in Canada. One of the debtors in the US proceeding was a Canadian company. According to the plan, there had to be made certain amendments to the Canadian company's constating instrument.

The court found that under an express provision of the CCAA, it could have ordered such changes to be made to the constating instrument of the debtor if it sanctioned a compromise or arrangement in domestic CCAA proceedings⁶⁴². The relevance of this provision in the context of cross-border proceedings was said to flow from section 48 (2) of the CCAA, which provided that any order made in favor of a foreign main proceeding must be consistent with any order that may be made under CCAA. It further held that "to the extent that this Court may have granted this

-

⁶⁴¹ Probe Resources, supra note 525.

⁶⁴² *Ibid* at para 40.

relief in other types proceedings under the CCAA, that relief is equally available in the context of recognition proceedings such as this one"⁶⁴³. Based on this, it concluded that it had jurisdiction to recognize and order that the plan be enforced in Canada pursuant to section 49 of the CCAA as the applicant requested⁶⁴⁴. Thus, the court found that under the equivalent provision of article 21 of the Model Law, it can recognize and enforce orders made by the foreign court in the course of the foreign proceeding when such orders could have been made in a domestic proceeding.

Accordingly, Canadian courts found that they have jurisdiction to recognize and enforce foreign insolvency orders under the Model Law as enacted in Canada if they are satisfied that these orders are consistent with any orders that may be made in a local insolvency proceeding. Such an approach enhances efficiency and respects the legal expectations of creditors. Efficiency is enhanced by avoiding repeated proceedings for petitioning for an equivalent type of relief to that already granted in the foreign proceeding under local laws⁶⁴⁵. The legal expectations are protected by an assessment of consistency of the foreign insolvency order with local insolvency laws.

The finding of jurisdiction to enforce foreign insolvency orders under the Canadian equivalent to the Model Law provisions by Canadian courts is not surprising and may even be the desired approach to the recognition of foreign insolvency proceedings in Canada considering the present and the pre-Model Law legal context.

⁶⁴³ Ibid.

⁶⁴⁴ *Ibid* at 33, 41.

⁶⁴⁵ Briggs, Adrian, "Rubin and New Cap: Foreign Judgments and Insolvency" (2013) Singapore Management University School of Law Research Paper No. 7/2013, online:

http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2248422 at 7.

Since the earliest days of Confederation, Canadian courts have had the jurisdiction to entertain applications for the recognition and enforcement of foreign insolvency orders⁶⁴⁶. Relying on common law private international law rules and the principles of comity, the Canadian courts would recognize and give effect to foreign insolvency orders if those orders were made by a court of competent jurisdiction in the jurisdiction of the debtor's domicile⁶⁴⁷. This position of the Canadian courts regarding the recognition and enforcement of foreign insolvency orders was criticized by scholars who argued for more broad grounds of recognition of such orders. These authors felt that the jurisdiction where the debtor was domiciled might often have only a weak connection with the debtor's main business operations⁶⁴⁸. Due to a change of the common law rules in Canada for the recognition of foreign judgments, Canadian courts hearing applications for the recognition and enforcement of foreign insolvency orders have broadened the bases on which they will recognize such orders.

The change in the common law rules for recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments was made through the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in *Morguard Investments Ltd. V. De Savoye*⁶⁴⁹. In this case the court supplemented the traditional common law rules for the recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments with "the real and substantial connection test",650. In particular, the court held that neither the personal presence of the defendant in the originating jurisdiction at the time of the action, nor the submission of the defendant to the judgment of the foreign court by agreement or attornment, were not necessary for the foreign

.

⁶⁴⁶ Ziegel, Ships at Sea, *supra* note 492 at 424.

⁶⁴⁷ Duggan, Canadian Bankruptcy, *supra* note 494 at 822; see also *IIT* (*Re*), *supra* note 492 and *Williams v. Rice*, [1926] 3 DLR 225 (Man KB). This rule was not absolute; it was subject to certain qualifications. For instance, Canadian courts have said that a foreign insolvency order affecting title to immovable in Canada is not enforceable, see *Macdonald v. Georgian Bay*, *supra* note 493, and Duggan, Canadian Bankruptcy, *supra* note 494 at 825.

⁶⁴⁸ Duggan, Canadian Bankruptcy, *supra* note 494 at 822.

Morguard Investments Ltd v De Savoye, [1990] 3 SCR 1077, 76 DLR (4th) 256 (SCC) [Morguard].
 Ibid.

court to properly exercise jurisdiction over the defendant⁶⁵¹. By contrast, a real and substantial connection between the action⁶⁵² or the defendant and the originating jurisdiction would be sufficient basis for the foreign court's exercise of jurisdiction over the defendant⁶⁵³. In *Morguard*, the real and substantial connection test was applied for the recognition and enforcement of an inter-provincial judgment; however, lower courts have used this test for the recognition of foreign judgments in Canada⁶⁵⁴. This interpretation was later affirmed by the Supreme Court in *Beals v. Saldanha*⁶⁵⁵.

Staring with the judgment in *Microbiz Corp. v. Classic Software Systems Inc.* ⁶⁵⁶, Canadian courts have frequently used the real and substantial connection test to recognize and enforce foreign insolvency orders ⁶⁵⁷. The significance of the *Morguard* judgment in the cross-border insolvency context was not limited to influencing the courts to change the traditional jurisdictional component of the rules regarding the recognition and enforcement of foreign insolvency judgments ⁶⁵⁸. Canadian courts, "following the Supreme Court's lead in *Morguard*, … also emphasized the role of comity between trading nations to justify enforcing as well as recognizing" ⁶⁵⁹ foreign insolvency proceedings and orders ⁶⁶⁰. The growing recognition by

⁵¹ Ihid

⁶⁵² Blom, Joost & Elizabeth Edinger, "The Chimera of the Real and Substantial Connection Test" (2005) 38:2 UBC L Rev 372 at 380, n 33.

⁶⁵³ Morguard, supra note 649.

⁶⁵⁴ Ziegel, Jacob, "Canada-United States Cross-Border Insolvency Relations and the UNCITRAL Model Law" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 1041 at p 1047 [Ziegel, Canada – United States Cross-Border Insolvency].

⁶⁵⁵ Beals v Saldanha, 2003 SCC 72, 234 DLR (4th) 1 [Beals v. Saldanha].

⁶⁵⁶ Microbiz Corp. v. Classic Software Systems Inc., 1996 CanLII 8276 (ON SC), 45 CBR (3d) 40 at para 3; Ziegel, Canada – United States Cross-Border Insolvency Relations, supra note 654 at 1047.

⁶⁵⁷ Ziegel, Canada – United States Cross-Border Insolvency Relations, *supra* note 654 at 1047; Among the cases where Canadian courts have recognized and enforced foreign insolvency judgments by relying on the *Morguard* test are *Roberts v. Picture Butte Municipal Hospital*, [1999] 4 WWR 443, 1998 ABQB 636 (CanLII) [*Roberts v. Butte*], *Cavell Insurance Company, Re*, 2006 CanLII 16529 (ON CA), 269 DLR (4th) 679, *BW Canada, supra* note 533.

⁶⁵⁸ Ziegel, Canada – United States Cross-Border Insolvency Relations, *supra* note 654 at 1047 – 1048.

⁶⁵⁹ *Ibid* at 1048.

⁶⁶⁰ *Ibid*.

Canadian courts of the importance of comity in cases of cross-border insolvency was illustrated by the words of Forsythe J in *Roberts v. Butte*⁶⁶¹ judgment concerning an application for the recognition and enforcement of a US Bankruptcy Court stay of proceedings against the debtor in Canada:

Comity and cooperation are increasingly important in the bankruptcy context. As internationalization increases, more parties have assets and carry on activities in several jurisdictions. Without some coordination there would be multiple proceedings, inconsistent judgments and general uncertainty. 662

...I find that common sense dictates that these matters would be best dealt with by one court, and in the interest of promoting international comity it seems the forum for this case is in the US Bankruptcy Court. Thus, in either case, whether there has been an attornment or not, I conclude it is appropriate for me to exercise my discretion and apply the principles of comity to grant the Defendant's stay application. I reach this conclusion based on all the circumstances, including the clear wording of the *US Bankruptcy Code* provision, the similar philosophies and procedures in Canada and the US, the Plaintiff's attornment to the jurisdiction of the US Bankruptcy Court, and the incredible number of claims outstanding... 663

In an effort to account for the increasing number of cross-border insolvency cases and to provide for clearer guidelines to the courts facing the problems that these insolvencies raised, the Canadian government, starting as far back as 1970, attempted to formulate express provisions regarding cross-border insolvencies that were meant to be part of Canada's insolvency legislation⁶⁶⁴. These efforts materialized in 1997 with the enactment of such provisions in Part XIII of the BIA, which were subsequently replicated, with some modifications, in section 18.6 of the CCAA⁶⁶⁵. The 1997 amendments, one author argues, took a "cautious approach" both to cooperation with and to the granting of assistance to foreign insolvency proceedings and foreign

--

⁶⁶¹ Roberts v. Butte, supra note 657.

 $^{^{662}}$ *Ibid* at para 20.

⁶⁶³ *Ibid* at para 31.

⁶⁶⁴ Ziegel, Jacob S., "Corporate Groups and Canada – U.S. Crossborder Insolvencies: Contrasting Judicial Visions" (2001) 35:3 Can Bus LJ 459 at 468 [Ziegel, Corporate Groups].

⁶⁶⁵ *Ibid* at 468.

⁶⁶⁶ Ziegel, Canada – United States Cross-Border Insolvency Relations, *supra* note 657 at 1048.

insolvency representatives⁶⁶⁷. The amendments encouraged concurrent proceedings regarding the same debtor and included provisions facilitating cooperation between such parallel proceedings⁶⁶⁸. In addition, the 1997 amendments were silent regarding which test for the recognition of foreign insolvency orders Canadian courts should apply⁶⁶⁹. Instead, they included a provision which survived the enactment of the Model Law in Canada⁶⁷⁰, stating that:

Nothing in this Part prevents the court, on the application of a foreign representative or any other interested person, from applying such legal or equitable rules governing the recognition of foreign orders and assistance to foreign representatives as are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Act. 671

Accordingly, under the 1997 amendments, courts still retained the power to recognize and enforce foreign insolvency orders based on the real and substantial connection test. Given the silence of the 1997 amendments regarding the recognition of foreign insolvency orders and their cautious approach to cross-border insolvency cooperation, Canadian courts continued to apply the *Morguard* test after these amendments came into force ⁶⁷².

Thus, it is not surprising that the Canadian courts applying the Model Law have liberally interpreted the Canadian equivalent of the Model Law provision governing discretionary relief available to the foreign representative after an order recognizing the foreign proceeding is granted in the receiving country. First, the approach to the recognition of foreign insolvency judgments taken by the Canadian courts under the Model Law provisions is in line with the emphasis on the increasing importance of comity and cooperation made by these courts when applying *Morguard* in the pre-Model Law cases. Second, the recognition of a foreign insolvency

⁶⁶⁸ *Ibid*; CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 18.6 (2).

⁶⁶⁹ Duggan, Canadian Bankruptcy, *supra* note 494 at 823.

⁶⁷⁰ CCAA, supra note 450 s 61.1; BIA, supra note 451 s. 284 (1).

⁶⁷¹ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 18.6(4); BIA, *supra* note 451 s 268(5).

⁶⁷² Ziegel, Canada – United States Cross-Border Insolvency Relations, *supra* note 657 at 1049.

order made by a court in a jurisdiction with which the debtor's only connection is the location of the centre of its main interests in that jurisdiction would not constitute a liberalization of the test used to assess the jurisdiction of the foreign court granting the foreign insolvency order; under the real and substantial connection test, the Canadian courts have recognized foreign insolvency orders made in jurisdictions with which the debtor had fewer connections than the connections that are required by the finding of the centre of the debtor's main interests. This was the case in *BW Canada* where the court recognized and enforced a US stay of proceedings in respect of a solvent Canadian subsidiary company; the Canadian subsidiary was not even a party to the US insolvency proceedings that were commenced against the US parent of the Canadian subsidiary ⁶⁷³.

As noted above, the provision included in the 1997 amendments giving to the courts authority to apply any legal or equitable rules that are not inconsistent with the provisions of the BIA or the CCAA, as the case may be, governing the recognition of foreign insolvency orders was not abrogated by the enactment of the Model Law provisions. Accordingly, in any case in which a court finds that the application of the *Morguard* test is consistent with the provisions based on the Model Law, this test may still be applied to justify recognition of foreign insolvency orders. However, the recognition of such orders based on the real and substantial connection test may not be desirable considering the goal of the Model Law, which was adopted in both the BIA and the CCAA, of promoting greater legal certainty for trade and investment. The concept of the centre of main interests of the debtor, taken as a test to assess whether the foreign court had jurisdiction to make judgments in respect of the insolvency of the debtor, creates more certainty than the real and substantial connection test is able to create when used to make a similar

-

⁶⁷³ BW Canada, supra note 533.

determination. This is so because the centre of main interests of the debtor test for jurisdiction is much clearer than the real and substantial connection test. The clarity of the test is important as it makes the outcome of the application of the test much easier to predict for creditors⁶⁷⁴. As seen in the previous section of this thesis, the concept of COMI has received a consistent interpretation from both Canadian and British courts. These courts have provided helpful guidance as to what constitutes a debtor's COMI. Further, the approach taken by these courts towards the determination of the debtor's COMI is not so complex as to make it hard for creditors to predict the outcome of the application of the concept at the time they enter into transactions with a debtor. The approach, in general terms, is that the test tries to identify, based on factual factors, the jurisdiction from which the debtor conducts its business on a regular basis. In addition, as the British courts held, the determination must be made by relying on facts that are both objective and ascertainable by third parties. Thus, if the recognition of foreign insolvency orders is governed by the Model Law provisions, the Canadian creditors have good tools to predict which country may be recognized as having jurisdiction to administer main proceedings and whose insolvency judgments may be recognized and enforced in Canada; accordingly, Canadian creditors may ascertain at the moment of entering into transactions with a debtor which jurisdiction and which laws may affect their rights.

By contrast, the use of the *Morguard* doctrine for the recognition and enforcement of foreign insolvency orders creates uncertainty because of its inconsistent application as illustrated by the judgments, which are difficult to reconcile⁶⁷⁵, given in the *Singer Canada*⁶⁷⁶ and *BW Canada*⁶⁷⁷

_

⁶⁷⁴ Pottow, The Myth, *supra* note 153 at 792.

⁶⁷⁵ Duggan, Canadian Bankruptcy, *supra* note 494 at 823.

⁶⁷⁶ Singer Sewing Machine Company of Canada Ltd. (Re) (Trustee of), [2000] 5 WWR 598, 18 CBR (4th) 127 [Singer Canada].

⁶⁷⁷ BW Canada, supra note 533.

cases ⁶⁷⁸. The courts in both these cases faced the issue of whether a stay of proceedings given in a foreign court in an insolvency proceeding commenced against the parent of a Canadian subsidiary that was not a party of the foreign insolvency proceedings and that was carrying business only in Canada may receive recognition and enforcement in Canada against the Canadian subsidiary. The court in *Singer Canada* answered the question in the negative ⁶⁷⁹, while the court in *BW Canada* arrived at a diametrically opposed answer ⁶⁸⁰. The court in *Singer Canada* found that the real and substantial connection test and the principles of comity did not justify the extension of the stay against the subsidiary in Canada. The court considered in its judgment what the real and substantial connection between the foreign order and the Canadian subsidiary was, and at paragraph [26] it held:

Comity does not require me to recognize a chapter 11 order over a Canadian company carrying on business only in Canada and whose assets are all in Canada. Who the shareholders are is irrelevant and who the creditors are is irrelevant. Under Alberta law neither gives an American bankruptcy court jurisdiction over Singer Canada. 681

On the contrary, in *BW Canada*, the court found that one of the grounds on which the foreign stay could be given effect in Canada was the evolving principle of comity and cooperation as stated in *Morguard*, which the court found equally applicable to international insolvency matters⁶⁸².

In view of the uncertainties that the uneven application of the *Morguard* test would create in the context of cross-border insolvencies, the recognition and enforcement of foreign insolvency orders under the Model Law provisions is the preferred approach.

⁶⁷⁸ Fortuitously, both these cases were decided the same month, see Ziegel, Corporate Groups, *supra* note 664 at 460.

⁶⁷⁹ Singer Canada, supra note 675 at para 28.

⁶⁸⁰ BW Canada, supra note 533 at para 22.

⁶⁸¹ Singer Canada, supra note 675 at para 26.

⁶⁸² BW Canada, supra note 533 at paras 4 – 10, 16, 21, 22.

Turning to the determination of the Canadian courts' approach to the interpretation of the section governing discretionary relief, the liberal understanding of these courts of this section is further shown by the unrestrictive interpretation of what is consistent with local insolvency laws.

In *Hartford*⁶⁸³ the foreign representative brought a motion under section 49 of the CCAA for recognition and implementation of certain orders made by the court in the foreign main proceeding. Among these orders there was a Debtor in Possession (DIP) financing order⁶⁸⁴. The order contained a "roll up" provision according to which all cash collateral that was in the possession of the debtors at the time of filing for insolvency proceedings, or was coming into their possession after the filing, was deemed to have been remitted to the pre-filing secured lender for the repayment of the pre-filing secured loan and of the loan under the DIP financing. Such a provision was expressly prohibited in a restructuring proceeding under CCAA according to section 11.2 of the CCAA, which provided that a DIP charge "may not secure any obligation before the order is made"

The court considered that it had jurisdiction to recognize and enforce this order in Canada because "nothing was being done that is contrary to the applicable provisions of the CCAA" The court pointed out that the cash in the possession of the debtors at the time of the filing for insolvency proceedings was effectively spent in the debtors' operations and subsequently replaced with advances made under the DIP financing so that all the cash in the possession of the debtors was proceeds from the DIP financing. Thus, arguably, the roll up provision was such

-

⁶⁸³ Hartford, supra note 525.

⁶⁸⁴ "The term "debtor-in-possession" financing is used to describe the interim financing required for the ongoing operations of the business during restructuring proceedings", see Wood, Bankruptcy, *supra* note 24 at 355.

⁶⁸⁵ CCAA, *supra* note 450 s 11.2 (1).

⁶⁸⁶ Hartford, supra note 525 at para 13.

only on paper and not in fact⁶⁸⁷. If this was the reason for holding that the order was consistent with local law, then it follows that a Canadian court has jurisdiction to recognize and enforce a foreign insolvency order in Canada that is expressly prohibited to be made in a local insolvency proceeding, provided that the effect of that order in Canada would not be inconsistent with what would have been done in a local proceeding. Thus, a court adopting such interpretation will consider the foreign order in the concrete circumstances of the case and will determine whether the enforcement of that order in Canada would or would not produce effects that would be inconsistent with local laws. In view of the differences among national insolvency laws⁶⁸⁸, such an approach to the interpretation of what is consistent with local laws would avoid unwarranted refusals of assistance to foreign proceedings. These refusals would be considered unwarranted because they would protect no one's interests. For instance, the recognition and enforcement of the foreign order in *Hartford* was not infringing any public policy, as the Canadian court in this case determined⁶⁸⁹, and it was only for the benefit of all the creditors generally that the DIP financing allowed by the foreign order was needed to avoid irreparable harm to the debtors' estate⁶⁹⁰.

The Canadian courts' approach to the discretionary relief article allows for a wide range of relief to be accessible to a foreign representative and, consequently, reduces the instances when relief in favor of a foreign proceeding would be refused as a matter of jurisdiction. Such a liberal interpretation enhances the chances for an efficient and coherent administration of cross-border

_

⁶⁸⁷ Golick, Steven & Reisterer Patrick, "Canada: Canadian Courts Permit Roll-Up of Pre-Petition Borrowing in Cross-Border Canada-U.S. Proceeding" (14 May 2012), online:

< http://www.mondaq.com/canada/x/177236/Loans+Mortgages+Leasing/Canadian+Court+Permits+RollUp+Of+Pre-Petition+Borrowing+In+CrossBorder+CanadaUS+Proceeding>.

⁶⁸⁸ Rubin & Anor v Eurofinance SA & Ors, [2012] UKSC 46, [2012] 3 WLR 1019 at para 15 [Rubin].

⁶⁸⁹ Hartford, supra note 525 at paras 16, 17.

 $^{^{690}}$ *Ibid* at para 7.

insolvency and at the same time it does not infringe on local interests; the courts still retain the power to refuse to provide relief under their discretionary powers granted by this provision when such relief would be against public policy or would prejudice creditors' interests. The power to refuse to grant relief on such grounds is expressly acknowledged by the articles of the Model Law⁶⁹¹.

By contrast, the text of the Model Law is somewhat ambiguous regarding the limits that these provisions set on the power to grant or deny relief. The Model Law and the Guide to Enactment provide that the public policy exception should not be interpreted broadly; courts should refuse to make any act under the Model Law when that would be *manifestly* contrary to the public policy of the forum⁶⁹². As regards the provisions that empower courts to refuse or condition relief to be granted to a foreign representative in order to offer protection to local creditors⁶⁹³, the Model Law states that when granting such relief the court must ensure that the interests of creditors and other interested parties, which include the debtor, are *adequately* protected⁶⁹⁴.

Since the exercise of the powers granted by these two provisions is in conflict with one of the main purposes of the Model Law, namely the furthering of international cooperation in cross-border insolvency cases in order to ensure efficient and fair administration of such cases, an inquiry into the scope of these provisions as seen by courts in particular cases is instructive of whether the Model Law furthers the international cooperation goal in practice. In addition, such inquiry will provide an answer to the question asking whether the Model Law offers effective ways of protecting local interests; such protection is not only allowed under a legal framework

-

 $^{^{691}}$ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 6, 22 (1).

⁶⁹² The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 6; The Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 paras 86 – 89.

⁶⁹³ The Model Law, *ibid* art 22.

⁶⁹⁴ The Model Law, *ibid*.

based on modified universalism, but it is also needed in the present reality of unharmonized national insolvency laws.

The Canadian judgments considering requests for relief under the local versions of the Model Law are not very helpful in assessing the limits that these protective of the local interests provisions set on the power to grant such relief. Some insight may be gained from US judgments that have had the chance to consider this matter more in depth while applying the US version of the Model Law⁶⁹⁵.

As regards the provision requiring that relief be granted only if the court is satisfied that the creditors and other parties' interests are receiving adequate protection, the court in the *In re Tri Cont'l Exch. Ltd.* case⁶⁹⁶ formulated the standard for the analysis of that provision. In that case, the relief sought by the foreign representative appointed in the foreign main proceeding taking place in St. Vincent and the Grenadines was in favor of entrusting the foreign representative with the administration and realization of the US based assets. A creditor of the debtors, which had a judgment against the debtors under the US law, claiming lien status and opposed the foreign representative's request for relief. The creditor wanted to persuade the court to impose an additional condition to the conditions that such relief would have been ordinarily subject to pursuant to US law. More specifically, the creditor proposed that the court specified that the foreign representative should not use the US assets to pay professional expenses and fees without prior permission from the US court⁶⁹⁷.

_

⁶⁹⁷ *Ibid* at para 631.

⁶⁹⁵ US incorporated the Model Law in the Chapter 15 of the US Bankruptcy Code, see *supra* note 23, and it drafted the US version of the Model Law to follow closely the language of the Model Law. See Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Chapter 15 At Last" (2005) 79:3 Am Bankr LJ 713 at 713, 719.

⁶⁹⁶ In Re Tri-Continental Exchange Ltd., 349 BR 627 (Bankr ED Cal 2006) [In re Tri Cont'l Exch. Ltd.]

The court determined that, under Chapter 15, it has the power to impose conditions in order to provide protection for local creditors. Specifically, the court said that section 1522 of the US Bankruptcy Code (the equivalent provision of article 22 of the Model Law, titled "Protection of Creditors and other Interested Parties") "conditions any discretionary relief... upon the interests of creditors and other interested entities, including the debtor, being "sufficiently protected""⁶⁹⁸. Relying on the Guide to Enactment, the court concluded that the standards for the interpretation of this section in connection with the section governing discretionary relief "emphasize[d] the need to tailor relief and conditions so as to balance the relief granted to the foreign representative and the interests of those affected by such relief, without unduly favoring one group of creditors over another."⁶⁹⁹

Applying this test to the facts of the case, the court decided to grant relief free of the condition proposed by the creditor, since the relief sought did not imply a remittal of assets to the foreign representative for the distribution of these assets under foreign law⁷⁰⁰. To the contrary, the administration and realization of these assets by the foreign representative, which was what the sought relief envisioned, was to be subject to US law. By virtue of the recognition of the foreign proceeding as a main proceeding that triggered the automatic stay, the provision of the US Bankruptcy Code that governed the use of cash collateral in local bankruptcy cases was applicable to the present case. That provision required that cash collateral be used only with the permission of the court⁷⁰¹. Accordingly, the court considered this protection, which was afforded by Chapter 15 in combination with the provision governing the use of cash collateral, as

⁶⁹⁸ *Ibid* at para 637.

⁶⁹⁹ *Ibid* at para 637.

⁷⁰⁰ *Ibid* at para 640, 639.

⁷⁰¹ *Ibid* at para 639.

sufficient protection of the creditor's rights⁷⁰². In addition, the court said that, based on the circumstances of the case, it was not warranted to impose an additional condition because that could have adversely impacted the foreign main proceeding, which was the principal means through which the realization and the distribution of assets had to be executed⁷⁰³.

This case suggests that the provision protecting creditors and other entities' interests should be interpreted narrowly. The standard developed by the court requires that a balance of opposing interests be achieved and that those interests not to be accorded a pre-established preference; this implies that the protection of one interest may come at the expense of another interest⁷⁰⁴. Thus, the test allows for the possibility of infringing on the local creditors' interests in favor of the benefits that will be derived from the relief granted to the foreign proceeding, such as the efficient and fair administration of the insolvency case.

The extent to which a local creditor's interest may be affected by the relief to be granted to a foreign proceeding is suggested by the decision in the *In re Sivec SRL* case⁷⁰⁵. In this case, the debtor, an Italian company subject to a reorganization proceeding in Italy, requested the return of the warranty sum retained by its US customer by agreement. The US customer did not respond to the request; instead, it sued the debtor for breach of contract in the US district court. The insolvency representative in the Italian reorganization proceeding filed a counterclaim for the return of the warranty retainage. Meanwhile, it obtained from a US bankruptcy court an order recognizing the Italian proceeding as a foreign main proceeding and prohibiting creditors from disposing of any assets in which the debtor might have an interest.

 $^{^{702}}$ *Ibid* at para 639.

¹⁰³ Ibid at para 640.

⁷⁰⁴ Jaffe v Samsung Elecs Co, 737 F (3d) 14 (4th Cir 2013) at para 1952.

⁷⁰⁵ In Re Sivec SRL, 476 BR 310 (Bankr ED Okla 2012).

The District court found that the debtor committed the breach and that the US customer had to return the warranty retainage. The US customer moved for declaratory relief to allow setoff⁷⁰⁶. The district court remanded the issue to the Bankruptcy Court that had previously recognized the foreign main proceeding. The issue that the Bankruptcy court had to decide was whether to allow setoff or to order that the US customer return the retainage for distribution in the Italian proceeding as the foreign representative had requested⁷⁰⁷.

The Bankruptcy court decided to allow the setoff and refuse the request for remittal of the funds. Citing the Chapter 15 provisions, the court noted that it should decline to grant the relief requested if that would be manifestly against public policy or would leave the creditor's interests "clearly unprotected" The court was unconvinced that the creditor's interests would be sufficiently protected if it allowed a remittal of the retainage. Under US bankruptcy law, the US customer was a secured creditor to the extent of the amount subject to setoff By contrast, under Italian law, a claim subject to setoff was not considered as a secured claim In addition, the foreign representative requesting remittal of the funds did not give any guaranties that the creditor's interests in the retainage would be protected in the foreign proceeding. Since the US customer was viewed in the foreign proceeding as a debtor and not a creditor, it was not given notice about the proceeding or of the claim filing deadline, and no funds were set aside to satisfy its late claim. Consequently, the US customer would, at best, have been treated as an unsecured and late creditor that might have received nothing on its claim. Based on this, the court concluded that the US creditor's "treatment in Italy would be vastly different than in the United

71

⁷⁰⁶ *Ibid* at para 315.

⁷⁰⁷ *Ibid* at para 318.

⁷⁰⁸ *Ibid* at para 323.

⁷⁰⁹ *Ibid* at para 324.

⁷¹⁰ *Ibid* at para 324.

Sates: its security interest [was] not merely threatened in the Italian proceeding, it [did] not exist."⁷¹¹

Accordingly, the limit that the provision protecting the interests of creditors puts on the power to grant discretionary relief under the Model Law can be summarized as follows. A creditor's interest, which would be valid and enforceable if the creditor had asserted the claim in a local insolvency proceeding, cannot be affected by the relief granted to a foreign representative to such an extent that can no longer be said that the creditor has an interest in the debtor's assets. The creditor's interests can be threatened, but not extinguished. The decision suggests that, under the Model Law, courts have a real tool for the protection of local interests.

The protection offered to local interests is complemented by the public policy exception; nevertheless, the use of this exception is recommended by the Guide to Enactment only in "exceptional situations concerning matters of fundamental importance for the enacting State" The large majority of US cases that had considered the application of the public policy provision suggests that US courts followed the recommendation to interpret the provision restrictively.

In the *Ephedra* case⁷¹³, the Monitor in a Canadian insolvency proceeding requested the recognition and enforcement in the US of a claim resolution procedure meant to assess and value all creditors' claims, including the claims of the plaintiffs in US actions commenced against the debtor for personal injuries and wrongful deaths allegedly caused by ephedra contained in the products marketed by the debtor. Some of the plaintiffs that have lodged their claims in the Canadian proceeding objected to the granting of such relief. They argued relying on the public

_

⁷¹¹ *Ibid* at para 324 citing *In re Treco*, 240 F (3d) 148 (2d 2001) at paras 160 – 161 [*In re Treco*].

⁷¹² The Guide to Enactment, *supra* note 223 at paras 89, 86 – 89.

⁷¹³ In Re Ephedra Products Liability Litigation (Muscletech Research and Development, Inc., et al.), 349 BR 333 (SDNY 2006) [Ephedra]

policy exception under Chapter 15 that the relief would deprive them of due process and trial by jury⁷¹⁴. Regarding the due process part of the argument, the Canadian court order approving the procedure permitted "the Claim officer to refuse to receive evidence and to liquidate claims without granting interested parties an opportunity to be heard"⁷¹⁵. At the US court's initiative, the foreign representative applied for an amendment of the order that would remedy these deficiencies; the Canadian court amended the order. As for the lack of a right to trial by jury, the court said that recognition and enforcement of the procedure cannot be refused pursuant to the public policy exception "simply because the procedure alone does not include a right to jury" ⁷¹⁶. Even if the court recognized that "the constitutional right to a jury trial [was] an important component of [the US] legal system"⁷¹⁷, it considered that "the notion that a fair and impartial verdict cannot be rendered in the absence of a jury trial defies the experience of most of the civilized world"⁷¹⁸. Accordingly, albeit the right to jury embodied a fundamental public policy, namely it ensured fair and impartial trial⁷¹⁹, a foreign proceeding that fails to provide such right will not be considered contrary to the policy this right furthers, provided that the foreign preceeding offers other safeguards ensuring fairness and impartiality⁷²⁰. Having concluded that, after the order approving the procedure for the resolution of claims was amended as suggested by the US court, the procedure complied with the US notion of trial fairness, the court granted the relief requested.

71

⁷¹⁴ *Ibid* at para 335.

⁷¹⁵ *Ibid* at para 335.

 $^{^{716}}$ *Ibid* at para 336.

⁷¹⁷ *Ibid* at para 337.

⁷¹⁸ *Ibid* at para 337.

The court stated that the historical function of a jury was "to stand as a bulwark against government abuse" see *Ephedra, ibid* at para 337.

⁷²⁰ *Ibid* at para 336 "More recently, in *Ackermann v. Levine*, 788 F.2d 830 (2d Cir. 1986), the Second Circuit expressly reaffirmed "[t]he narrowness of the public policy exception to enforcement [of foreign judgments]," adding that, "[a]s Judge Cardozo so lucidly observed: 'We are not so provincial as to say that every solution of a problem is wrong because we deal with it otherwise at home.'" *Ackermann*, 788 F.2d at 842 (quoting *Loucks v. Standard Oil Co.*, 224 N.Y. 99, 110-11, 120 N.E. 198 (1918) (Cardozo, J.))".

Further, in *Ernst & Young*⁷²¹ the objecting creditors to a petition for relief under Chapter 15 advanced two arguments while invoking the public policy objection. First, the creditors affirmed that they might receive less in the foreign proceeding than what they would receive in a local proceeding as the foreign proceeding included creditors form Canada and Israel⁷²². The court found this argument unconvincing because "[a]Il wronged [creditors] should share in the assets accumulated in the [foreign proceeding], regardless of nationality or locale"⁷²³. Second, the objecting parties argued that the administrative costs of the foreign proceeding might deplete the debtor's assets leaving little value to be distributed to the creditors. The court considered this argument equally unconvincing. More specifically, it stated that "[costs] of liquidation are a reality, whether through a foreign proceeding, or through a United States bankruptcy case."⁷²⁴ Accordingly, the court found that neither of the objections of the creditors raised concerns related to a fundamental US public policy⁷²⁵; to the contrary, the foreign proceeding complied with basic principles of insolvency laws, as, for instance, the distribution of the debtor's assets in a collective proceeding in which all the debtor's creditors are allowed to participate.

In addition, the court in *Metcalfe and Mansfield*⁷²⁶ allowed recognition and enforcement of a Canadian insolvency order providing for non-debtor releases granted in a CCAA proceeding, despite the fact that such an order might not have been accorded in a US restructuring proceeding under equivalent circumstances⁷²⁷. In considering whether or not such recognition and enforcement would infringe US public policy under the relevant Model Law based provision, the

_

⁷²¹ In Re Ernst & Young, Inc, 383 BR 773 (Bankr D Colo 2008) [Ernst & Young].

 $^{^{722}}$ *Ibid* at para 781.

⁷²³ *Ibid* at para 781.

⁷²⁴ Ihid

⁷²⁵ Ibid; In Re Gold & Honey, Ltd, 410 BR 357 (Bankr EDNY 2009) at para 372 [Gold and Honey].

⁷²⁶ In Re Metcalfe & Mansfield Alternative Investments, 421 BR 685 (Bankr SDNY 2010) [Metcalfe and Mansfield].

⁷²⁷ *Ibid* at paras 697, 698.

court stated that "[t]he relief granted in the foreign proceeding and the relief available in a US proceeding need not be identical"⁷²⁸. It added that when interpreting the public policy exception, courts should primarily determine whether the procedures used in the foreign proceeding met the local fundamental standards of fairness⁷²⁹.

One of the few cases where discretionary relief was refused pursuant to the public policy provision is *Gold and Honey*⁷³⁰. The court refused to recognize, under Chapter 15, an Israeli receivership commenced against a debtor after an insolvency proceeding had been opened in the US against the same debtor because, besides the fact that the Israeli receivership was not a collective proceeding as understood under Chapter 15, its recognition would have been manifestly contrary the US public policy⁷³¹. The court held that recognition of the Israeli receivership would "severely impinge" 732 on the most fundamental public policies that the automatic stay that followed the commencement of the US proceeding tried to further, more particularly, the public policy "preventing one creditor from obtaining an advantage over other creditors, and providing for the efficient and orderly distribution of the debtor's assets to all creditors in accordance with their relative priorities." ⁷³³ Accordingly, the court's refusal to recognize the foreign proceeding on the public policy ground suggests that the policies of fundamental importance, whose potential violation by the relief requested would warrant a refusal of deference, include the basic policies that underlie insolvency laws.

⁷²⁸ *Ibid* at para 697.

⁷²⁹ Ibid at para 697 citing Cunard SS Co Ltd v Salen Reefer Servs AB, 773 F (2d) 452, 457 (2d Cir 1985).

⁷³⁰ Gold and Honey, supra note 725.

⁷³¹ *Ibid* at paras 370, 372, 373.

⁷³² *Ibid* at para 372.

⁷³³ *Ibid* at para 372.

Another case where the public policy exception was found to be applicable is *In re Toft*⁷³⁴. In that case, the foreign representative appointed in a German insolvency proceeding requested the court under Chapter 15 to recognize an Email Interception Order granted in the German proceeding and to enforce the foreign court's order by compelling two US located internet service providers (ISP) to grant access to the debtor's current and future e-mails stored on these ISP's servers⁷³⁵. Importantly, no notice was given to the debtor about this motion and the foreign representative requested that no notice be given to the debtor in the future so as to facilitate the investigation of affairs of the debtor, which was refusing to cooperate in the German proceeding. Relying on the cases just discussed, the court recognized that the public policy provision should be interpreted narrowly, but it concluded that this was "one of the rare cases that call[ed] for its application." The court found that US law differed from German law regarding the interception and disclosure of e-mail communication; while German law permitted relief equivalent to that requested, the ex parte disclosure and interception of e-mail communication was illegal under US law⁷³⁷. The court acknowledged that the fact that the US and German law differed on the relevant matters was not sufficient to cross the threshold put by the public policy provision⁷³⁸. However, the relief sought crossed that threshold since it "would impinge severely a U.S. constitutional or statutory right", namely "privacy rights subject to a comprehensive

_

⁷³⁴ In Re Dr. Juergen Toft, 453 BR 189 (Bankr SDNY 2011) [In re Toft].

⁷³⁵ *Ibid* at para 189.

⁷³⁶ *Ibid* at para 195.

⁷³⁷ *Ibid* at paras 196-97 citing the *Wiretap Act*, 18 USC § 2511 (2012) and the *Privacy Act*, 18 USC § 2701 (2012).

⁷³⁸ Ibid at para 198 relying on *In re Treco, supra* note 711 at para 158; *Ephedra, supra* note 713 at paras 336-37; *Metcalf and Mansfield, supra* note 726 at paras 698-99; *cf In re Garcia Avila,* 296 BR 95 (Bankr SDNY 2003); *In re Board of Directors of Multicanal SA,* 307 BR 384 391 (Bankr SDNY 2004).

⁷³⁹ Ibid at para 198 quoting In re Qimonda AG Bankr Litig, 433 BR 547 (ED Va 2010) at 570.

scheme of statutory protection, available to aliens, build on constitutional safeguards incorporated in the Fourth Amendment as well as the constitutions of many States"⁷⁴⁰.

The inquiry on the US judgments considering the public policy provision under Chapter 15 revealed that courts interpreted and applied the provision narrowly. First, the courts correctly recognized that, as the drafters of the Model Law advised⁷⁴¹, the public policy exception should be used only when the foreign proceeding or the relief sought threatened fundamental policies of the receiving country. Second, the courts have interpreted the fundamental policies notion restrictively. They have limited the notion to policies underlying rules that ensure trial fairness, rules based on constitutional safeguards and rules that further the basic principles of insolvency laws. In addition, they have recognized that the mere difference between local laws and foreign laws does not warrant the application of the public policy exception ⁷⁴²; for the exception to be applied, deference to a foreign proceeding, or to the laws applied in such a proceeding, should hinder at least one of the local fundamental public policies, as listed above. Thus, the fact that the foreign insolvency laws deal with an issue differently than the local insolvency laws is not sufficient to refuse cooperation pursuant to the public policy provision; this is significant for the workability of the Model Law. The opposite would have hindered the promotion of the primary goals of this Law, such as the efficient administration of cross-border cases. If the courts would see every departure from local imperative rules as a violation of a fundamental public policy, "very few foreign decisions would ever be recognized since most foreign proceedings would, in

⁷⁴⁰ *Ibid* at para 198.

The Thirtieth Session Report, *supra* note 18 at para 171.

⁷⁴² Metcalfe and Mansfield, supra note 726 at para 697.

one or the other aspect, depart from procedures which, internally, constituted matters governed by imperative rules"⁷⁴³.

The cases where the court found the public policy exception to apply suggest that countries, under the Model Law, have an effective mechanism for the protection of the most important local public policies. This should assuage concerns that a legal framework based on modified universalism, by strongly encouraging international cooperation in cross-border insolvency cases, will lead to countries compromising on fundamental public interests.

4.4.2 British Judgments

The British courts, like Canadian courts, have recognized that they have jurisdiction to grant relief to a foreign representative under local insolvency laws to the same extent as they would have granted relief to a local insolvency representative. The *Larsen v. Navios*⁷⁴⁴ case is illustrative of this. In this case, the debtor was a company subject to bankruptcy proceedings in Denmark. After the debtor was assigned into bankruptcy, one of the debtors of the bankrupt company acquired a claim against the debtor by way of assignment for the purpose of setting off the amount payable under the acquired claim against the amount that it owed to the bankrupt company. Under the insolvency law of Denmark, the post-insolvency assignment set off could not succeed⁷⁴⁵. Also, if the bankruptcy proceeding had taken place in England, then the exercise of such set off rights would have been prevented, as a matter of English law⁷⁴⁶.

⁷⁴³ The Thirtieth Session Report, *supra* note 18 at para 171.

⁷⁴⁴ Larsen v Navios, supra note 547.

⁷⁴⁵ *Ibid* at para 9.

⁷⁴⁶ *Ibid* at para 10.

The foreign representatives trying to recover what the debtor of the bankrupt was owing to the bankrupt brought proceeding in England pursuant to jurisdiction selection clauses included into the contract from which the debt arose. The debtor, by way of defense, held that it was not liable because it could exercise set off rights. The foreign representative applied to the court for an order recognizing the foreign proceeding as a foreign main proceeding and for relief under article 21 CBIR (the equivalent of article 21 of the Model Law) for an order preventing the debtor of the bankrupt to rely on the set off rights that that debtor claimed to be entitled to exercise. The court recognized the proceeding as a foreign main proceeding and granted the order sought. The British court found that it had jurisdiction under article 21 to prevent the debtor from relying on the set off rights because a foreign representative was entitled to the same relief that an English insolvency representative would have been entitled to if the foreign proceeding had been commenced in England at the date of the opening of the foreign proceeding⁷⁴⁷.

This case demonstrates that the application of the Model Law provisions are effective at preventing parties involved in a cross-border insolvency from taking advantage of the international nature of the insolvency of the debtor by trying to gain an advantage to the detriment of all the creditors generally. Consequently, the foreign representatives under the Model Law provisions have access to an efficient mechanism for preventing a race of creditors to the court.

Unlike their Canadian counterparts, the British courts do not recognize that they have jurisdiction under the Model Law provisions to recognize and enforce foreign insolvency orders. This follows from the United Kingdom Supreme Court judgment given in the Rubin⁷⁴⁸ case. In this

⁷⁴⁷ *Ibid* at paras 23, 24. ⁷⁴⁸ *Rubin, supra* note 688.

case the foreign representatives in a foreign main proceeding commenced under the US Bankruptcy Code were seeking an order under articles 21 and 25 (this last article governs the cooperation between British courts and foreign courts and foreign representatives) of CBIR recognizing and enforcing a US court judgment given in the course of proceedings to set aside prior transactions (for instance, fraudulent or preferential transactions) in default of appearance. The court at first instance recognized the foreign avoidance proceeding because it considered that it was an integral part of the foreign insolvency proceeding, which was already recognized under the CBIR by this court. Nevertheless, the court considered that the Model Law was not intended to provide for the enforcement of foreign judgments 749. Moreover, it held that it would be surprising if the Model Law had been intended to permit courts to disregard the local private international law rules. The private international law rule that the court was referring to was the common law rule governing the recognition and enforcement of judgments in personam. According to that rule, such judgments could not be enforced if the judgment debtors had not submitted to the jurisdiction of the foreign court that gave the judgment against them. The court of the first instance, determining that the judgments given in the avoidance proceedings were in personam and the judgment debtors did not submit to the jurisdiction of the US court⁷⁵⁰, refused to order the enforcement of the foreign judgment.

On a first appeal, the court found that the judgment was an *in personam* judgment, but being a judgment rendered in the insolvency proceedings, it considered that the ordinary common law rules for enforcement of foreign judgments did not apply⁷⁵¹. The court found that there were special private international law rules that applied to the enforcement of foreign insolvency

-

⁷⁴⁹ *Rubin, supra* note 546 at paras 64 – 73.

⁷⁵⁰ Ihid at nara 50

⁷⁵¹ Rubin & Anor (Joint Receivers and Managers of the Consumers Trust) v Eurofinance SA & Ors, [2010] EWCA Civ 895, [2011] 2 WLR 121 at para 61 [Rubin].

orders⁷⁵². These were rules that were based on the common law principle applicable in cross-border insolvency proceedings – the modified universalism principle. According to this principle when a court was asked to assist a foreign insolvency proceeding, it had to assist this proceeding "by doing whatever [the assisting court] could have done in the case of domestic insolvency", Applying this principle in the circumstances of the case, it decided that it had jurisdiction to enforce the foreign judgment. As regards the CBIR, the court did not reach any decision with respect to whether this regulation empowers a court to enforce foreign insolvency judgments upon request. Nevertheless, the court said that even if such assistance was not expressly included in the Model Law, "it clearly had it in mind", It added that when considering the provision of the Model Law, that courts had to cooperate "to the maximum extent possible", the Model Law "should surely include enforcement, especially since enforcement is available under the common law", is clearly had it in mind to compare the common law", available under the common law", and it is a sailable under the common law", and it is a sailable under the common law.

On a second appeal, the Supreme Court of the United Kingdom considered the question of whether judgments given in avoidance proceedings in default of appearance of the defendants were enforceable at common law and, alternatively, under the CBIR provisions⁷⁵⁷. The court reversed the court of appeal judgment and held that at common law, the enforcement of foreign judgments can be effected only through traditional rules of common law governing the

_

⁷⁵² In reaching this conclusion the court of appeal relied on the decision of the Privy Council in *Cambridge Gas Transportation Corp v Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (of Navigator Holdings PLC and others) (Isle of Man),* [2006] UKPC 26, [2006] 3 WLR 689.

⁷⁵³ Rubin, supra note 751 at para 62.

⁷⁵⁴ *Ibid* at para 63.

⁷⁵⁵ *Ibid*.

⁷⁵⁶ *Ibid*.

⁷⁵⁷ Rubin, supra note 688 at para 1.

recognition and enforcement of judgments⁷⁵⁸. Turning to the CBIR, the court held that the Model Law said nothing about the enforcement of foreign judgments, and that it was not possible that this Law to have been dealt with this matter by implication⁷⁵⁹. Consequently, the court decided that the Model Law did not provide for the enforcement of foreign judgments⁷⁶⁰.

By refusing to recognize that foreign insolvency judgments can be enforced pursuant to CBIR, the British court failed to seize the opportunity for establishing more coherent and harmonized results in cross-border insolvency cases. By enforcing foreign judgments, especially those given in foreign main proceedings, the courts allow the cross-border insolvency to be administered under a single insolvency law, the law of the foreign main proceeding, as such an enforcement amounts to giving effect to the foreign insolvency law on which the foreign judgment is based⁷⁶¹. In view of the differences among national insolvency laws, the enforcement of a single insolvency law would lead to consistent results across all the jurisdictions involved in the administration of a cross-border insolvency case⁷⁶².

Nevertheless, the refusal to recognize that the British courts have jurisdiction under the Model Law to enforce foreign judgments is not prejudicial to foreign representatives. The implication of the Supreme Court's judgment is that the direct enforcement of foreign orders will not be possible; the foreign representative will have to bring new proceedings in the recognizing country for orders equivalent to those given in the foreign proceeding ⁷⁶³. Thus, the court in

 $^{^{758}}$ *lbid* at paras 106 – 132. Notably, the Supreme Court refused to supplement the traditional common law rules for enforcement of foreign judgments with the real and substantial connection test, in the area of foreign insolvency orders, see *Rubin*, *ibid* at paras 109 – 113.

⁷⁵⁹ *Rubin, ibid* at paras 142, 143.

⁷⁶⁰ *Ibid* at para 144.

⁷⁶¹ Ho, Applying Foreign Law, *supra* note 453 at 10.

⁷⁶² The Working Group's Eighteenth Session Report, *supra* note 266 at 52.

⁷⁶³ Thorp, Andrew M. & David Herbert, "British Virgin Islands: Enforcing Orders Made in Foreign Insolvency Proceedings" (25 October 2012), online:

Rubin did not leave the foreign representatives without an alternative recourse to set aside the relevant transactions⁷⁶⁴. The Model Law expressly allows foreign representatives to commence such proceedings at article 23⁷⁶⁵.

If foreign representatives consider that the particular cross-border insolvency may be more effectively administered under a single law, they can apply for a remittal of local assets to the foreign proceeding. Article 21 paragraph (2) of the Model Law explicitly empowers recognizing courts to grant such relief⁷⁶⁶. A remittal of assets presupposes that the local assets will be dealt with according to the law of the proceeding to which they are remitted⁷⁶⁷.

< http://www.mondaq.com/x/203202/Insolvency+Bankruptcy/Enforcing+Orders+Made+in+Foreign+Insolvency+Proceedings>.

⁷⁶⁴ Rubin, supra note 688 at para 131.

[&]quot; Ibid.

⁷⁶⁶ The Model Law, *supra* note 18 at art 21 (2).

Pottow, John A. E., "New Role for Secondary Proceedings in International Bankruptcies" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 579 at 582 n 20.

CHAPTER 5: Conclusion

The thesis asked the question whether modified universalism works in practice, namely whether it can act as the theoretical foundation of a legal instrument on cross-border insolvencies that when applied to actual cases would further the objective of efficiency, fairness, predictability and protection of local interests. For this purpose, the application of the UNCITRAL Model Law on cross-border insolvencies by Canadian, British and, on certain matters, US courts in cases of cross-border insolvency was studied.

From the jurisprudence studied, certain conclusions emerge. First, the courts take a liberal approach when assessing whether the conditions for recognition are met. They acknowledge that the foreign proceedings must not necessarily correspond to requirements set by local laws for local proceedings in order for these proceedings to be granted recognition. The courts recognize foreign proceedings based on broadly interpreted criteria that the Model Law determines as essential and sufficient for a foreign proceeding to qualify for recognition. Such an approach increases the instances when courts recognize foreign proceedings.

Second, the relief that the courts grant under the Model Law provisions is equivalent to that available in a local insolvency proceeding, and this proves to have considerable practical significance. The fact that the UK courts, dissimilar to their Canadian counterparts, do not recognize foreign insolvency orders unless those orders are recognizable at common law does not impact the extent of relief that is accessible to a foreign representative; a foreign representative has certain alternatives to consider. It may apply for relief similar to that contemplated by the foreign orders, or it may petition for a remittal of assets to the foreign proceeding.

As regards the provisions protecting the local interests, the US courts interpret the provisions restrictively. While assessing whether creditors and other parties' interests will be sufficiently protected if the court grants the requested relief, the US courts try to balance the relief to be granted to the foreign representative with the interests of the parties that may be affected by such relief. Such a balancing test allows the granting of relief when some local creditor's interests will be adversely affected, and thus it gives to courts a broader power to grant relief than if the provision were interpreted as requiring courts to refuse cooperation whenever there would be any negative effect on such creditor's interests. Thus, such a test emphasises cooperation. At the same time, the test does not leave local interests completely unprotected. When a creditor relying on the protection of the receiving country's laws will receive unfair treatment or its valid interests will be rendered unenforceable in the foreign proceeding, the court under this test retains the power to refuse cooperation.

The public policy provision was also given a narrow interpretation. The US courts limited the application of the provision to the situations when an act of cooperation would be against such fundamental public policies as policies underlying provisions based on constitutional safeguards, provisions ensuring trial fairness and provisions embodying the basic principles of insolvency laws.

Thus, by applying the Model Law, courts make available recognition to various insolvency proceedings and a range of relief to foreign representatives. These two elements in combination facilitate the administration of cross-border insolvencies. This objective is further promoted through narrow interpretation and application of the provisions protecting the local interests provisions. Further, despite such narrow interpretation and application of these provisions, the inquiry showed that the Model Law provisions provide courts with enough tools to protect local

creditors' interest against unfair treatment and fundamental local policies against severe infringement.

In addition, the jurisprudence from the two countries suggests that consistent interpretation of the COMI concept is possible. The courts from both countries adopted a similar interpretation of this concept – a head office function approach limited by an ascertainability requirement. A consistent approach across jurisdictions promotes legal certainty. However, the actual approach may lead to inconsistent findings of COMI due to the flexibility that this approach gives to the courts. The flexibility of the approach raises the concerns of unpredictability. However, flexibility in the COMI analysis context may be a necessary evil since it discourages forum shopping.

All this strengthens rather than weakens the claim that the Model Law works. This claim in turn suggests that modified universalism provides an effective mechanism for dealing with cases of cross-border insolvency so as to further the objectives of efficiency, fairness, predictability and protection of local interests on a practical level.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Legislation

Canada

Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, c. B-3.

Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, RSC 1985, c. C-36.

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

The Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1030.

The Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2007, SR 2007/115.

US

11 USC, Chapter 15 (2005).

11 USC, Chapter 3 (1984).

Jurisprudence

Canada

Allied Systems Holdings, Inc (Re), 2012 ONSC 4343.

Babcock & Wilcox Canada Ltd, Re (2000), 5 BLR (3d) 75, 18 CBR (4th) 157 (Ont SC).

Beals v Saldanha, 2003 SCC 72, 234 DLR (4th) 1.

Burckhardt Reimer (Re), 2012 BCSC 2091 (available on CanLII).

Cavell Insurance Company, Re, 2006 CanLII 16529 (ON CA).

Compania Mexicana de Aviacion, S.A. de C.V. (5 August 2010), Montreal 500-11-039418-104 (SCQ) (Order on Motion for Recognition of Foreign Proceeding), online: http://www.deloitte.com/assets/Dcom-

Canada/Local%20Assets/Documents/Insolvencies/Mexicana/ca_en_insolv_Mexicana_Or derRecognitionForeignProceedings 080510.pdf >.

Digital Domain Media Group, Inc (Re), 2012 BCSC 1565 (available on CanLII).

Gyro – Trac (USA) Inc et Raymond Chabot inc, 2010 QCCS 1321, 66 CBR 5th 170 (Qc SC).

Hartford Computer Hardware, Inc (Re), 2012 ONSC 964 (available on CanLII).

Holt Cargo Systems Inc. v. ABC Containerline N.V. (Trustee of), 2001 SCC 90, [2001] 3 SCR 907.

IIT (Re), (1975), 58 DLR (3d) 55 (Ont SC).

Lightsquared LP (Re), 2012 ONSC 2994 (available on CanLII).

Macdonald v. Georgian Bay Lumber Co. (1878), 2 SCR 364 (SCC).

Massachusetts Elephant & Castle Group, Inc (Re), 2011 ONSC 4201 (available on CanlII).

Microbiz Corp. v. Classic Software Systems Inc., 1996 CanLII 8276 (ON SC), 45 CBR (3d) 40.

Morguard Investments Ltd v De Savoye, [1990] 3 SCR 1077, 76 DLR (4th) 256 (SCC).

Olympia & York Developments Ltd v Royal Trust Co (1993), 20 CBR (3d) 165 (Ont Gen Div).

Probe Resources Ltd (Re), 2011 BCSC 552 (available on CanLII).

Roberts v. Picture Butte Municipal Hospital, [1999] 4 WWR 443, 1998 ABQB 636 (CanLII).

Singer Sewing Machine Company of Canada Ltd. (Re) (Trustee of), [2000] 5 WWR 598, 18 CBR (4th) 127.

Tucker v Aero Inventory (UK) Limited, [2009] OJ No 4797 (Ont SC).

Williams v. Rice, [1926] 3 DLR 225 (Man KB).

Xerium Technologies Inc, Re, 2010 ONSC 3974, 71 CBR (5th) 30.

Great Britain

- Cosco Bulk Carrier Co Ltd v Armada Shipping SA & Anor, [2011] EWHC 216, [2011] 2 AII ER (Comm) 481.
- European Insurance Agency AS (7 September 2006), Bristol 6BS30434 (UKHC (Ch)), online: https://www.insol.org/_files/Model%20Law/UK/European%20Insurance%20Agency%202006.pdf.
- Larsen & Anor (Foreign Representatives of Atlas Bulk Shipping AS) & Anor v Navios International Inc, [2011] EWHC 878, [2012] Bus LR 1124.
- McGrath & Ors v Riddell & Ors (Conjoint Appeals), [2008] UKHL 21, [2008] 1 WLR 852.
- Pillar Securitisation SARL & Ors v Spicer & Anor (Court Administrators), [2010] EWHC 836, [2011] BCC 338 (Ch).

Rubin & Anor v Eurofinance SA & Ors, [2009] EWHC 2129, [2009] BPIR 1478 (Ch).

Rubin & Anor (Joint Receivers and Managers of the Consumers Trust) v Eurofinance SA & Ors, [2010] EWCA Civ 895, [2011] 2 WLR 121.

Rubin & Anor v Eurofinance SA & Ors, [2012] UKSC 46, [2012] 3 WLR 1019.

Samsun Logix Corporation v Def, [2009] EWHC 576, [2009] BPIR 1502 (Ch).

Stanford International Bank Limited, Re, [2009] EWHC 1441, [2009] BPIR 1511 (CH).

Stanford International Bank Ltd, Re, [2010] EWCA Civ 137, [2010] 3 WLR 941.

US

In Re Dr. Juergen Toft, 453 BR 189 (Bankr SDNY 2011).

In Re Ephedra Products Liability Litigation (Muscletech Research and Development, Inc., et al.), 349 BR 333 (SDNY 2006).

In Re Ernst & Young, Inc, 383 BR 773 (Bankr D Colo 2008).

Jaffe v Samsung Elecs Co, 737 F (3d) 14 (4th Cir 2013).

In Re Gold & Honey, Ltd, 410 BR 357 (Bankr EDNY 2009).

Maxwell Communication Corp v Societe Generale (In re Maxwell Communication Corp), 93 F (3d) 1036 (2nd Cir 1996).

In Re Metcalfe & Mansfield Alternative Investments, 421 BR 685 (Bankr SDNY 2010).

In Re Sivec SRL, 476 BR 310 (Bankr ED Okla 2012).

In re Treco, 240 F (3d) 148 (2d 2001).

In Re Tri-Continental Exchange Ltd., 349 BR 627 (Bankr ED Cal 2006).

Government Documents

New Zealand. Law Commission, *Cross-Border Insolvency: Should New Zealand adopt the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency?*, (Wellington, NZ: The Commission, 1999).

International Materials

United Nations

Joint Project of UNCITRAL and INSOL International on Cross-Border Insolvencies (Reporters: Evan Flaschen & Ron Harmer), *Expert Committee's Report on Cross-Border Insolvency Access and Recognition*, (1996) IIR 139.

- Guide to Enactment of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency, UNCITRAL, 30th Sess, Annex, UN Doc A/CN.9/422 (1997).
- Report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law on the Work of its Twenty-Sixth Session, UNCITRALOR, 48th Sess, Supp 17, UN Doc A/48/17, (1993).
- Report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law on the Work of its Twenty-Eight Session, UNCITRALOR, 15th Sess, Supp No 17, UN Doc A/50/17, (1995).
- Report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law on the Work of its Thirtieth Session, UNCITRALOR, 52th Sess, Supp No 17, UN Doc A/52/17, (1997).
- Report of the Working Group on Insolvency Law on the Work of its Eighteenth Session, UNCITRALOR, 29th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/419, (1995).
- Report of the Working Group on Insolvency Law on the Work of its Nineteenth Session, UNCITRALOR, 29th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/422, (1996).
- Report of the Working Group on Insolvency Law on the Work of its Twentieth Session, UNCITRALOR, 30th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/433, (1996).
- Report of the Working Group on Insolvency Law on the Work of its Twentieth-First Session, UNCITRALOR, 30th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/435, (1997).
- Report of Working Group V (Insolvency Law) on the Work of its Fortieth Session, UNCITRALOR, 45th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/738, (2012).
- Report of the Working Group V (Insolvency Law) on the Work of its Fortieth-Second Sess, UNCITRALOR, 46th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/763, (2013).
- Secretariat of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, *Possible Future Work: Cross-Border Insolvency*, UNCITRALOR, 26th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/378/Add.4, (1993).
- Secretariat of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, *Cross-Border Insolvency: Report on UNCITRAL INSOL Colloquium on Cross-Border Insolvency*, UNCITRALOR, 27th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/398, (1994).
- Secretariat of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, Cross-Border Insolvency: Report on UNCITRAL INSOL Judicial Colloquium on Cross-Border Insolvency, UNCITRALOR, 28th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/413, (1995).
- UN, A Guide to UNCITRAL. Basic Facts about the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, (Vienne: UN, 2013), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/general/12-57491-Guide-to-UNCITRAL-e.pdf.

- UN, *Legislative Guide on Insolvency Law*, (New York: UN, 2005), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/insolven/05-80722_Ebook.pdf>.
- UN, *UNICITRAL Legislative Guide on Secured Transactions*, (New York: UN, 2010), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/security-lg/e/09-82670_Ebook-Guide_09-04-10English.pdf.
- UN, *UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency: The Judicial Perspective (Updated 2013)*, (New York: UN, 2014), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/insolven/Judicial-Perspective-2013-e.pdf>.
- UN, *UNCITRAL Practice Guide on Cross-Border Insolvency Cooperation*, (New York: UN, 2010), online: http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/insolven/Practice_Guide_Ebook_eng.pdf>.
- UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency, UNCITRALOR, 30th Sess, Annex 1, UN Doc A/52/17 (1997).
- United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, *Provisional Agenda, Annotations thereto and Scheduling of Meetings of the Forthy-Sixth Session*, UNCITRALOR, 46th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/759, (2013).
- United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, Working Group V (Insolvency Law), Interpretation and Application of Selected Concepts of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency Relating to Centre of Main Interests (COMI), UNCITRALOR, 43d Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/WG.V/WP.112, (2013).
- Uniform Commercial Law in the Twenty-First Century: Proceedings of the Congress of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, New York, 18-22 May 1992 at 158, online:

 http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/general/Uniform_Commercial_Law_Congress_1992_e.pdf.
- Working Group on Insolvency Law, *Possible Issues Relating to Judicial Cooperation and Access and Recognition in Cases of Cross-Border Insolvency*, UNCITRALOR, 18th Sess, UN Doc A/CN.9/WG.V/WP.42, (1995).

European Union

- EC, Council Regulation (EC) No 1346/2000 of 29 May 2009 on Insolvency Proceedings, [2000] OJ, L160/1.
- EC, Draft Convention on Bankruptcy, Winding-up, Arrangements, Compositions and Similar Proceedings. Report on the Draft Convention on Bankruptcy, Winding-up, Arrangements, Compositions and Similar Proceedings (1982), Bulletin of the European Communities, Supplement 2/82.

- EC, Miguel Virgos & Etienne Schmitt, *Report on the Convention on Insolvency Proceedings*, Brussels, 3 May 1996.
- Eurofood IFSC Ltd, C-341/04, [2006] ECR I-3854.

Secondary Materials

- Adams, Edward S. & Jason K. Fincke, "Coordinating Cross-Border Bankruptcy: How Territorialism Saves Universalism" (2008) 15:1 Colum J Eur L 43.
- American Law Institute, Transnational Insolvency: Global Principles for Cooperation in International Insolvency Cases: Report to ALI (March 30, 2012)/The American Law Institute and the International Insolvency Institute, (Philadelphia, PA: Executive Office, American Law Institute, 2012).
- Bang-Pedersen, Urlik Rammeskow, "Asset Distribution In Transnational Insolvencies: Combining Predictability and Protection of Local Interests" (1999) 73:2 Am Bankr LJ 385.
- Bélenger, Philippe H. & Neil A. Peden "The Changing Framework Relating to the Recognition of Cross-Border Insolvencies in Canada and the United States" (2005) Annual Review of Insolvency Law 203.
- Berends, André J, "The UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency: A Comprehensive Overview" (1998) 6 Tul J Int'l & Comp L 309.
- Blom, Joost & Elizabeth Edinger, "The Chimera of the Real and Substantial Connection Test" (2005) 38:2 UBC L Rev 372
- Bomhof, Scott A. & Adam M. Slavens, "Shifting Gears in Cross-Border Insolvencies: From Comity to COMI" (2008) 24:1 BFLR 31.
- Briggs, Adrian, "Rubin and New Cap: Foreign Judgments and Insolvency" (2013) Singapore Management University School of Law Research Paper No. 7/2013, online: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2248422>.
- Bufford, The Honorable Samuel L., "Centre of Main Interests, International Insolvency Case Venue, and Equality of Arms: The *Eurofood* Decision of the European Court Of Justice" (2007) 27:2 Nw J Int'l L & Business 351.
- Chartrand, Rupert H., Sandra Abitan & Michael De Lellis, "Emerging Trends and Practices for Recognizing International Insolvencies Under New Part IV of the CCAA" (2011) 27:1 BFLR 125.
- Clark, The Honorable Leif M. & Karen Goldstein, "Sacred Cow: How to Care for Secured Creditors' Rights in Cross-Border Bankruptcies" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 513.

- Clift, Jenny, "The UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency a Legislative Framework to Facilitate Coordination and Cooperation in Cross-Border Insolvency. (United Nations Commission on International Trade Law) (2004) 12 Tul J Int'l & Comp L 307.
- Drobnig, Ulrich, "Secured Credit in International Insolvency Proceedings" (1998) 33:1 Tex Int'l LJ 53.
- Duggan, Anthony J. & Jacob S. Ziegel, *Canadian Bankruptcy and Insolvency Law: Cases, Text and Materials*, 2d ed (Toronto: Emond Montgomery Publications, 2009).
- Duns, John, Insolvency: Law and Policy, (Melbourne, Vic: Oxford University Press, 2002).
- Enriques, Luca & Martin Gelter, "Regulatory Competition in European Company Law and Creditor Protection" (2006) 7:1 European Business Organization Law Review 417.
- Fletcher, Ian F., *Insolvency in Private International Law: National and International Approaches*, 2d ed (Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press, 2005).
- Fletcher, Professor Ian, ""L'Enfer, C'est les Autres": Evolving Approaches to the Treatment of Security Rights in Cross-Border Insolvency" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 498.
- Gaillot, Laurent "The Interpretation by French Courts of the EU COMI Notion: an EU Perspective", (2006) 16:2 Newsletter of the IBA Insolvency, Restructuring and Creditors' Rights Section 38.
- Garrido, José M., "No Two Snowflakes the Same: The Distributional Question in International Bankruptcies" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 459.
- Golick, Steven & Reisterer Patrick, "Canada: Canadian Courts Permit Roll-Up of Pre-Petition Borrowing in Cross-Border Canada-U.S. Proceeding" (14 May 2012), online: http://www.mondaq.com/canada/x/177236/Loans+Mortgages+Leasing/Canadian+Court+Permits+RollUp+Of+PrePetition+Borrowing+In+CrossBorder+CanadaUS+Proceeding >.
- Guzman, Andrew T., "International Bankruptcy: In Defense of Universalism" (2000) 98:7 Mich L Rev 2217.
- Han, Min, "The Hotchpot Rule in Korean Insolvency Proceedings" (2007) 7 J Korean L 445.
- Ho, Look Chan, "Applying Foreign Law Realising the Model Law's Potential" (2010) JIBLR 552.
- Ho, Look Chan, "Conflict of Laws in Insolvency Transaction Avoidance" (2008) 20:1 SAcLJ 343.
- Honsberger, John D., "Conflict of Laws and the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978" (1980) 30:4 Case W Res L Rev 631.

- Jackson, Thomas H., *The Logic and Limits of Bankruptcy Law*, (Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press, 1986).
- Sarra, Janis "Maidum's Challenge, Legal and Governance Issues in Dealing with Cross-Border Business Enterprise Group Insolvencies" (2008) 17:2 IIR 73.
- Sarra, Janis "Northern Lights, Canada's Version of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency" (2007) 16:1 IIR 19.
- Anderson, Kent, "The Cross-Border Insolvency Paradigm: A defense of the Modified Universal Approach Considering the Japanese Experience" (2000) 21:4 U Pa J Int'l Econ L 679.
- Kent, Andrew J. F., Stephanie Donaher & Adam Maerov, "UNCITRAL Eh? The Model Law and its Implications for Canadian Stakeholders" (2005) Ann Rev Insol L at 194.
- LoPucki, Lynn M., "The Case for Cooperative Territoriality in International Bankruptcy" (2000) 98:7 Mich L Rev 2216.
- LoPucki, Lynn M., "Cooperation in International Bankruptcy: A Post-Universalist Approach" (1999) 84:3 Cornell L Rev 696.
- LoPucki, Lynn M., Courting Failure: How Competition for Big Cases is Corrupting the Bankruptcy Courts, (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 2005).
- LoPucki, Lynn M., "Universalism Unravels" (2005) 79:1 Am Bankr LJ 143.
- McElcheran, Kevin P., Commercial Insolvency in Canada, (Markham, Ont: LexisNexis, 2011).
- Mevorach, Irit, "On the Road to Universalism: A Comparative and Empirical Study of the UNCITRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency" (2011) 12:4 European Business Organization Law Review 517.
- Moss, Gabriel QC, "Group Insolvency Choice of Forum and Law: The European Experience under the Influence of English Pragmatism. (Symposium: Bankruptcy in the Global Village the Second Decade)" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 1005.
- Pottow, John A. E., "Greed and Pride in International Bankruptcy: The Problems of and Proposed Solutions to "Local Interests" (2006) 104:8 Mich L Rev 1899.
- Pottow, John A. E., "New Role for Secondary Proceedings in International Bankruptcies" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 579.
- Pottow, John A. E., "Procedural Incrementalism: a Model for International Bankruptcy" (2005) 45:4 Va J Int'l L 937.
- Pottow, John A. E., "The Myth (and Realities) of Forum Shopping in Transnational Insolvency. (Symposium: Bankruptcy in the Global Village the Second Decade)" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 785.

- Rafferty, Nicholas et al, *Private International Law in Common Law Canada: cases, text and materials*, 3d ed (Toronto: Emond Montgomery Publications, 2010).
- Rasmussen, Robert K., "A New Approach to Transnational Insolvencies" (1997) 19:1 Mich J Int'l L 1.
- Thorp, Andrew M. & David Herbert, "British Virgin Islands: Enforcing Orders Made in Foreign Insolvency Proceedings" (25 October 2012), online:
 http://www.mondaq.com/x/203202/Insolvency+Bankruptcy/Enforcing+Orders+Made+in+Foreign+Insolvency+Proceedings>.
- Trautman, Donald T., Jay Lawrence Westbrook & Emmanuel Gaillard, "Four Models for International Bankruptcy" (1993) 41:4 Am J Comp L 573.
- Tung, Frederick, "Fear of Commitment in International Bankruptcy" (2001) 33:3/4 The George Washington International Law Review 555.
- Tung, Frederick, "Is International Bankruptcy Possible?" (2001) 23:1Mich J Int'l L 31.
- Unt, Lore, "International Relations and International Insolvency Cooperation: Liberalism, Institutionalism, and Transnational Legal Dialog" (1997) 24:4 Law and Policy in International Business 1037.
- Warren, Elizabeth, "Bankruptcy Policy" (1987) 54:3 U Chicago L Rev 775.
- Warren, Elizabeth, "Bankruptcy Policy Making in an Imperfect World" (1993) 92:2 Mich L Rev 336.
- Wessels, Bob, "Harmonization of Insolvency Law in Europe" (2011) 8:1 European Company Law 27.
- Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Choice of Avoidance Law in Global Insolvencies" (1991) 17:3 Brook J Int'l L 499.
- Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Theory and Pragmatism in Global Insolvencies: Choice of Law and Choice of Forum" (1991) 65:4 Am Bankr LJ 457.
- Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Universal Priorities" (1998) 33:1 Tex Int'l LJ 27.
- Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "A Global Solution to Multinational Default" (2000) 98:7 Mich L Rev 2276.
- Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Chapter 15 At Last" (2005) 79:3 Am Bankr LJ 713.
- Westbrook, Jay Lawarence, "Locating the Eye of the Financial Storm" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 1019.
- Westbrook, Jay Lawrence, "Breaking Away: Local Priorities and Global Assets" (2011) 46:3 Tex Int'l LJ 601.

- Wood, Philip R., Principles of International Insolvency, (London: Sweet & Maxwell, 1995).
- Wood, Roderick J., Bankruptcy and Insolvency Law, (Toronto, Ont: Irwin Law, 2009).
- Yamamoto, Kazuhiko, "New Japanese Legislation on Cross-Border Insolvency as Compared with the UNCITRAL Model Law" (2002) 11:2 IIR 67.
- Yamauchi, Keith D., "The UNCITRAL Model Cross-Border Insolvency Law: The Stay of Proceedings and Adequate Protection" (2004) 13:2 IIR 87.
- Ziegel, Jacob, "Canada-United States Cross-Border Insolvency Relations and the UNCITRAL Model Law" (2007) 32:3 Brook J Int'l L 1041.
- Ziegel, Jacob S., "Corporate Groups and Canada U.S. Crossborder Insolvencies: Contrasting Judicial Visions" (2001) 35:3 Can Bus LJ 459.
- Ziegel, Jacob S. "Cross-border Insolvencies" in Anthony J. Duggan & Stephanie Ben-Ishai, Canadian Bankruptcy and Insolvency Law: Bill C-55, Statute c. 47 and Beyond/Edited by Stephanie Ben-Ishai and Anthony Duggan, (Markham, Ont: LexisNexis, 2007) at 296.
- Ziegel, Jacob S., "Ships at Sea, International Insolvencies, and Divided Courts" (1998) 29 Can Bus LJ 417.